
  1 

 

Agenda 

 
Contact Officer: Steve Culliford 
Tel: 07895 213735 

 

E-mail: steve.culliford@southandvale.gov.uk 
Date: 21 September 2022 
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk 

 
 

 
A MEETING OF THE 
 

Cabinet 

 
WILL BE HELD ON THURSDAY 29 SEPTEMBER 2022 AT 6.00 PM 
 
135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, OX14 4SB 
 
To watch this virtual meeting, follow this link to the council’s YouTube channel.   

 
Members of the Cabinet 

Member Portfolio 

David Rouane (Chair) Leader of the Council 

Robin Bennett (Vice-Chair) Cabinet member for economic development and 
regeneration, and deputy leader (statutory deputy leader 
during the following months: May, July, September, 
November, January and March) 

Maggie Filipova-Rivers 
(Vice-Chair) 

Cabinet member for community wellbeing, and deputy 
leader (statutory deputy leader during the following 
months: April, June, August, October, December and 
February) 

Pieter-Paul Barker Cabinet member for partnership and legal and democratic 

Sue Cooper Cabinet member for environment, climate change and 
nature recovery 

Andrea Powell Cabinet member for corporate services, policy and 
programmes 

Leigh Rawlins Cabinet member for finance and property assets 

Anne-Marie Simpson Cabinet member for planning 
 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read.  For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact 
the officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/c/SouthandValeCommitteeMeetings


  2 

 

ITEMS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC PRESENT 
 

Reports considered with the public present are available on the council’s website. 

 

1  Apologies for absence   
 

To record apologies for absence.   

 
2  Minutes  (Pages 5 - 8) 

 
To adopt and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 
11 August 2022.   

 
3  Declaration of interests   

 
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests, other registrable interests 
and non-registrable interests or any conflicts of interest in respect of items on the 
agenda for this meeting.   

 
4  Urgent business and chair's announcements   

 
To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent, and to receive any announcements from the chair.   

 
5  Public participation   

 
To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have 
registered to speak.   

 
6  Recommendations and updates from other committees   

 
To consider any recommendations to Cabinet from other committees.   

 
7  Hackney carriage fares  (Pages 9 - 47) 

 
To consider the head of legal and democratic’s report.   

 
8  Henley on Thames Conservation Area Appraisal and 

Boundary Review Adoption  (Pages 48 - 78) 
 

To consider the head of planning’s report.   

 
9  Update on the Corporate Transformation Programme, and the 

Technology and Customer Workstreams  (Pages 79 - 92) 
 

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief Executive – Transformation and 
Operations.   



  3 

 

 
10  Business case for Transforming IT and Systems of Planning 

and Regulatory Services  (Pages 93 - 97) 
 

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief Executive – Transformation and 
Operations.   

 
11  Corporate Performance Report - Quarter 1, 2022-23  (Pages 98 - 

141) 
 

To consider the head of policy and programmes’ report.   

 
12  Climate Action Plan Performance Report - Quarter 1, 2022-23  

(Pages 142 - 193) 
 

To consider the head of policy and programmes’ report.   

 
13  Budget monitoring - quarter 1, 2022/23  (Pages 194 - 199) 

 
To consider the head of finance’s report.   

 
14  Treasury outturn 2021/22  (Pages 200 - 220) 

 
To consider the head of finance’s report.   

 
15  Adoption of powers from Oxfordshire County Council under 

Land Drainage Act  (Pages 221 - 227) 
 

To consider the head of housing and environment’s report.   

 
16  Exclusion of the Public   

 
To consider whether to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting 
for the following items of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access 
to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that:  
(i) it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 

Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and  
(ii) the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information.   

 
 

ITEMS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC EXCLUDED 
 

The council hereby gives notice that it intends to hold part of this Cabinet meeting in 
private to consider the following items for the reasons set out in the ‘exclusion of the 
public’ item above.  These reports are not available on the council’s website. 

 
 



  4 

 

17  Business case for Transforming IT and Systems of Planning 
and Regulatory Services  (Pages 228 - 257) 
 

To note the confidential appendix to the report of the Deputy Chief Executive – 
Transformation and Operations.   

 
18  Application for Grant Funding by Soha Ltd - Cullum House, 

Wheatley  (Pages 258 - 267) 
 

To consider the head of housing and environment’s report.   

 
 
 
Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal and Democratic 

 
 



 

 

Minutes 

OF A MEETING OF THE 

 

Cabinet 

 
Held on Thursday 11 August 2022 at 6.00 pm 
135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, OX14 4SB 
 
 

Present in the meeting room: 
Cabinet members: Councillors David Rouane (Chair), Robin Bennett, Maggie Filipova-
Rivers, Pieter-Paul Barker, Andrea Powell, Leigh Rawlins and Anne-Marie Simpson 
Officers: Steve Culliford (Democratic Services) 
 

Remote attendance:  
Cabinet member: Councillor Sue Cooper  
Officers: Patrick Arran (Head of Legal and Democratic), John Backley (Technical Services 
Manager), Jayne Bolton (Community Wellbeing Manager), James Carpenter (Head of 
Development and Regeneration), Adrianna Partridge (Deputy Chief Executive - 
Transformation and Operations), Jo Paterson (active Communities Team Leader), Bertie 
Smith (Broadcasting Officer) and Mark Stone (Chief Executive) 
 
 

116 Apologies for absence  
 
None.   
 
Due to technical difficulties, the leader handed over chairing responsibilities to the vice-
chair for the first few items of this meeting.   
 

117 Minutes  
 
RESOLVED: to approve the public and exempt minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 
23 June 2022 as a correct record and agree that the Chair signs them as such. 
 

118 Declaration of interests  
 
None 
 

119 Urgent business and chair's announcements  
 
The chair made two announcements.   
 
(1) The leaders of the five local planning authorities in Oxfordshire had made a public 

announcement on 3 August 2022 that they had been unable to reach agreement on 
the approach to planning for future housing needs within the framework of the 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

 

Oxfordshire Plan.  He referred to the leaders’ joint statement that the Oxfordshire 
Plan 2050 work programme would end and would transition to a process focused on 
local plans, through which housing needs would be addressed.  The councils would 
co-operate as they prepared their local plans.   

 
(2) The leader reported that the council had received a proposal on the future of the 

Oxford to Cambridge Arc Plenary (a group of council leaders, local enterprise 
partnerships and universities), which the leader was not committed to.  The proposal 
had been submitted to the government and a response had been received, which did 
not change the leader’s opinion.  The leader had written to the chair of the Arc 
Plenary to communicate that view.   

 

120 Public participation  
 
None 
 

121 Recommendations and updates from other committees  
 
Cabinet received and noted updates from the Climate and Ecological Emergencies 
Advisory Committee, the Joint Audit and Governance Committee, and the Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 

122 Active communities strategy  
 
Cabinet considered the head of policy and programmes’ report on a new active 
communities strategy.   
 
The Cabinet member for community wellbeing reported that the strategy had six key aims 
to:  
 enable everyone to be active 
 create healthier communities through walking and cycling 
 maximise the potential of our natural environment 
 build the skills base of our communities 
 provide effective communication, promotion and consultation 
 provide collaborative partnerships and funding advice 

 
A delivery plan would be brought to Cabinet later in the year.   
 
The Scrutiny Committee had welcomed the strategy and had made suggestions for 
improvements, which had been included in the policy proposed to Cabinet.   
 
Cabinet welcomed the strategy as it provided opportunities to increase the general health 
of residents, both physical and mental health.  Rather than provide leisure facilities in 
every location, which the council could not afford, the strategy encouraged the use of the 
district’s natural and community assets.  This creative approach used existing green 
spaces and gave more choice.   
 
RESOLVED: to approve the Active Communities Strategy, as set out in Appendix 1 to the 
head of policy and programmes’ report to Cabinet on 11 August 2022.   
 
 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



 

 

123 Car park order and policy  
 
The leader had re-connected to his IT and therefore chaired this item.   
 
Cabinet considered the head of development and corporate landlord’s report.  This set out 
the results of public consultation exercise and proposed a new car park order and policy.  
On behalf of the Cabinet member for finance and corporate assets, the leader presented 
this item.   
 
The leader welcomed the report and praised officers for the work that had been put into 
developing the new car park order and policy.  This brought the council’s car park order 
and policy up to date to support the civil parking enforcement introduced in November 
2021.  It also brought the council into line with most councils in the country and would 
make the car parking service more efficient and transparent for the public.   
 
Cabinet noted that the only objection to the car park order was to parking fees, an issue 
that was not related to civil parking enforcement but could be considered later in the year 
when Cabinet reviewed its fees and charges.  Cabinet supported this approach.   
 
Cabinet welcomed the new car park orders and policy.  The new policy brought together 
existing and updated policy elements to set out how the council delivered its parking 
service.   
 
The report also proposed that the council joined PATROL, the Parking and Traffic 
Regulations Outside London Adjudication Joint Committee, as a member.  This committee 
enabled all councils with car park orders to carry out civil enforcement of parking 
contraventions and to exercise their legal functions.  Cabinet supported the council 
becoming a member of the PATROL joint committee and noted that the leader intended to 
appoint Councillor George Levy as the member and Councillor Sue Cooper as the 
substitute member to this committee.  Cabinet noted that these appointments were 
decisions to be made by the leader.   
 
RESOLVED to: 
 
(a) agree the making of a new 2022 car park order, having considered the comments 

made during the consultation period;  
 
(b) authorise the head of legal and democratic to make the new order and to determine 

the date it comes into effect;  
 
(c) adopt the new Parking Policy, as set out in Appendix C to the head of development 

and regeneration’s report to Cabinet on 11 August 2022;  
 
(d) agree to South Oxfordshire District Council joining PATROL (Parking and Traffic 

Regulations Outside London) Adjudication Joint Committee as a member;  
 
(e) request the leader to appoint a Cabinet member to represent South Oxfordshire 

District Council on the PATROL Adjudication Joint Committee for the remainder of 
this council until May 2023; and  

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



 

 

(f) request the leader to appoint a Cabinet member as the named substitute in respect 
of the appointment under (e) above.   

 
 
 
 
The meeting closed at 6.31 pm 
 
 
 
Chair Date 

 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



Cabinet Report 

 
Report of Head of Legal and Democratic 

Author: Laura Driscoll 

Telephone: 01235 422561 

E-mail: laura.driscoll@southandvale.gov.uk  

Wards affected: all 

 

Cabinet member responsible: Maggie Filipova-Rivers 

Tel: 07850 141623 

E-mail: maggie.filipova-rivers@southoxon.gov.uk 

To: CABINET 

Date: 29 September 2022 

 

 
 

Hackney carriage fares 

Recommendations 

Cabinet is recommended to  
 

(a) consider the results of the consultation at Appendix B 
 

(b) adopt the proposed maximum hackney carriage fares at Appendix C with effect 
from 1 October 2022 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. To report on the results of a recent consultation in order that the Cabinet can set 
maximum fares for journeys carried out by South Oxfordshire licensed hackney 
carriages within the South Oxfordshire district. 

Corporate Objectives  

2. The relevant strategic objectives are ‘Openness and accountability’ and ‘Improved 
economic and community wellbeing’.  

Background 

3. In June 2021, the council adopted a new Joint Taxi Licensing Policy which included 
setting a maximum tariff for journeys carried out by South Oxfordshire licensed 
hackney carriages within the South Oxfordshire district, with the aim of protecting the 
public, reducing the risk of fraudulent fares and ensuring consistency whilst still 
allowing for competition between companies.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 7

mailto:laura.driscoll@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:maggie.filipova-rivers@southoxon.gov.uk


4. There are only six councils (including South Oxfordshire) in the country that do not set 
a tariff.  

Proposed fares 

5. There is a suggested method (created by Guildford Borough Council) for calculating a 
hackney carriage tariff which we initially looked at. However this resulted in extremely 
high figures when compared to our neighbouring authorities. As much of South 
Oxfordshire is a rural district, these fares seemed excessively high especially when 
considering that some people rely on taxis for their main mode of transport. 

6. As we already have a tariff at Vale of White Horse District Council which we are 
reviewing at the same time, we compared data including the cost of living and average 
earnings in South Oxfordshire with Vale of White Horse and found them to be 
comparable. We have therefore taken the Vale of White Horse tariff figures and applied 
the annual inflation (CPI) for every year since it was last reviewed, which produced 
figures which are closer in line with neighbouring authorities.  

7. The proposed hackney carriage fares which went out to consultation are attached at 
Appendix A. 

Consultation 

8. The consultation ran from 29 June 2022 to 3 August 2022. A survey link was sent 
directly to all 327 hackney carriage proprietors who between them hold licences for 446 
hackney carriage vehicles, and details included in the taxi newsletter sent to all licence 
holders on 6 July 2022. A notice was placed in local newspapers and at the council 
offices in accordance with section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. In addition we held a drop-in session at Great Western Park 
District Centre on Tuesday 5 July and officers have visited each of the ranks in the 
district at least twice during that period.  

9. A report on the results of the consultation can be found at Appendix B.  

10. There were 64 completed responses to the consultation, and the officer comments on the 
responses within Appendix B include how some the suggested amendments have been 
incorporated into the proposed new tariff at Appendix C. 

11. If we adopt the tariff proposed in Appendix C, South Oxfordshire will be the joint 16th 
highest tariff in the country (out of 349 councils) for a two mile journey on Tariff 1. This 
is based on data accessed at www.phtm.co.uk/taxi-fares-league-tables on 16 
September 2022. A table of the top 25 fares including the year the tariff was last 
changed by that council is shown below.  

Position Council 2 mile fare Last change 

1 London (Heathrow) £13.40 2022 

2 Guildford £10.00 2022 

3= Epsom & Ewell £9.80 2022 

3= London £9.80 2022 

5 Luton Airport £9.70 2020 

Page 10

Agenda Item 7

https://www.phtm.co.uk/taxi-fares-league-tables


6 Stevenage £8.70 2022 

7= Mid Sussex £8.40 2022 

7= Watford £8.40 2017 

9= Huntingdonshire £8.30 2022 

9= Uttlesford £8.30 2021 

11= Broxbourne £8.20 2022 

11= Carrick £8.20 2022 

11= Hart £8.20 2022 

11= Wokingham £8.20 2022 

11= Worthing £8.20 2022 

16 Brentwood £8.10 2022 

17= Breckland £8.00 2022 

17= Coventry £8.00 2022 

17= Maidstone £8.00 2022 

17= Reading £8.00 2021 

17= Rushcliffe £8.00 2022 

17= Stroud £8.00 2022 

17= Torridge £8.00 2022 

17= Tunbridge Wells £8.00 2022 

25= Isle of Man £7.90 2022 

25= Restormel £7.90 2022 

The figures for some neighbouring local authorities can be found in the table below. 
West Oxfordshire are in the process of consulting on an increase to their fares, which if 
agreed as proposed would change their figures to those shown in brackets.  

39 Oxford City £7.60 2021 

53 West Berks £7.40 2021 

75 Cotswold £7.10 2022 

145 Swindon £6.70 2017 

228 (61) West Oxon £6.20 (£7.20) 2017 (2022) 

246 Buckinghamshire £6.00 2021 

310 Cherwell £5.56 2013 

Implementation 

12. The new fares take effect from 1 October 2022 and drivers will be allowed a period of 
one month to get their meters updated with their meter company representative. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



Future reviews 

13. As the cost of living continues to increase, we are open to reviewing the tariff again 
within the next 12 months.  

Options 

14. The Cabinet may further alter the figures in Appendix C as they consider appropriate.  

Climate and ecological impact implications 

15. There are no anticipated climate and ecological implications arising from the adoption 
of the proposed policy. 

Financial Implications 

16. Any council decision that has financial implications must be made with the knowledge 
of the council’s overarching financial position. For South, the position reflected in the 
council’s medium-term financial plan (MTFP) as reported to Full Council in February 
2022 showed that the council is due to receive £2.1 million less in revenue funding than 
it plans to spend in 2022/23 (with the balance coming from reserves).  

17. This funding gap is predicted to increase to over £3 million by 2026/27. As there 
remains no certainty on future local government funding, following the announcement 
of a one-year spending review by government, and as the long-term financial 
consequences of the Coronavirus pandemic remain unknown, this gap could increase 
further. Every financial decision made needs to be cognisant of the need to address 
this funding gap in future years. 
 

18. There are no anticipated financial implications arising from the adoption of the 
proposed policy. 

Legal Implications 

19. Section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 states that a 
district council may fix the rates or fares for journeys within the district, and all other 
charges in connection with the hire of a hackney carriage.  

20. Under section 65(4), where there are objections, the district council shall set a further 
date, not later than two months after the first specified date [4 August 2022 was the first 
specified date, on which the fares would have come into force if there were no 
objections] on which the fares shall come into force with or without modifications as 
decided by them after consideration of the objections.  

Risks 

21. Failure to properly consider the objections and failure to set the new fares to take effect 
from 1 October could result in the council not complying with the relevant legislation as 
detailed above.  

Page 12

Agenda Item 7



Other implications 

22. Whilst officers are mindful of the current cost of living increases and the need to set a 
tariff to support licence holders who are running a business, increasing the tariff any 
higher than suggested will have an impact on the users that need the service the most, 
namely those on lower income and those with disabilities. However, if a tariff is not set, 
licence holders would be able to set their own rates which could also impact on people 
that rely on taxis most. 

Conclusion 

23. Cabinet is recommended to  

(a) consider the results of the consultation at Appendix B 
(b) adopt the proposed maximum hackney carriage fares at Appendix C with effect 

from 1 October 2022 

 

Appendices 

 Appendix A – Proposed hackney carriage fares which went out to consultation 

 Appendix B – Report on consultation  

 Appendix C – Proposed new hackney carriage fares 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



Appendix A – Proposed hackney carriage fares which went out to consultation 

We have used the figures from the tariff set by Vale of White Horse District Council in 2014 
and adjusted to take account of inflation since that date. This is because research has 
indicated there is little difference in living costs between the two council areas. The CPI 
increase since 2014 is 17.5%. Using this percentage rounded to the nearest 5p produces 
the figures as below.  

There are three proposed tariffs depending on time of day, day of the week and holidays as 
shown in the below table:  

 For any journey starting:  The tariff 
level is:  

06:00 - 22:59  Tariff 1 

23:00 - 01:59  Tariff 2 

All day on Sundays, Bank Holidays, Public Holidays and Easter Sunday 

20:00 - 23:59 Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve  

02:00 - 05:59  Tariff 3 

All day Christmas Day, Boxing Day and New Year’s Day 

 
The below table shows the proposed starting charge and subsequent charges for distance 
after 1 mile and for any waiting time. 

  
  

Tariff 1 Tariff 2 Tariff 3 

Flag fall £5.40 £6.70 £7.25 

Inclusive miles 1 1 1 

Subsequent 176 yd or 161 m (1/10 mile)  £0.27 £0.35 £0.40 

Waiting time per minute or part thereof  £0.27 £0.35 £0.40 

 
Some examples of journey costs are below:  
 

2 miles £8.10 £10.20 £11.25 

3 miles £10.80 £13.70 £15.25 

5 miles £16.20 £20.70 £23.25 

10 miles £29.70 £38.20 £43.25 

Proposed extra charges are shown in the below table 

Carrying more than 4 passengers £1 per extra passenger (regardless of distance) 

Soiling charge  £100 maximum 

 

Page 14

Agenda Item 7



1 
 

 

 

Proposed Taxi Tariff for South 

Oxfordshire 
 

APPENDIX B: REPORT ON CONSULTATION 
 
AUGUST 2022 

 

 

 

This report includes the following: 

BACKGROUND TO THE ENGAGEMENT 
METHODOLOGY 
ENGAGEMENT COMMUNICATION 
SURVEY AND FULL RESULTS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



2 
 

BACKGROUND TO THE ENGAGMENT 

In March 2021 we asked proprietors, residents and businesses for their views on 
some proposed changes to our Joint Taxi Licensing Policy. Following feedback 
received, we adopted the policy, which includes setting a maximum taxi tariff for 
South Oxfordshire. 

Setting a maximum tariff protects the public and ensures consistency while still 
allowing for competition between companies. New style meters also reduce fraud 
risks. There are only six councils (including South Oxfordshire) in the country that do 
not set a tariff.  
 
In line with our revised Joint Taxi Licensing Policy, this year we will be setting a tariff 
for all licensed hackney carriages in South Oxfordshire. We asked drivers and 
proprietors what they think of the proposed tariff.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16

Agenda Item 7



3 
 

METHODOLOGY  

The following summarises the methodology for the Taxi Tariff Consultation. 

 327 email notifications were issued to proprietors which provided a link to the 
proposed tariff online survey and details about how to take part. A copy of the 
email notification can be found in this report. A link to the survey was also 
included in the newsletter sent to all taxi licence holders on 6 July. 

 The website was updated with the consultation documentation.  

 A detailed online survey was used, offering drivers and proprietors the 
opportunity to provide their views on the proposed tariff. If respondents 
disagreed overall with the tariff, they then had the chance to state which parts 
of the tariff they disagreed with. A free text box was provided. 

 The survey was aimed at taxi drivers and proprietors licensed by the district 
council. However, individuals/ members of the public could also make general 
comments if they wished. 

 Drivers and proprietors had the opportunity to attend a drop-in session 
at Great Western Park Community Centre on Tuesday 5 July between 1pm 
and 4pm to discuss the tariff with licensing officers before providing 
comments. 

 A five-week consultation period was open for submitting responses from 
Wednesday 29 June until midnight on Wednesday 3 August 2022.  

Reporting methodology 

 A total of 64 completed responses were received. In addition, we received 57 
partial responses (these were not included in the total as they had only been 
partially completed). We also manually added 3 email responses to the 
consultation once the survey had closed. 

 We received 1 late response a day after the consultation had closed and 
therefore it was not included in the total responses.  

 The full results to the consultation are included in this report, alongside an 
officer response.  

 Any personal information supplied to us within the comments that could 
identify anyone has been redacted and will not be shared or published in the 
report. Further information on data protection is available in our general 
consultation’s privacy statement on our website.  

 Some spelling, grammatical and punctual errors in the original comments 
raised have been corrected. 

 

 

 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/northern-neighbourhood-community-centre-at-gwp/
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/south-oxfordshire-district-council/about-the-council/get-in-touch/consultations/


4 
 

ENGAGEMENT COMMUNICATION 
 
A copy of the email notification is provided below.  

Subject: Proposed Taxi Tariff for South Oxfordshire: have your say 

You may recall that in March 2021 we asked for your views on some proposed 
changes to our Joint Taxi Licensing Policy. Following your feedback, we adopted the 
policy, which includes setting a maximum taxi tariff for South Oxfordshire. You can 
view the policy on our website. 
 
Setting a maximum tariff protects the public and ensures consistency while still 
allowing for competition between companies. New style meters also reduce fraud 
risks. There are only six councils (including South Oxfordshire) in the country that do 
not set a tariff. 
 

In line with our revised Joint Taxi Licensing Policy, this year we will be setting a tariff 
for all licensed hackney carriages in South Oxfordshire. We would now like to know 
what you think of the proposed tariff. 
 
This consultation runs from Wednesday 29 June until midnight on Wednesday 3 
August 2022. 
 
Please note, the figures we have used for our proposed tariff follow the tariff set in 
the Vale of White Horse in 2014, adjusted to take into account inflation since that 
date. 
 
As the cost of living continues to increase, we are open to reviewing the tariff again 
within the next 12 months. 
 
How to comment 
The quickest and easiest way to comment is to click here to use our online comment 
form 
 
Note that this is a unique link just for you and is tied to your email address. If you 
would like to forward this message to anybody else, please refer them to the public 
link to the survey. 
 
Drop-in session 
If you would like to discuss the tariff with one or our licensing officers before 
providing your comments, please come along to our drop-in session at Great 
Western Park Community Centre on Tuesday 5 July between 1pm and 4pm. 
 
What happens next 
Once the consultation period ends, we will collate and review all the responses. The 
process for adopting the tariff is as follows:  

Page 18

Agenda Item 7

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/south-oxfordshire-district-council/taxis-and-private-hire/taxi-licensing-policy/
https://files.smartsurvey.io/2/0/6B0L4WVR/Proposed_South_Tariff.pdf
https://app.smartsurvey.co.uk/survey/collect/mail/view/id/%5bSURVEYLINK%5d
https://app.smartsurvey.co.uk/survey/collect/mail/view/id/%5bSURVEYLINK%5d
https://survey.southandvale.gov.uk/s/TaxiTariffConsultation_South2022/
https://survey.southandvale.gov.uk/s/TaxiTariffConsultation_South2022/
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/northern-neighbourhood-community-centre-at-gwp/
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/northern-neighbourhood-community-centre-at-gwp/


5 
 

 If we receive any objections to the tariff, we will need to refer the matter to 
Cabinet for review. This would take place at the end of September 2022 and 
we could not adopt the tariff until after that meeting has taken place.  

 If we do not receive any objections, the tariff will take effect in South 
Oxfordshire from 4 August 2022. 

Once the tariff comes into place, you will need to update your taxi meter with your 
meter company representative. We will allow a period of 1 month for this to be 
done. The garage will check and seal your meter at the time of your next compliance 
test. 
 

We will publish the tariff, along with the consultation statement and a consultation 
summary report on our website. 
 
We look forward to hearing your views. 
 
Kind regards 
 
Laura Driscoll 
Licensing Team Leader 
South Oxfordshire District Council 
  

 
If you have any questions about the proposed tariff, please 
email licensing@southoxon.gov.uk or call 01235 422556 (you will need to leave your 
name and number and we will call you back).  
 
If you have any queries about the survey or require it in an alternative format (for 
example: large print, Braille, audio, email, Easy Read or alternative languages) 
please email haveyoursay@southandvale.gov.uk or call 01235 422425. 
 
Opt out: If you do not wish to receive emails like this from us, please 
email licensing@southoxon.gov.uk or call 01235 422556. Please note, we may still 
need to contact you for certain consultations if we have a legal obligation to do so.  
  
Data protection: Please refer to our privacy policy regarding how your personal 
data is used for this consultation, available on the consultation page of our website. If 
you would like to know more about the council’s data protection registration or to find 
out about your personal data, please visit our website.  

Page 19

Agenda Item 7

mailto:licensing@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:haveyoursay@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:licensing@southoxon.gov.uk
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/south-oxfordshire-district-council/about-the-council/get-in-touch/consultations/
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/south-oxfordshire-district-council/about-the-council/privacy/data-protection/


6 
 

SURVEY AND FULL RESULTS 

A copy of the survey is provided below which includes the full results alongside an 
officer response. 

This survey is aimed at taxi drivers and proprietors licensed by the district council. If 
you're an individual/ member of the public and would like to comment, you can do so 
by completing the general comments box at the end of the survey. 
 

 
 
You may recall that in March 2021 we asked for your views on some proposed 
changes to our Joint Taxi Licensing Policy. Following your feedback, we adopted the 
policy, which includes setting a maximum taxi tariff for South Oxfordshire. You can 
view the policy on our website. 
 
Setting a maximum tariff protects the public and ensures consistency while still 
allowing for competition between companies. New style meters also reduce fraud 
risks. There are only six councils (including South Oxfordshire) in the country that do 
not set a tariff.  
 
In line with our revised Joint Taxi Licensing Policy, this year we will be setting a tariff 
for all licensed hackney carriages in South Oxfordshire. We would now like to know 
what you think of the proposed tariff.  
 
This consultation runs from Wednesday 29 June until midnight on Wednesday 3 
August 2022.  
 
Please note, the figures we have used for our proposed tariff follow the tariff set in 
the Vale of White Horse in 2014, adjusted to take into account inflation since that 
date. 
 
As the cost of living continues to increase, we are open to reviewing the tariff again 
within the next 12 months. 
 
Drop-in session 
If you would like to discuss the tariff with one or our licensing officers before 
providing your comments, please come along to our drop-in session at Great 
Western Park Community Centre on Tuesday 5 July between 1pm and 4pm. 
 
What happens next? 
Once the consultation period ends, we will collate and review all the responses. The 
process for adopting the tariff is as follows:  

Page 20

Agenda Item 7

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/south-oxfordshire-district-council/taxis-and-private-hire/taxi-licensing-policy/
https://files.smartsurvey.io/2/0/VMBK0TU6/Proposed_South_Tariff__Word_version_for_Smart_Survey_v2.pdf
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/northern-neighbourhood-community-centre-at-gwp/
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/northern-neighbourhood-community-centre-at-gwp/


7 
 

 If we receive any objections to the tariff, we will need to refer the matter 
to Cabinet for review. This would take place at the end of September 
2022 and we could not adopt the tariff until after that meeting has taken 
place.  

 If we do not receive any objections, the tariff will take effect in South 
Oxfordshire from 4 August 2022. 

Once the tariff comes into place, you will need to update your taxi meter with your 
meter company representative. We will allow a period of 1 month for this to be 
done. The garage will check and seal your meter at the time of your next compliance 
test. 
 
We will publish the tariff, along with the consultation statement and a consultation 
summary report on our website. 

Queries? 
If you have any questions about the proposed tariff or require the documents in an 
alternative format (for example large print, Braille, audio, email, Easy Read and 
alternative languages), please email licensing@southoxon.gov.uk or call 01235 
422556.  
 
Personal details 
If you are responding as a driver or proprietor you are required to provide either your 
name, or trading name and email address to ensure we can contact you if we require 
any further clarification on your comments. If you are responding as a 
individual/member of the public, or other you do not need to provide this information 
but can do so if you wish. Any personal information you provide to the council within 
your comments that could identify you will not be published in the consultation report. 
Further information on data protection is available in our privacy statement. 
 
By clicking 'next page' you confirm you are happy for your response to be 
used in the survey analysis and results. Your responses may be included as 
valid answers, even if you do not click 'finish' at the end of the survey. 

A bit about you...  
 

1. Are you responding as:  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 
a driver/proprietor licensed by 
the district council 

  
 

90.63% 58 

2 
an individual/member of the 
public 

  
 

9.38% 6 

3 Other (please specify):  0.00% 0 

 
answered 64 

skipped 0 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7

mailto:licensing@southoxon.gov.uk


8 
 

 

2. Which district council are you licensed by?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 South Oxfordshire   
 

98.28% 57 

2 
Vale of White 
Horse 

  
 

1.72% 1 

3 Both  0.00% 0 

4 Another council  0.00% 0 

 
answered 58 

skipped 6 

 

3. Please provide either your name, or trading name:  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Responses have been removed 100.00% 49 

 
answered 49 

skipped 15 

 

4. Please provide your email address:  
 
We ask for your email address to ensure we can contact you if we require 
any further clarification on your comments. Further information on data 
protection is available in our privacy statement.  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Responses have been removed 100.00% 47 

 
answered 47 

skipped 17 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22

Agenda Item 7



9 
 

Proposed tariffs  
This section of the survey could only be answered by drivers and proprietors. 

 
We are asking for your views on three proposed tariffs depending on:  
 

 time of day  

 day of the week  

 holidays  
 
The tariff only applies to journeys which start and finish within South Oxfordshire 
district, not for journeys to destinations outside of the district.  
 
You can view the proposed tariff documents here.  
 
If you wish to compare these figures with other tariffs, the Private Hire Trade Monthly 
magazine produces a monthly table of all council tariffs which you can access here.  
 

Please note, if we receive any objections to the tariff, we will need to refer the matter 
to Cabinet for review. This would take place at the end of September 2022 and we 
could not adopt the tariff until after that meeting has taken place. If we do not receive 
any objections, the tariff will take effect in South Oxfordshire from 4 August 2022.  
 

5. Overall, how far do you agree or disagree with the proposed tariff? 
 

 

 
  
 

3.5%

1.8%

3.5%

12.3%

77.2%

1.8%

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor
disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

I don't know

No comment

Page 23

Agenda Item 7

https://files.smartsurvey.io/2/0/VMBK0TU6/Proposed_South_Tariff__Word_version_for_Smart_Survey_v2.pdf
https://www.phtm.co.uk/taxi-fares-league-tables


10 
 

6. You have disagreed with the proposed tariff for South Oxfordshire. To help 
us understand your reason(s) why, please answer the following statements. 
 
Proposed tariff times, days and dates 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

I don't 
know 

No 
comment 

Response 
Total 

0.00% 
0 

5.88% 
3 

3.92% 
2 

21.57% 
11 

68.63% 
35 

0.00% 
0 

0.00% 
0 

51 

 
Minimum charge (‘flag fall’) for each tariff 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

I don't 
know 

No 
comment 

Response 
Total 

1.96% 
1 

1.96% 
1 

1.96% 
1 

15.69% 
8 

78.43% 
40 

0.00% 
0 

0.00% 
0 

51 

 
Subsequent distance charge 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

I don't 
know 

No 
comment 

Response 
Total 

1.96% 
1 

1.96% 
1 

0.00% 
0 

25.49% 
13 

70.59% 
36 

0.00% 
0 

0.00% 
0 

51 

 
Waiting time charge 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

I don't 
know 

No 
comment 

Response 
Total 

1.96% 
1 

7.84% 
4 

5.88% 
3 

19.61% 
10 

64.71% 
33 

0.00% 
0 

0.00% 
0 

51 

 
Charge per additional passenger when carrying 5+ passengers 

Strongly 
agree 

Agree 
Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

I don't 
know 

No 
comment 

Response 
Total 

1.96% 
1 

0.00% 
0 

7.84% 
4 

13.73% 
7 

74.51% 
38 

0.00% 
0 

1.96% 
1 

51 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24

Agenda Item 7



11 
 

7. If you have any comments on the above statements, please provide your 
comments below. 
 

ID number Comment Officer response 

194450994 I think its not the time to put maximum 
and minimum charge! 
Fuel is gone too expensive. 
No one is gonna work or turn the car on 
to drive 5 miles away for £15 or £16 
because its not worth it!  
You want your 20 percent tax?  
You want your license fees at the end of 
the year?  
MOTs every 6 months? 
Drivers license?  
Car maintenance.  
To rent/buy a car. 
To pay for the fuel?!  
What do you think the taxis get kidney 
disease, bladder infections and to work 
like a robot?! For a £3 profit in a 45 
minutes job?!  
 

The figures proposed in the 
consultation tariff put South 
Oxfordshire joint 16th highest 
tariff (out of 349 councils) for a 
two mile journey on Tariff 1. 

194452860 All that 3 tariff are ok with 1st mile price 
but times can be easier: 
Day shift 6am until 6pm (12 hours work 
Night shift 6pm until 6am ( same 12 
hours) 
Tariff 4 to be included for only MPV carry 
more than 4 passengers £8.52 start mile 
( £8.50 sounds ok) 24/7 for 365 days 
annually  
Waiting time is fine 

The different timings proposed 
are based on a higher rate for 
unsociable hours and officers 
would not support a large 
number of tariffs that could 
confuse customers. 

194479298 The fares should be higher if you 
compare the living costs now 

The figures proposed in the 
consultation tariff were based 
on an inflationary rise. 

194586446 £5.40 and £2.70 a mile was used 12 
years ago as tariff 1. Most are using £6 
flag and £3.20 to £3.50 a mile tariff 
one.we have not increased it since fuel 
has gone up 90%. Also Xmas and new 
years day should be double tariff one 
legally. Everyone who works I'm the UK 
are entitled to double pay during these 
times. Late night tariff two should be 
10pm To 7am as its always been. Many 
other issues too.much to say here.  

The different timings proposed 
are based on a higher rate for 
unsociable hours. Using the 
figures on the left would result 
in a 2 mile tariff 1 fare of £9.20 
to £9.50 which would place us 
6th highest in the country. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



12 
 

194644662 1st tariff : £6.50 subsequent 176 yard 
.£.30 
2ndtariff £7.00 subsequent 176 yard 
£.35 

Using the figures on the left 
would result in a 2 mile tariff 1 
fare of £9.50 which would 
place us 6th highest in the 
country. 

194467333 Good day dear sir/madam, my name is 
REDACTED. A south Oxfordshire taxi 
driver that based in Didcot station taxi 
rank. I started my taxi career at Didcot in 
2016. The day tariff then is £5.00 first 
mile, £3.00per subsequent mile. (07:00-
17:59 Sunday-Saturday). £5.60 first mile, 
£3.00per mile(18:00-21.59 Sunday to 
Saturday). £6.60 first mile & £3.20 from 
22:00-06:59 Sunday to Saturday) 
Waiting charge is 0.30per minute. 
The rate increase X1.5 during bank 
holidays and X2 on Christmas and New 
Year day. Go green taxis has since 
increase their rate approx. by 17%, 
which is inline with the CPI. I think this 
about right due to yearly inflation. 
In my honest opinion, Proposed tariff 1 is 
too low compare to proposed tariff 2, I 
would suggest tariff 1 to be around £6.20 
1 mile, and £3.40 thereafter. With tariff 2 
kick in at 18:00-01:59, and tariff 3 from 
02:00-05:59. 
Bank holidays should be x1.5, Christmas 
and New Year day at x2 base to the 
suggested rate. These rates are 
consider maximum rates that a driver 
can charge. There are many occasions 
that a driver will charge cheaper than the 
maximum rates when a job is more than 
10 miles. 
With the increasing of fuel price, inflation 
and cost of living expenses year after 
year, covid disruption, we are struggling 
to meet up with our needs. I would urge 
you be consider carefully before deciding 
on the final rates. 

The different timings proposed 
are based on a higher rate for 
unsociable hours. The daytime 
rates on the left are lower than 
the proposed £8.10 2 mile tariff 
1 fare. 

194767343 Tariff one 6.50 start each addition mile 
3.50 

Using the figures on the left 
would result in a 2 mile tariff 1 
fare of £10.00 which would 
place us joint 2nd highest in the 
country. 

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



13 
 

194767627 Yes 

 

There is insufficient detail to be 
able to respond to this 
comment.  
 

194772824 the rates being provided by the council 
are not in line with the current level of 
inflation. 

The figures proposed in the 
consultation tariff were based 
on an inflationary rise. 

194815619 Tariffic one should be 600 first mile and 
each addition mile 300 

Using the figures on the left 
would result in a 2 mile tariff 1 
fare of £9.00 which would 
place us 6th highest in the 
country 

194583929 - Minimum charge - fuel costs have 
increased recently and plate 
prices/insurance/maintenance has all 
increased, the state of roads are awful 
and cars experience damage so 
lowering costs is not feasible or 
appropriate  
- subsequent distance charge - the tariff 
1 minimum charge is too low and should 
be 35p, not feasible or profitable given 
expenses 
- waiting time charge - minimum should 
be 20 pounds and currently tariff 1 gives 
you 16.20 which is alot lower than what 
we usually charge now 
- additional passengers - this should be 
higher as otherwise 6 seater drivers will 
start to refuse jobs as if It is not 
profitable for them as the make people 
you carry the more fuel is used and the 
car is experiencing more wear and tear. 
The road conditions and potholes are so 
bad in the south Oxford area and it is not 
fair that such low tariff are being 
implemented given inflation and increase 
of fuel prices and general living costs 
especially for car maintenance 

Increasing the tariff 1 distance 
charge to £0.35 would result in 
a 2 mile tariff 1 fare of £8.90 
which would place us 6th in the 
country. In view of the 
concerns reference additional 
passengers for vehicles which 
carry more than 4 passengers, 
officers are happy to propose 
an increase to the ‘extra’ 
charge per passenger to 
£1.50. 

194901282 The proposed tarrif prices are very low 
as you compare to the inflation and 
rising costs of living.The prices are going 
up day by day i mean just look at the fuel 
prices ther almost £2 per litre the 
insurance vehicle maintenance and also 
a safety check after 4 months when your 

The figures proposed in the 
consultation tariff were based 
on an inflationary rise. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



14 
 

vehicle is 7 years old.The council has 
rised there prices for license renewals 
application fees etc.The tarrif you have 
proposed not really worth the drivers. 

194993280 Minimum fare at least £6 
At least 40p per mile... Companies pay 
staff this amount as an allowance when 
driving for work...  
Additional passengers should be at least 
£2 per passenger as they have more 
luggage and weight to carry so more 
stress on the vehicle...please understand 
fuel and living cost have gone sky high 
and we have to sustain our cars up 
keep, insurance as well as keep a roof 
over our head and feed our families.. 

Using the figures on the left 
would result in a 2 mile tariff 1 
fare of £10.00 which would 
place us joint 2nd in the 
country. In view of the 
concerns reference additional 
passengers for vehicles which 
carry more than 4 passengers, 
officers are happy to propose 
an increase to the ‘extra’ 
charge per passenger to 
£1.50. 

195004466 Licensing, 
 
Tariffs 
This year we have seen a 90% increase 
in fuel so far. Doubling of tyre costs. A 
massive increase in new and second 
hand car costs nearly double in some 
cases. 18 months off work due to Covid 
& crippling inflation. Tariff one of £5.40 
Flag and £2.70 a mile is lower than 
anyone currently charges in South 
Oxford Region. We used these exact 
Tariffs 12 years ago in 2010. I propose 
to change Tariff 1 to £6.20 Flag and 
£3.25 a mile to keep up with inflation. 
Five & Six Seater Taxis 
Regarding six Seaters vehicles. Setting 
extras of £1 a person for passengers 5 
and 6 is ridiculous. We were told 
yesterday “it’s because there are already 
too many tariffs and it would add yet 
another”. Six Seater vehicles are not fuel 
friendly and passenger 5 and 6 add to a 
considerable amount of extra fuel. 
Normally five and six passengers would 
have to hire two 4-seater taxis. A six 
seater running at one & half times tariff 
would reduce that cost by 25%. I do not 
see any reason people would keep a six 
seater with the proposed charges. I 
know I would replace it with a normal 4-
seater car. Therefore, we propose five or 

Using the figures on the left 
would result in a 2 mile tariff 1 
fare of £9.45 which would 
place us 6th highest in the 
country. In view of the 
concerns reference additional 
passengers for vehicles which 
carry more than 4 passengers, 
officers are happy to propose 
an increase to the ‘extra’ 
charge per passenger to 
£1.50. The different timings 
proposed are based on a 
higher rate for unsociable 
hours. Times required for 
application processing are 
clearly stated on our website 
and allow for the required 
checks to be carried out with 
the DBS and other agencies. 

Page 28

Agenda Item 7



15 
 

six persons in a six seater to an x1.5 
Tariff charge rate as we have always 
implemented. 
Waiting Time 
Waiting time varies from Taxi to Taxi. A 
good example is to run waiting time at 
half the cost of a driving taxi job. £35 an 
hour across all tariffs seems to be 
reasonable. Many taxis have been using 
this since 2002. 
Tariff change times 
We have always used Tariff one from 
7:00am to 09:59pm. Tariff Two from 
10:00pm to 06:59am. I propose 
changing Tariff 2 to 10:00pm to 
01:59am.  
Delays for Plates & Drivers Badge 
Waiting 6 weeks and in some cases 
many months to receive driver’s badges 
and license plates is unacceptable. 
License plates in the past printed out 
within 15 minutes in the South 
Oxfordshire District Council Offices while 
you waited. Some people are not 
working while waiting and is immoral and 
grossly unfair. Taking 12 weeks to 
produce a drivers badge when you have 
all the applicants details is not 
reasonable. 
 

195007512 Fuel prices are sky high. We drivers will 
be left with pennies after expense . 

The figures proposed in the 
consultation tariff were based 
on an inflationary rise. 

195028683 Because of the cost of leaving which is 
including the fuel price the day rate 
should me at lest £6 first mile than £3 
thereafter and the night rate which is the 
second tariff should start at 5 o’clock pm 
,thanks  
 
My only comments on the day rate which 
I stated before ,thanks 

Using the figures on the left 
would result in a 2 mile tariff 1 
fare of £9.00 which would 
place us 6th highest in the 
country. 

195486140 Christmas day boxing day new year day 
should all double fare at least 
By you saying 5+ Is only £1 per person 
any distance will means companies will 
stop using bigger taxis resulting in larger 
groups to use 2 vehicles 

The different timings proposed 
are based on a higher rate for 
unsociable hours. In view of 
the concerns reference 
additional passengers for 
vehicles which carry more than 
4 passengers, officers are 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



16 
 

happy to propose an increase 
to the ‘extra’ charge per 
passenger to £1.50. 

196045287 Fare one is ok but no one works for a 
seventeen hour shift without the pay 
going up I think it should be 6 until 6 then 
6 to 11 then 11 to 6.bank holidays time 
and a half Christmas day double. 

The different timings proposed 
are based on a higher rate for 
unsociable hours. 

196058215 We should not be forced to accept 
something that is vale of white tariff from 
2014 thankyou 

The figures proposed in the 
consultation tariff were based 
on an inflationary rise to the 
previous Vale tariff. 

196058328 Minimum wage is 9.70 per hour in the uk 
the Council is proposing I take a pay cut 
do to 5.70 do you think that is fair? I 
don’t think so then you have a tariff from 
2014 it’s 2022 I think the council needs 
to think this through with the driver 
thankyou 

The figures proposed in the 
consultation tariff were based 
on an inflationary rise to the 
previous Vale tariff. 

196063247 Hi I'm not disagree of the tariff proposed 
from the council because of current 
expenses( insurance,fuel cost, insurance 
and plate badge all gone up etc). 

There is insufficient detail to be 
able to respond to this 
comment.  
 

196193885 TARIFF 2 23.00 TO 00.59, TARIFF 3 
01.00 TO 05.59 
 
CHARGES 
TARIFF 1 £6.00 FLAG FALL /3.00 FOR 
SUBSEQUENT MILE & WAITING TIME 
TARIFF 2 £8.00 FLAG FALL /4.00 FOR 
SUBSEQUENT MILE & WAITING TIME 
TARIFF 3 £10.00 FLAG FALL /5.00 FOR 
SUBSEQUENT MILE & WAITING TIME 
 
CARRING MORE THAN FOUR 
PASSENGERS - 25% OF FARE PER 
PERSON (OTHER WISE NO POINT IN 
INVESTING IN THE LARGER 
VEHICLE) 
 
SOILING OF VEHICLE - £300.00 THE 
REASON FOR THIS IS THE VEHICLE 
IS OFF THE ROAD FOR TWO OR 
THREE DAYS, LOSE OF INCOME FOR 
THE INDEPENDENT OPERATOR (YOU 

The different timings proposed 
are based on a higher rate for 
unsociable hours. Using the 
figures on the left would result 
in a 2 mile tariff 1 fare of £9.00 
which would place us 6th in the 
country. In view of the 
concerns reference additional 
passengers for vehicles which 
carry more than 4 passengers, 
officers are happy to propose 
an increase to the ‘extra’ 
charge per passenger to 
£1.50. Officers are also happy 
to increase the soiling charge 
to £150. The last part of the 
response is unclear as this 
proposal does not relate to 
vehicle specification. 

Page 30

Agenda Item 7



17 
 

WOULD NOT BE HAPPY GETTING 
INTO A CAR SMELLING OF SICK AND 
WOULD PROBERLY NOT CALL THE 
TAXI SERVICE AGAIN, I HAVE 
EXPERIENCED THIS). 
 
FORCING OLDER HYBRID WELL 
MAINTAINED, CLEAN AND TIDY CARS 
OFF THE ROAD WOULD DECREASE 
THE TAXI NUMBERS IN THE 
COMMUNITY. 

196239888 Thank you for giving me an opportunity 
to make a comment and share my 
opinion about the proposed Taxi Tariffs. 
First of all, I think, in this uncertain time, 
when inflation and fuel price are higher 
than ever in the UK, it is not the right 
time to set up a maximum tariff for 12 
months. 
My opinion about the proposed tariff is 
as follows: 
 
1. Tariff 1 should be a minimum of 
£3/mile from the second mile. I think that 
would be a fair price for taxi drivers and 
customers 
 
2. Tariff 2 should be used from 6:00 PM 
instead of 11:00 pm and all over the 
weekend (Saturday and Sunday).  
It's a bit disappointing that everyone in 
this country has the right to have 2 days 
off in a week, but taxi drivers have the 
right to only one day as the proposed 
tariff shows. 
 
3. Tariff 3 is almost unnecessary 
because there was no demand for taxi 
service in the Didcot area during that 
period. 
 
Thank you for reading 
 

We are not proposing to set a 
tariff for 12 months. We have 
stated that we are likely to 
need to review again within 12 
months. Using the figures on 
the left would result in a 2 mile 
tariff 1 fare of £8.40 which 
would place us joint 7th highest 
in the country. The different 
timings proposed are based on 
a higher rate for unsociable 
hours. The comment about 
days off is unclear, as the 
proposal does not require taxi 
drivers to work any amount of 
time. 

196442898 Given the cost of living increasing and 
the post covid crisis we are going 
through, the tariff charges proposed are 
unfair and fuel costs also have gone up 
so these are disproportionate  
 

The figures proposed in the 
consultation tariff are based on 
an inflationary rise. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



18 
 

ID: 196768800 
ID: 197010412 
ID: 197018608 
ID: 196978895 
 

Dear Sir / Madam, 
I strongly object to the proposed tariffs 
set by the council because there has not 
been any proper consultation with the 
drivers or their representatives. I would 
like for the council to have a meeting 
with the South Oxfordshire and Vale of 
white horse taxi drivers’ association 
(S&VTDA) to discuss a new tariff on my 
behalf as I am a member of S&VTDA or 
arrange a formal discussion / meeting 
with all drivers. 
The existing Vale tariff is extremely out 
of date; it should have been review at 
least once if not twice before, as it is well 
over 8 years old. In that time the cost of 
goods and services has risen by more 
than 35% since Jan 2014 
(www.hl.co.uk). 
The new proposed tariff by the council 
does not reflect the rise in the cost of 
living. Using the 5-tariff structure of the 
old Vale Tariff from 2014 is ok with a 
few, changes but the figures are not very 
good and are very unfair to the drivers. 
New Tariff will need to consider every 
aspect of the cost-of-living crisis 
including the rising costs of overall 
License fees from the council. 
For Now, ONLY 1 Example on that 
matter: 
A 10-mile fare at the current rates on the 
Vale tariff, for up to 4 passengers and 
more than 4 passengers between 23:00-
01:59 and 02:00-05:59. 
23:00-01:59 = Car T2: £32.70 MPV T4: 
£33.20 Result: £0.50 02:00-05:59 = Car 
T3: £36.80 MPV T5: £38.50 Result: 
£1.70 
Why would any Driver have an MPV? 
For 50p or £1.70 extra? I for one, don’t 
think so. 
And on your new proposal £1 extra 
regardless of distance is also a disgrace. 
Where’s the incentive for the drivers to 
have an MPV? 
Fuel alone has risen by more than 82% 
in ONLY just over 2 years and PLEASE 
don’t forget fuel is our biggest expense 
in our line of work. Transport sector has 

The survey is the consultation 
route along with the 
newspaper notice, public 
notice at the office, newsletter, 
drop in session and rank visits 
conducted. Given there are 
almost 700 hackney carriages 
and over 1000 drivers licensed 
by the two districts, having a 
meeting with all drivers is not 
viable. The council is not 
aware of any drivers’ 
association and will make 
contact separately for future 
reference. 

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



19 
 

been hit the hardest with this cost-of-
living crisis. These are official figures for 
fuel from the Central Government. 
As the current proposed tariff cannot be 
adopting, it will now need to be taken to 
the Cabinet for a review as per council 
guidelines. 
I expect that the council will now look to 
schedule a meeting with the S&VTDA 
before the cabinet meeting, to discuss 
what would be an acceptable tariff for all 
concerned, which then can take to the 
cabinet. 
Finally, we appreciate that the council 
will look to review the tariff situation in 
the next 12 months due to the cost-of-
living crisis. 
South Oxfordshire and Vale of white 
horse taxi drivers’ association (S&VTDA) 
  

196771181 I strongly object to the proposed tariffs 
set by the council because there has not 
been any proper consultation with the 
drivers or their representatives. I would 
like for the council to have a meeting 
with the South Oxfordshire and Vale of 
white horse taxi drivers’ association 
(S&VTDA) to discuss the new tariff. 

The survey is the consultation 
route along with the 
newspaper notice, public 
notice at the office, newsletter, 
drop in session and rank visits 
conducted. The council is not 
aware of any drivers’ 
association and will make 
contact separately for future 
reference. 

196832320 During this volatile period, when fuel 
prices have increased over 60% within a 
6 month term . 
I do not consider realistic fixing prices of 
the taxi fares.  
Cost of living , as well is increasing every 
day and we don’t know when will stop. 
Can you guarantee that in 6 months the 
fuel will cost the same? 
 
Please take in consideration that taxis in 
Didcot have to pay for the First Travel 
Solution Company a annual fee to be 
able to pick up customers. 
Would be possible for taxis plying for 
hire ,on a private taxi rank ,to be exempt 
of the fixed rate obligation? 
 
I do understand your concern to protect 

We have stated that we are 
likely to need to review again 
within 12 months as we are 
aware of concerns of 
continued rises in the cost of 
living. We can only set the tariff 
based on the figures we have 
at this time. The council is not 
responsible for the charges to 
work from the Didcot train 
station rank and it is not 
feasible to set different tariffs 
for hackney carriages which 
may work from Didcot train 
station rank. The tariff will be a 
maximum, so drivers are 
welcome to charge a lower 
fare if they choose to do so, to 
attract new customers. We are 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



20 
 

the public, but there would be a much 
more effective way of doing it. 
I would like to know if majority of the 
complaints it was because of the prices 
of the fares listed on the tariff cards or 
the quality of the service provided? 
There is another factor as well.We are all 
different as service provider’s.Why do 
you want to force on us the same” hat”? 
Some people like to shop in the Marks 
and Spencer, others in the Sainsburys , 
others in the corner shop. 
Diversity should be respected and 
maintained. 
The best examples are questions 9-12 
where the South District Council 
acknowledged the Diversity. 
In the end the Customers are the ones 
who decide which taxi they want to use. 
 
If may I propose to include ,on to the 
tariff card contact details of the District 
Council for complaints and the drivers 
details as well. 
This way customers who are not happy 
with a service provider , could very easily 
do the necessary steps. 
All in all , for now I strongly oppose to 
introduce fixed rates at this time. 
 

in the process of designing an 
information card for customers 
including how to complain, so 
we will not need to include this 
on the tariff card at this time. 

196906930 First of all i disagree with this proposed 
tariff change. 
In my opinion tariif 2 should be time and 
a half and tariff 3 should be double of 
tariff 1. 
Also the charge per additional passenger 
when carrying 5+ passengers should be 
time and a half not £1 per additional 
passenger, as the cost of running a MVP 
or Minibus is subsequently higher than 
running of a normal car.  
 
Also i believe tariff 3 should be applied 
during the Royal Regatta week. 

The different timings proposed 
are based on a higher rate for 
unsociable hours. In view of 
the concerns reference 
additional passengers for 
vehicles which carry more than 
4 passengers, officers are 
happy to propose an increase 
to the ‘extra’ charge per 
passenger to £1.50. Officers 
are not proposing a separate 
tariff during Henley Regatta as 
we do not feel that people 
should be charged more 
simply because an event is 
taking place. 

196968693 will wait till meeting in Sep. There is insufficient detail to be 
able to respond to this 
comment.  

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



21 
 

196970697 The Minimum charge on each tariff is 
very low.The timings on the traiff is not 
good as well because most of the south 
oxfordshire will be closed after 
11pm.The traiff 2 should start at 
09:00PM. 

The different timings proposed 
are based on a higher rate for 
unsociable hours. 

196978753 Waiting time is less and traiff times 
should change and we need tarriff for 
henley Regatta very long ques 

The different timings proposed 
are based on a higher rate for 
unsociable hours. Officers are 
not proposing a separate tariff 
during Henley Regatta as we 
do not feel that people should 
be charged more simply 
because an event is taking 
place. 

196978895 Traiff time change please and add 
henley regatta tariff 

The different timings proposed 
are based on a higher rate for 
unsociable hours. Officers are 
not proposing a separate tariff 
during Henley Regatta as we 
do not feel that people should 
be charged more simply 
because an event is taking 
place. 

 
Proposed tariffs  
This section of the survey could only be answered by individuals / members of the public. 
 
We are proposing three tariffs depending on:  
 

 time of day  

 day of the week  

 holidays  
 
The tariff only applies to journeys which start and finish within South Oxfordshire 
district, not for journeys to destinations outside of the district. The tariff also doesn't 
apply for pre-booked journeys.  
 
You can view the proposed tariff documents here.  
 
If you wish to compare these figures with other tariffs, the Private Hire Trade Monthly 
magazine produces a monthly table of all council tariffs which you can access here.  
  

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



22 
 

8. If you have any comments on the tariff, please provide them below. 
 

ID number Comment Officer response 

196916203 To impose a tariff without talking to the 
taxi drivers is unacceptable. 

 

The survey is the consultation 
route along with the 
newspaper notice, public 
notice at the office, newsletter, 
drop in session and rank visits 
conducted. 

196916090 There has been no consultation with the 
taxi drivers. 

The survey is the consultation 
route along with the 
newspaper notice, public 
notice at the office, newsletter, 
drop in session and rank visits 
conducted. 

196874620 No talk to drivers. Talk to drivers needed 

 

The survey is the consultation 
route along with the 
newspaper notice, public 
notice at the office, newsletter, 
drop in session and rank visits 
conducted. 

196872609 I object to this as there has been no 
consultation with the drivers to agree a 
tariff, This is undemocratic and wrong 

The survey is the consultation 
route along with the 
newspaper notice, public 
notice at the office, newsletter, 
drop in session and rank visits 
conducted. 

196771457 I object to the proposed tariffs set by the 
council because there has not been any 
proper consultation with the drivers or 
their representatives 

The survey is the consultation 
route along with the 
newspaper notice, public 
notice at the office, newsletter, 
drop in session and rank visits 
conducted. The council is not 
aware of any drivers’ 
association and will make 
contact separately for future 
reference. 

196243939 I oppose these tariffs that have been 
imposed and believe the council should 
review them with a proper consultation 
with the taxi drivers. 

 

The survey is the consultation 
route along with the 
newspaper notice, public 
notice at the office, newsletter, 
drop in session and rank visits 
conducted. 

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



23 
 

Anything else?  
 
9. If you have any other comments on the proposed tariff, please provide them 
below. 
 

ID number Comment Officer response 

194450994 Bad proposal. There is insufficient detail to be 
able to respond to this 
comment.  

194454531 What about tariff during 
Regatta 
Henley festival 
Rewind 
And other festivals as some driver are 
using the highest tariff during any of 
these whereas I only use tariff 3 during 
regatta 

Officers are not proposing a 
separate tariff for events as we 
do not feel that people should 
be charged more simply 
because an event is taking 
place. 

194452860 Minimum card payments £8 is 
considered  
 
Thinking about waiting time per minute 
should be £0.50 
 
Clients very rarely respect times and 
delays to other . Sometimes we driver 
lose the next job because that previous 
client delay ,so bit more charge to cover 
that frequently situation.  
 

Officers are not proposing a 
minimum for card payments at 
this time but will conduct more 
research on this in the coming 
months for the next review. It 
may be that officers look to 
recommend making it 
mandatory for hackney 
carriages to accept card 
payments, as this was included 
in the responses to the joint 
taxi licensing policy 
consultation in 2021. 

194495265 Hi. Second tariff should be on From 
22:00 Like most of the taxis. Mini bus 
journey over 4 passengers should be 
50% higher than regular reason: much 
higher fuel consumtion higher car 
exploatation, much higher repair cost 
and also price for cars are higher than 
regular and if driver its able take more 
than 4 mean customer don't need 2 cars 
what give IT to him 50% savings any 
way. 

The different timings proposed 
are based on a higher rate for 
unsociable hours. In view of 
the concerns reference 
additional passengers for 
vehicles which carry more than 
4 passengers, officers are 
happy to propose an increase 
to the ‘extra’ charge per 
passenger to £1.50. 

194553744 Tariff one: 1st Mile should be : 6.95 and 
subsequent 176 yard @0.30 
Tariff two : 1st mile : 7.95 and the 
subsequent176 yard @0.35 

Using the figures on the left 
would result in a 2 mile tariff 1 
fare of £9.95 which would 
place us 3rd highest in the 
country. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



24 
 

194767343 Tarriff 2 800 start each addition mile 3.50 
also tarriq two should start 2200 hrs 

The different timings proposed 
are based on a higher rate for 
unsociable hours. 

194767627 Tariff 1 should be £7 start & each 
additional mile £3 

Using the figures on the left 
would result in a 2 mile tariff 1 
fare of £10.00 which would 
place us joint 2nd highest in the 
country. 

194772824 we should also have a rate for henley 
week 

Officers are not proposing a 
separate tariff for events as we 
do not feel that people should 
be charged more simply 
because an event is taking 
place. 

194815619 Tarrif 2 should start at 10 pm The different timings proposed 
are based on a higher rate for 
unsociable hours. 

194833295 Petrol is very expensive 

 

The figures proposed in the 
consultation tariff are based on 
an inflationary rise. 

194901282 There should be slightly more rise in 
tarrif like £1 extra in flag and 10p more 
increase in each tarrif and also should 
reduce the time of tarrif one from 
10.59pm to 6pm. 

 

Assuming they mean charge 
an £0.37 for distance, using 
the figures on the left would 
result in a 2 mile tariff 1 fare of 
£10.10 which would place us 
2nd highest in the country. The 
different timings proposed are 
based on a higher rate for 
unsociable hours. 

195036605 The price for the tariff is good. My only 
concern is the mpv6 and mpv8 these 
vehicles are nearly double the price of a 
car also to run. I would say a mpv6 has 
to be 50% price increases of the total 
tariff and the Mpv8 should be at least 
85% increase in tariff.  
 
A brand new Toyota Corolla which seats 
4 people is around £24k. A Toyota 
Proace verso which seats 8 people is 
£50k.  
 
If the tariff comes in places for £1 extra a 
passenger after 4 people will not buy 

In view of the concerns 
reference additional 
passengers for vehicles which 
carry more than 4 passengers, 
officers are happy to propose 
an increase to the ‘extra’ 
charge per passenger to 
£1.50. 

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



25 
 

mpv’s. It might cause a disturbance in 
the long run. 

195089543 Tariff 1 £6.00  
Tariff 2 £7.00 
Tariff 3 £8.00 
This should be minimum  
 
£2.00 extra person 

Using the figures on the left 
would result in a 2 mile tariff 1 
fare of £10.00 which would 
place us joint 2nd highest in the 
country. In view of the 
concerns reference additional 
passengers for vehicles which 
carry more than 4 passengers, 
officers are happy to propose 
an increase to the ‘extra’ 
charge per passenger to 
£1.50. 

195274160 Inflation increasing every year,diesel 
price ales increased. 

The figures proposed in the 
consultation tariff are based on 
an inflationary rise. 

195486140 Which everything increasing in price why 
are proposing tarriff lower than what 
some companies are already using 

The figures proposed in the 
consultation tariff are based on 
an inflationary rise 

196045287 I don't have a people carrier but you 
need a different tariff for them because it 
saves the people from having two taxis. 
You have based your tariffs on the vale i 
work out of didcot and have to pay to go 
on the rank at the station  
And with work still 20 to 25 percent down 
and price going up and you changing the 
110 co rules making it 200 percent to 
plate a car. 

In view of the concerns 
reference additional 
passengers for vehicles which 
carry more than 4 passengers, 
officers are happy to propose 
an increase to the ‘extra’ 
charge per passenger to 
£1.50. 

196057814 South Oxford & Vale of White Horse 
District Council Joint Taxi Tariffs v0.1 
Option 1: Current Style – 5 Tariff’s & 3 
Time Slots 
For any journey inclusive of VAT (if 
applicable) For journeys starting: 
Vehicles up to 4 seats 
Vehicles with more than 4 seats carrying 
5 or more passengers 
06:00 – 20:59 
Tariff 1 
21:00 - 00:59 
And all day on Sundays, Bank Holidays, 
Public Holidays & Easter Sunday and 
18:00 - 23:59 Christmas Eve and New 

This comment has not 
replicated clearly unfortunately. 
It appears to suggest figures 
which would result in a 2 mile 
tariff 1 fare of £10.00 which 
would place us joint 2nd highest 
in the country. 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



26 
 

Year’s Eve 
Tariff 2 
01:00 – 05:59 
Tariff 3 
Tariff 1 
Tariff 2 
Tariff 3 
Tariff 2 
Tariff 4 
Flag fall / Minimum charge 
Inclusive miles 
Subsequent 176 yd or 161 m (1/10 mile) 
1 
£7.00 
£9.00 
£10 
£9.00 
£12 
£0.30 
1 
£0.40 
1 
£0.45 
1 
£0.40 
1 
£0.50 
Waiting time per minute or part thereof 
£0.40 
£0.50 
£0.50 
£0.50 
£0.50 
Soiling Charge 
Some examples of journey costs are 
below: 
£200 Maximum 
Tariff 2 
Tariff 5 
Tariff 5 
£14.00 1 
£0.60 £0.50 
Tariff 5 £14.00 £20.00 £26.00 £38.00 
£48.00 
£57.00 £68.00 
Tariff 1 
Tariff 2 
Tariff 3 
Tariff 4 
1st Miles / Minimum Fare 

Page 40

Agenda Item 7



27 
 

£7.00 
£9.00 
£10.00 
£12.00 
2 miles 
£10.00 
£13.00 
£14.50 
£17.00 
3 miles 
£13.00 
£17.00 
£19.00 
£23.00 
5 miles 
£19.00 
£25.00 
£28.00 
£32.00 
7 miles 
£25.00 
£33.00 
£37.00 
£42.00 
10 miles – (this line can be removed) 
Proposed extra charges are shown in 
the below table 
Soiling charge 
£45.00 £50.50 
All day Christmas Day, Boxing Day, New 
Year’s Day. Spec Events / Festivals 
£34.00 
Tariff 4 
Tariff 5 for All Vehicles £200 Maximum 
We appreciate that the council will look 
to review the tariff situation in the next 12 
months due 
 

196442898 Tariff charges should be increased as 
the proposed tariff is far too low and 
fuels costs and car maintenance and 
running of the taxis is not covered 
proportionately.  
 

The figures proposed in the 
consultation tariff are based on 
an inflationary rise. 
 

196771181 As the current proposed tariff cannot be 
adopted, it will now need to be taken to 
the Cabinet for a review as per council 
guidelines. 
 
I expect that the council will now look to 

The council is not aware of any 
drivers’ association and will 
make contact separately for 
future reference. The survey is 
the consultation route along 
with the newspaper notice, 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



28 
 

schedule a meeting with the S&VTDA 
before the cabinet meeting, to discuss 
what would be an acceptable tariff for all 
concerned, which then can take to the 
cabinet. 
 

public notice at the office, 
newsletter, drop in session and 
rank visits conducted. 

196771457 The council need to speak to the drivers 
to sort out the tariff 
 

The survey is the consultation 
route along with the 
newspaper notice, public 
notice at the office, newsletter, 
drop in session and rank visits 
conducted. 
 

196832320 Same as I mentioned, previously . 
I strongly oppose to be introduced the 
fixed rate tariff . 
.Let the Customer to choose and make 
accessible the way to complain, because 
in the majority of the complaints it’s the 
quality of the service the problem not the 
price. 
 

This is not a consultation about 
whether to have a tariff; that 
has already been agreed as 
part of the policy in 2021.  
 

196872609 Please speak to the drivers to set the 
tariff  

The survey is the consultation 
route along with the 
newspaper notice, public 
notice at the office, newsletter, 
drop in session and rank visits 
conducted. 
 

196874620 Talk to the drivers The survey is the consultation 
route along with the 
newspaper notice, public 
notice at the office, newsletter, 
drop in session and rank visits 
conducted. 
 

196916090 The council needs to consult with the 
taxi drivers. Not just impose a tariff on 
them 

The survey is the consultation 
route along with the 
newspaper notice, public 
notice at the office, newsletter, 
drop in session and rank visits 
conducted. 
 

196916203 Discuss with the taxi drivers to agree 
tariff  
 
 

The survey is the consultation 
route along with the 
newspaper notice, public 
notice at the office, newsletter, 
drop in session and rank visits 
conducted. 
 

Page 42

Agenda Item 7



29 
 

196968693 offered tariff is not completely fit for 
work. 

There is insufficient detail to be 
able to respond to this 
comment.  
 

196970697 We all as a driver never get a chance to 
tell council what are over views and I 
personally feel there is a communication 
gap in council and drivers. 
 

The survey is the consultation 
route along with the 
newspaper notice, public 
notice at the office, newsletter, 
drop in session and rank visits 
conducted. 
 

196978753 Please reconsider as south oxfordshire 
is mostly countryside area business 
closed in evening hardly any people after 
23:00 
 

There is insufficient detail to be 
able to respond to this 
comment.  
 

 

Our commitment to equal access for all  
 
We are committed to making sure that residents have equal access to all council 
services. Please help us to keep track of how successfully we are achieving this by 
ticking the appropriate boxes below. 
 
All questions are optional. All information is confidential and will only be used to help 
us monitor whether views differ across the community. 

 
10. So we can understand if we have reached everyone we need to, please tell 
us the first part of your postcode in the box below, e.g., OX10 
 
46 respondents provided us with a postcode and the results are shown below.  
 
Berkshire Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire 

RG 
RG2 
RG31 
RG6 
RG9 (X10) 
 
SL1 (X3) 
 

HP12 (X6) 
HP13 (X3) 
 

OX3 
OX4 
OX9 
OX10 (X6) 
OX11 (X9) 
OX38 
OX93 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



30 
 

11. Which of the following describes how you identify yourself? 
 

 
 
12. How old are you? 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 44

Agenda Item 7



31 
 

13. What is your ethnic group?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

White 

1 
English, Welsh, Scottish, 
Northern Irish, British 

  
 

25.93% 14 

2 Irish  0.00% 0 

3 Gypsy or Irish Traveller  0.00% 0 

4 Any other white background   
 

12.96% 7 

Asian or Asian British 

5 Indian   
 

3.70% 2 

6 Pakistani   
 

42.59% 23 

7 Bangladeshi   
 

3.70% 2 

8 Chinese  0.00% 0 

9 Any other Asian background   
 

1.85% 1 

Black or Black British 

10 Caribbean  0.00% 0 

11 African  0.00% 0 

12 Any other black background  0.00% 0 

Mixed or Multiple Ethnic Groups 

13 White and Black Caribbean  0.00% 0 

14 White and Black African  0.00% 0 

15 White and Asian   
 

1.85% 1 

16 Any other mixed background   
 

7.41% 4 

Other Ethnic Group 

17 Arab  0.00% 0 

18 Other (please specify):  0.00% 0 

 
answered 54 

skipped 10 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



32 
 

14. Are your day to day activities limited because of a health problem or 
disability which has lasted or is expected to last 12 months or more?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Yes   
 

3.85% 2 

2 No   
 

94.23% 49 

3 Prefer not to say   
 

1.92% 1 

 
answered 52 

skipped 12 

If yes, please specify: (1) 

1 ID: 194450994  REDACTED 
 

 
END. 

Page 46

Agenda Item 7



Appendix C – Proposed new hackney carriage fares 

 For any journey starting:  The tariff 
level is:  

06:00 - 22:59  Tariff 1 

23:00 - 01:59  Tariff 2 

All day on Sundays, Bank Holidays, Public Holidays and Easter Sunday 

20:00 - 23:59 Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve  

02:00 - 05:59  Tariff 3 

All day Christmas Day, Boxing Day and New Year’s Day 

 
The below table shows the proposed starting charge and subsequent charges for distance 
after 1 mile and for any waiting time. 

  
  

Tariff 1 Tariff 2 Tariff 3 

Flag fall £5.40 £6.70 £7.25 

Inclusive miles 1 1 1 

Subsequent 176 yd or 161 m (1/10 mile)  £0.27 £0.35 £0.40 

Waiting time per minute or part thereof  £0.27 £0.35 £0.40 

 
Some examples of journey costs are below:  
 

2 miles £8.10 £10.20 £11.25 

3 miles £10.80 £13.70 £15.25 

5 miles £16.20 £20.70 £23.25 

10 miles £29.70 £38.20 £43.25 

Proposed extra charges are shown in the below table 

Carrying more than 4 passengers £1.50 per extra passenger (regardless of distance) 

Soiling charge  £150 maximum 

  

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



 
 

Cabinet Report 

 
Report of Head of Planning 

Author: Samantha Allen 

Telephone: 07717 274692 

E-mail: samantha.allen@southandvale.gov.uk  

Wards affected: Henley-on-Thames Ward 

 

Cabinet member responsible: Cllr Anne-Marie Simpson 

E-mail: anne-marie.simpson@southoxon.gov.uk  

To: CABINET 

Date: 18 August 2022 

 

 

Henley-on-Thames Conservation Area 

Appraisal and Boundary Review Adoption 

Recommendations: 

(a) That the Henley-on-Thames Conservation Area boundaries are adopted as per the 
proposed revisions shown at Appendix 1. 

(b) That the Henley-on-Thames Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan as 
amended is adopted.  

(c) To delegate to the Head of Planning in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member 
to make minor changes, typographical corrections or non-material amendments to the 
Henley-on-Thames Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan document prior 
to formal publication and statutory notification requirements.  

 

Purpose of Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of the representations received 
during the public consultation on the draft Henley-on-Thames Conservation Area 
Appraisal and Boundary Reviews, to detail the changes that have been made and to 
seek formal adoption of the boundary and associated document.  

Corporate Objectives  

2. The Appraisal accords with 2020-2024 Corporate Objectives 4 (Improved economic 
and community well-being) and 5 (Housing and Infrastructure that meet local needs). 
The document also forms part of the development plan evidence base supporting the 
preservation and enhancement of the district’s historic environment.   

Page 48

Agenda Item 8

mailto:samantha.allen@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:anne-marie.simpson@southoxon.gov.uk


 
 

Background 

Purpose of the Conservation Area Appraisal and Boundary Review 

3. Under Sections 69 & 71 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 local authorities have a duty to designate conservation areas and from time to 
time to review the boundaries.  Such areas are defined as ‘areas of special 
architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to 
preserve or enhance’. The Henley-on-Thames Conservation Area Appraisal Document 
is the mechanism by which the local authority defines the special interest of the area 
and the boundary was reviewed during the writing of the document. 

4. This appraisal and review were instigated by Henley-on-Thames Town Council 
following on from their recent Neighbourhood Plan review. The appraisal document 
was produced by a specialist consultant, Purcell, on behalf of the Town Council. The 
Conservation Team assisted with proof-reading an early draft and following our 
feedback the document was revised as a consultation draft.  

5. The Council were satisfied that the draft document and proposed boundary extension 
met with the tests of Historic England’s guidance for Conservation Area designation 
and appraisal and the draft documents were issued for a public consultation.  

6. An eight-week period of public consultation commenced on Wednesday 30 March, 
closing on Wednesday 25 May 2022. Hard copies of the document were provided at 
the Town Hall and Henley Library. We were assisted with the advertising of the 
consultation by the Town Council.   

7. Under Section 71 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, 
we have exercised our duty to formulate and produce proposals for the preservation 
and enhancement of the conservation area. The appraisal document once adopted will 
form part of the evidence base for the Development Plan. It should be used in the 
development management process to manage positive change within the designated 
conservation area or its setting to minimise harm and encourage preservation or 
enhancement. 

Summary of the Appraisal Document and alterations to the Proposed Boundary  

8. The appraisal document brings together the three conservation areas in Henley; 
Henley Main, St Marks Road and Reading Road. The document provides a summary 
of the history of Henley-on-Thames’s development, an assessment of its historic and 
architectural interest, a gazetteer of local interest buildings (non-listed structures) and 
detailed mapping showing various elements of spatial analysis for all three 
conservation areas. 

9. The Conservation Team propose revisions to the existing boundaries. These include 
rationalisation of the boundary where it crosses through a development that has taken 
place since its first designation and proposed extensions. 

Proposed changes to the Designated Boundary 

10. There are four areas where the existing Conservation Area Boundaries are proposed 
for revision. The proposals are shown at Appendix 1.  

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



 
 

 Henley Main Conservation Area is proposed to be rationalised to remove the 
modern development of Hanover House at Normanstead.  

 Henley Main Conservation Area is proposed to be extended to include the 
northern extent of The Fairmile. 

 Henley Main Conservation Area is proposed to be extended to include a cluster of 
properties at the junction of Greys Road and Reading Road in the centre of the 
town. This includes the area forming Britannia Place. This area is currently 
surrounded by the designated conservation area and the proposal is to include it.  

 St Marks Road Conservation Area is proposed to be extended to include 3-11 
(odd) St Marks Road and Allison House, St Marks Road. 

11. There are no changes to the Reading Road Conservation Area boundary.  

Summary of consultation responses received  

12. In total, 35 responses were received during the public consultation period. Unusually, 
most of these were via email rather than the online web survey.  

13. A particularly high number of responses were received from residents in areas 
proposed for removal sent directly by email to the team.  

14. Of specific note, the residents of Leicester Close were unanimous in their desire to 
remain within the conservation area.  

15. 7 responses were received regarding the removal of Bowling Court and Pearce’s 
Orchard; 3 in favour of removal and 4 against removal of Pearce’s Orchard specifically. 
On balance our recommendation was that Pearce’s Orchard remained within the 
boundary as this would not affect their existing PD rights. Henley Town Council, having 
considered our recommendations, concluded that they would like to see Bowling Court 
remain as well. 

16. General comments were received relating to planning applications and delivery of 
allocated sites that do not require changes to the document or boundary. A 
consultation statement summarising the detailed comments is attached at Appendix 2.   

17. Overall, the responses received were generally supportive of the content of the 
document and proposed boundary revisions. Summaries of the changes made as a 
result of the comments are detailed below. 

Proposed changes to the consultation version of the boundary and Appraisal 
Document 

18. The draft appraisal document will be updated to reflect the outcome of the public 
consultation. Specifically, the Public Consultation paragraphs in Section 1.5 will be 
updated with the dates of consultation and outcome of adoption and Section 8 will be 
revised to identify the changes made to the boundary specifically as a result of 
consultation including a series of maps showing existing, consultation and 2022 
adopted boundaries should Cabinet adopt the proposed new boundary. There are no 
other major changes anticipated to the document.  

Page 50

Agenda Item 8



 
 

19. The following specific changes are proposed to be made to the proposed boundary 
following the public consultation: 

 Leicester Close, north Badgemore Lane, Pearce’s Orchard, Bowling Court, Dry 
Leas Sports Ground and 33a St Andrew’s Road will all remain within the existing 
boundary. This will not alter their existing PD rights as they are already within the 
designated area.  

Options 

20. There are three options for Cabinet: 

1) To find that the Henley-on-Thames Conservation Areas as proposed to be 
extended are of special architectural and historic interest and designate the areas 
as a conservation area. 

2) To find that the Henley-on-Thames Conservation Areas as proposed to be 
extended are not of special architectural and historic interest and not to amend 
the designated area, leaving the existing boundary as the designated 
conservation area. 

3) To find that there is an area of special architectural and historic interest that 
extends beyond the existing boundary but that it should be different to that 
proposed. Having identified and justified the difference to designate that area the 
conservation area.  

21. Based upon officers’ assessment of Henley-on-Thames as presented in the 
Conservation Area Appraisal and the responses received during public consultation, it 
is recommended that the proposed extension to the boundaries are adopted and the 
revised areas are designated Henley-on-Thames Conservation Area and St Marks 
Road Conservation Area together with adopting the accompanying Appraisal, which is 
in line with Option (1) above and the recommendations made at the beginning of this 
report.  

Climate and ecological impact implications 

22. There are no anticipated negative climate or ecological implications as a result of the 
proposed boundary revision or appraisal document.  

23. At Section 6.3, the document sets out the opportunities within the conservation area to 
respond to the climate emergency.  

24. Specifically at section 7.5.2 the document also encourages actions to assist in tackling 
climate change. 

25. Conservation Area designation also specifically increases protection of trees over a 
certain size.   

Financial Implications 

26. Any council decision that has financial implications must be made with the knowledge 
of the council’s overarching financial position. For South, the position reflected in the 
council’s medium-term financial plan (MTFP) as reported to Full Council in February 

Page 51

Agenda Item 8



 
 

2022 showed that the council is due to receive £2.1 million less in revenue funding than 
it plans to spend in 2022/23 (with the balance coming from reserves).  

 
27. This future funding gap is predicted to increase to over £3 million by 2026/27. As there 

remains no certainty on future local government funding, following the announcement 
of a one-year spending review by government, and as the long-term financial 
consequences of the Coronavirus pandemic remain unknown, this gap could increase 
further. Every financial decision made needs to be cognisant of the need to address 
this funding gap in future years. 
 

28. The process of designating a conservation area entails a small cost to advertise the 
designation of a new boundary to meet the statutory notification requirements as 
described in the legal implications section below. This cost can be met from within 
existing planning budgets. 

29. Dwellings within the proposed extension once designated would be required to apply 
for planning permission for certain works that no longer benefit from permitted 
development rights. In the case of these proposed changes this only affects a small 
number of properties within the Town. 

30. There will be some increased work to the council arising from the processing of those 
applications but some of the cost of processing these applications would be recovered 
from the planning fee. Additionally, there may be a small increase in overall workload 
for the service that might not be recovered because some cases will be more complex 
than average. However, having regard to the very small number of additional properties 
that the extension would cover, this impact is likely to be very modest relative to annual 
workloads. 

31. The modest costs associated with the above points will be met from existing planning 
budgets. 

Legal Implications 

21. The Appraisal meets the Council’s obligations required by the Planning (Listed Building 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Under Sections 69 and 71 of the Act, the Council 
should review conservation area boundaries from time-to-time and formulate and 
publish proposals for the preservation and enhancement of any parts of their area 
which are conservation areas. This Appraisal for Henley-on-Thames forms part of the 
Council’s rolling programme of providing conservation area appraisals for all its 
designated conservation areas. 

22. The principal legal effect of the designation of an area as a conservation area is control 
over demolition of buildings (including structures classed as buildings in planning 
legislation) and control over works to trees. In determining applications, the council also 
has a duty under the Planning Acts to have regard to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of the area and there are less generous 
permitted development rights, under the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015. 

23. The Act requires that the designation of a new conservation area or variation to it be 
advertised in the London Gazette, a local newspaper and registered as a local land 
charge. The Secretary of State (DCMS) and Historic England will also be notified. 

Page 52

Agenda Item 8



 
 

Risks 

24. No strategic or operational risks associated with the matters covered in this report have 
been identified. 

Other implications 

25. It has been confirmed that an Equality Impact Assessment is not required for this 
Conservation Area Appraisal document. The document is a supplementary guide to 
existing planning policy and statutory designation with no negative impact on 
associated policies, service users or employees. The document has been produced to 
be as accessible as possible.  

Conclusion 

26. Having regard to the evidence collected and presented in the Henley-on-Thames 
Conservation Area Appraisal and to the responses received during consultation, it is 
recommended that the Henley-on-Thames Conservation Area boundary is amended 
as proposed. It is also recommended that the Conservation Area Appraisal document 
is adopted.  

 
 

Appendices 

 Appendix 1: Henley-on-Thames Conservation Area Proposed Boundary Map 

 Appendix 2: Consultation Statement  

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



BOUNDARY REVIEW
  Current CA Boundaries
  Inclusion
 Exclusion

This plan is not to scale

Page 54

Agenda Item 8



1 
 

Henley on Thames Conservation Area 

Appraisal and Boundary Review  

Consultation Statement 

  

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this statement is to provide a summary of the representations 
received during the public consultation on the Henley on Thames Conservation 
Area Appraisal and Boundary Reviews held between Wednesday 30 March and 
Wednesday 25 May 2022. 

Background 

Purpose of the Conservation Area Appraisal and Boundary Review 
 
2. Under Sections 69 & 71 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 local authorities have a duty to designate conservation areas 
and from time to time to review the boundaries. The Conservation Area Appraisal 
Document is the mechanism by which the local authority defines the special 
interest of these areas and they form part of the Local Authority Development 
Plan evidence base. 

3. Under Section 71 of the above act, we have exercised our duty to formulate and 
produce proposals for the preservation and enhancement of the conservation 
area.  

4. The appraisal document forms part of the evidence base for the Development 
Plan. It should be used in the development management process to manage 
positive change within the designated conservation area or its setting to minimise 
harm and encourage preservation or enhancement. 

Summary of the Appraisal Document and alterations to the Proposed 
Boundary 

5. The document provides a summary of the history of Henley on Thames’s 
development, an assessment of its historic and architectural interest by character 
area, a gazetteer of local interest buildings (non-listed structures) and a series of 
illustrative maps showing various details of spatial analysis. 

6. The Conservation and Design Team proposed revisions to the existing 
boundaries. These include rationalisation of the boundary where it crosses 
through a building plot and the addition of areas considered to contribute to the 
significance of the area.  

Summary of consultation responses received  

7. In total, 35 responses were received during the public consultation period.  

8. Overall, the responses received were generally supportive of the content of the 
document but the removal of areas to the south-west of the Fairmile were not 
favourable. The Conservation and Design Team recommended to Henley Town 
Council that Leicester Close, Badgemore Lane and Pearce’s Orchard, although 
modern, made a positive contribution to the character of the area and should 
remain in the designated conservation area. Henley Town Council confirmed that 

Page 56

Agenda Item 8



3 
 

they would be happy for these areas to remain and would additionally like to see 
Bowling Court remain.  

9. Detailed comments on how the Conservation Team have responded to all the 
comments received can be found in the table below. 

Responses 

10. The table below outlines all the responses received during the consultation with 

the Conservation Team’s response and relevant actions.  

11. Names have been removed. Respondents were invited to provide a partial 

postcode when responding in order to capture the geographical extent of 

comments on this localised consultation; postcodes have been removed from the 

table provided below.  

Conclusion 

12. Overall, the level of response was broadly as expected on this localised 

consultation.  

13. The questions asked provided specific opportunities to comment on the proposed 

boundary revisions and on the appraisal document itself. The comments received 

were useful to the team in finalising the document and boundary review.  

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



4 
 

Rep Name of 
you are 
represent
ing: 

How far do 
you agree 
or disagree 
with the 
proposed 
extension 
of the full 
length of 
Fair Mile? 

How far do 
you agree 
or 
disagree 
with the 
proposed 
addition of 
the 
buildings 
between 
Greys 
Road and 
Reading 
Road? 

How far do 
you agree or 
disagree 
with the 
proposed 
addition of 
the eastern 
end of St 
Andrew’s 
Road? 

How far do you 
agree or 
disagree with 
the proposal to 
remove 
Bowling Court 
and Pearce’s 
Orchard? 

How far do 
you agree 
or disagree 
to remove 
Leicester 
Court and 
Badgemore 
Lane? 

How far 
do you 
agree or 
disagree 
with the 
proposal 
to 
remove 
Dry Leas 
Sports 
Ground? 

How far 
do you 
agree or 
disagree 
with the 
proposal 
to 
remove 
Hanover 
House? 

How far 
do you 
agree or 
disagree 
with the 
proposal 
to 
remove 
33a St 
Andrew’s 
Road? 

Overall comments Conservation and Design 
Team response 

1 - Strongly 
agree 

- - Agree - I am 
happy that 1 to 
13 Pearces 
Orchard are to 
be removed from 
the conservation 
area but do not 
understand why 
you have not 
included 
Edmond Gate 
No. 2A Pearce's 
Orchard nor the 
new house 
directly opposite. 
Shown in red on 
the attached 
image. Both 
properties are 
newer than the 
rest. 

- - - - - The development was designed 
with consistent appearance and 
layout which has remain well 
preserved and makes a positive 
contribution to the conservation 
area as an example of C20 
developmemt of high quality.  
We recommend it remains in the 
designated area. This will not 
change the existing PD rights of 
residents and further 
consultation is not deemed 
necessary.  

2 - Strongly 
agree 

Strongly 
agree 

Strongly 
agree 

- - Strongly 
disagree 

- - Being in a conservation area should not 
prevent appropriate upgrading, in 
particular to provide better insulation and 
environmental improvements. 

Agreed. The document 
encourages best practice in this 
respect. No specific changes to 
the document are required.  

3 - - - - - - - - - - n/a 

P
age 58

A
genda Item

 8



5 
 

4 - - - - - - Disagree - 
I over look 
the the 
sports 
ground 
and there 
are many 
birds and 
wildlife 
around 
the area 
my son 
loves to 
spot all 
the 
wildlife. 
My 
concern 
that this 
decision 
will have a 
negative 
impact in 
the future 
for the 
residents 
who 
overlook 
the site. 
Such the 
potential 
for larger 
stadia and 
seating to 
do so tree 
removal 
will have 
to take 
place thus 
damage 
habitats 
for 
wildlife. 
The 
floodlights 
are 
already on 
past 10pm 
most 
nights 
which 
exceeds 
any other 
sports 
ground in 

- - - The Conservation Area 
designation can only manage 
change not wholly prevent it in 
the manner referred to. 
However, the existing trees on 
the Sports Ground site are 
considered to be a postive 
contributor to the character of 
the area and benefit from being 
within the designated area. As 
such it is recommended the 
boundary is not altered here as 
had been proposed.  

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 8



6 
 

the area 
including 
the likes 
of Phylis 
court & 
Tennis 
club. I 
would 
welcome 
changes 
to those 
sites as 
there is no 
difference. 
Sport for 
all!  

5 Mark 
Coram 

Agree - This 
area should 
be widened 
to include 
the field 
areas to the 
Sout-West 
of Fairmile 
(between 
Badegmore 
End and 
Beechwood) 
as these 
areas 
directly 
impact on 
Fairmile.  
They over 
look the 
area and 
any 
development 
on them 
would have 
a profound 
and 
detrimental 
impact on 
the 
charatcer of 
Henley as 
you enter 
along the 
Fairmile (as 
stated in 
your 
justification 
for 

- - Disagree - These 
should remain, 
they have a 
direct impact on 
the character of 
Henley and the 
Fairmile - an 
area you are 
currently 
expanding and 
therefore this all 
needs protecting. 

- - - - The housing development to the west of 
Fairmile must not be allowed to happen. 
Although it sits outside the geographical 
bounds of the CA, it overlooks the area 
and would have an irreversible 
detrimental effect on the character of 
Henley as you enter the town and the 
landscape of the valley that Fairmile sits 
in. 
 
The council need to do their part in 
maintaining the Conservation area, for 
example, the Henley Bridge (that forms 
our towns logo) still has a temporary 
unsightly tarmac repair on the paved 
walkways; the bins along fairmile (and 
the town) regularly are left over flowing, 
and general area maintenance needs 
improving.   

1. The allocated site on the west 
of the Fairmile cannot be 
prevented by adoption of this 
appraisal and boundary review - 
the impact of it was considered 
when the NP was made. This 
appraisal should hold new 
development to a higher 
standard based on the elements 
identified as locally distinct. 
2. Pearce's Orchard will be 
retained as an example of C20 
development that makes a 
positive contribution. Bowling 
Court is less well defined in 
terms of consistency of 
character, layout or pattern of 
development and could be 
removed.  

P
age 60

A
genda Item

 8



7 
 

extending 
the current 
area).   

6 Oxfordshir
e 
Architectur
al & 
Historical 
Society 
(OAHS) 

- - - - - - - - Thank you for the opportunity to 
comment on this CA appraisal 
document. Our caseworkers have 
examined the documentation and we 
have the following comments: 
 
This is an excellent document and there 
is nothing in it which we would disagree 
with. We support the proposed additions, 
and the proposed removals,  from the 
conservation areas. The review is 
thorough, well-researched and 
convincingly argued; we consider it to be 
a model of its kind.  

n/a 

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 8



8 
 

7 - - - - Strongly 
disagree - 
Pearce's 
Orchard was 
built of uniform 
character, as 
were the 
terraces of 
Victorian and 
Edwardian 
houses in 
Henley, and 
retains the 
original wooden 
windows and 
front doors. Just 
because it was 
built in the 1980s 
doesn't mean 
this character 
shouldn't be 
preserved and, 
as such, should 
remain in the 
conservation 
area. The 13 
houses have a 
restrictive 
covenant in 
place for 80 
years to maintain 
this uniformity of 
character. 
Removing it from 
the conservation 
area would mean 
windows and 
doors could be 
replaced with 
unsightly 
coloured uPVC 
windows and 
doors, rendering, 
fences to the 
fronts of the 
properties etc. 
Had the 
conservation 
areas in Henley 
been in place in 
the 1960s & 70s, 
the uniform 
character of the 
Victorian 
terraced housing 

- - - - - Recommended that Pearce's 
Orchard be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

P
age 62

A
genda Item

 8



9 
 

would've been 
maintained, 
instead of having 
to now 
encourage 
residents to 
restore it when 
applying to make 
changes to their 
appearance 

8 - - - Strongly 
agree - Very 
happy to see 
the 
conservation 
area 
extended to 
include the 
eastern end 
of St Andrews 
Road. The 
house at 4 St 
Andrews 
Road is of 
immense 
character. I 
am not sure 
why this 
building has 
not also been 
included. 

- - - - - - No.4 is broadly consistent in 
design but not as closely linked 
as other properties. We do not 
recommend further extension at 
this time.  

P
age 63

A
genda Item

 8



10 
 

9 - Strongly 
agree - The 
Fairmile is 
an iconic 
entry to a 
small market 
town and 
deserves the 
highest 
conservation 
and 
ecological 
protection.   
 
Given this 
recognition, 
It is hoped 
that SODC 
also 
recognizes 
the 
irreparable 
harm that 
the 
proposed 
development 
of a housing 
estate off 
the Fairmile 
will do to the 
Fairmile 
conservation 
area and will 
look again at 
further 
mitigation 
measures.  

- - - - - - - - n/a 

10 - Strongly 
agree 

Strongly 
agree 

Strongly 
agree 

Strongly 
disagree 

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree 

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree 

Neither 
agree 
nor 
disagree 

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree 

- n/a 

11 - - Strongly 
agree - The 
buildings 
on the 
south side 
of Greys 
Road are a 
blight on 
the area / 
surrounding 
properties. 
By ensuring 
that their 
use and 

- - - - - - - n/a 

P
age 64

A
genda Item

 8



11 
 

character is 
improved 
over time it 
will only 
improve 
their 
current lack 
of aesthetic 
appeal.  

12 - Agree Agree Agree - I am 
saddened to 
see the 
removal of 
individual 
properties 
and the 
intensification 
of building , 
multiple 
properties on 
small sites, 
random 
enlargements, 
filling of green 
spaces and 
removal of 
trees, which 
chang e  the 
character of 
the town. 

- - - - - Please try to the limit the height of new 
developments to protect the views and 
privacy of the neighbours. We know that 
the redevelopment of small cramped 
sites will continue and we deplore it. As 
the number of cars increases, the quality 
of life dimishes. 

The Conservation Area 
designation can only manage 
change not wholly prevent it. 
Comments noted.  

13 Henley-
on-
Thames 
Archaeolo
gical & 
Historical 
Group  

- - - - - - - - With regard to the page which deals with 
references I would like to point out that 
the guide, 'A walk round Henley-on-
Thames' written by A.Cottingham has 
now been produced in its 7th edition, 
which contains a number of changes 
and additions, especially with regard of 
dendro dating historic buildings. This is 
available on our web site.  
Ruth Gibson BA hons. Hist. & Arch. 

Noted.  

14 - - - - Strongly agree - 
As a resident in 
this area I would 
like to see it 
taken out of the 
conservation 
area  

- - - - - Recommended that Pearce's 
Orchard be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

15 - - - - Strongly agree - - - - - Recommended that Pearce's 
Orchard be retained as an 
example of C20 development P

age 65

A
genda Item

 8



12 
 

that makes a positive 
contribution. 

16 - - - - - - - - - I would like to know why houses on 
Reading road are unable to have full loft 
conversions/dormers? We live a on a 
main road which has not one heritage 
feature, such as pavements, 
conservation lampposts etc, but we are 
provided with uneven tarmac 
pavements, concrete lampposts, pot 
holes sunken drains,  that are damaging 
our houses as the HGV’s roll past day 
and night.  
 
Yet we are not allowed to have full width 
dormers to create more space for our 
families.  
 
I’d also like to add that people who live 
on nice leafy quiet back streets can and 
do have full width dormers on their 
houses that we can see from our own 
houses!  
 
I would like all of the above taken into 
consideration when deciding planning 
laws on conservation areas, especially 
as the the council do not provide 1 tiny 
piece of ‘conservation’ On Reading 
Road!! And tell us home owners we 
aren’t allowed to have a full width 
dormer!!??  
 
Regards, from a disgruntled Reading 
Road resident!  

The document should help to 
manage change in the 
conservation area. Individual 
planning applications have to be 
considered case-by-case based 
on an informed understanding of 
context which this document 
should help to define.  

17 - - - - Disagree - I am 
not sure what the 
proposed 
removal of 
conservation 
area status for 
specifically 
Pearce's 
Orchard serves 
to accomplish.  
You state that 
conservation 
area status 
confers 
advantages in 
this residential 
area and their 
removal would 

- - - - - Recommended that Pearce's 
Orchard be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

P
age 66

A
genda Item

 8



13 
 

presumably 
allow for infilling, 
removal of trees 
etc. and general 
reduction in 
amenity value. 
 
What is the 
advantage for 
SODC? 

18 - - - - - - - - - My name is Mr M dinarvand and I am the 
landlord for properties 13 and 17 greys 
road In Henley on Thames I’ve received 
a letter about the conservation I should 
say I am not interested to put my 
properties in a conversation area Please 
consider my comment Thank you 

Noted. The buildings on Greys 
Road, whilst more modern, 
follow a pattern of Town Centre 
development and inclusion 
within the Conservation Area 
would not diminish its interest 
and ensure development 
preserves or enhances local 
character.  

19 - - - - - - - - - I am a resident of Leicester Close and I 
am responding to your letter dated 30th 
March.  I am strongly of the opinion that 
Leicester Close should NOT be removed 
from the conservation area for the 
reasons set out below. 
 
Leicester Close has been part of the 
conservation area from inception. 
 
Leicester Close consists of 14 identical 
houses built in 1968 with two further 
matching houses facing Northfield End.  
The original planning application 
“blended in with the 18th century core 
areas of Henley”.  The Close is clearly 
visible from Northfield End.   
 
The houses are built in a Neo-Georgian 
style which was in vogue in the period 
1960 to 1970.  Leicester Close is a 
particularly good example of a 
development of that era.  The exteriors 
of the houses seen from the road are 
identical and none have been altered in 
the 55 years of existence.  This is due to 
their positioning in the conservation area 
aided by some restrictive covenants.  To 
remove it after 55 years appears 
illogical.   
 
The Close needs to be considered as a 

Recommended that Leicester 
Close be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 8



14 
 

whole.  The houses were thoughtfully 
positioned to make the development 
attractive, to provide privacy between 
neighbours and to provide a pleasant 
landscaped environment.  Each was 
provided with a small planted area in 
front to soften the area.  There are small 
public islands of planting to further 
enhance the environment and there are 
several trees with TPOs throughout the 
whole plot. 
 
The whole has a a pleasing appearance 
and was innovative in its time. 
 
I disagree with the report conclusion that 
Leicester Close “is of no heritage 
interest”.  Historic England’s heritage 
definition does not specify age.  
Leicester Close is only 55 years old but I 
believe that within the next generation 
Leicester Close will come to be 
appreciated along with Henley’s Tudor 
buildings, Victorian villas and Edwardian 
cottages as an excellent and interesting 
example of a complete mid 20th century 
Neo-Georgian development and the only 
one of its kind in Henley.  I also disagree 
with the conclusion that Leicester Close 
“does not contribute to the special 
interest of the conservation area”.  The 
trees and planting soften the area of 
Henley and provide a transition from the 
open land at the north of Henley to the 
fully developed centre of the town.  It 
would be a huge loss to Henley if all this 
was lost by inadequate protection. 

20 - - - - - - - - - My wife and I are joint owners and 
residents of 11 Leicester Close. We wish 
to remain in the Henley Conservation 
Area and we are confident that all (or 
very nearly all) the owner-occupiers of 
Leicester Close have the same view. 
The reasons are as follows: 
 
1. Leicester Close houses were all built 
in 1968 following the demolition of the 
original property, Leicester House. All 
the houses are visible from the main 
road. As such the development cannot 
properly be described as "back land 
infill" as is claimed in the latest survey. 
2. The 14 houses were identical when 
built in the Georgian style, replicating 
many of the properties at the north end 

Recommended that Leicester 
Close be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

P
age 68

A
genda Item

 8



15 
 

of Bell Street and Northfield End. The 
development can therefore be stated to 
be fully sympathetic with the 
Preservation Area of Henley 
3. Whilst most of the houses have been 
extended to the rear, they have been 
done sympathetically and more 
importantly the frontages have not 
changed in any way. All the properties 
have white front doors, white garage 
doors, and white sash windows. The 
uniformity of the houses is part of the 
charm and character of Leicester Close. 
4. Being in the Conservation Area 
provides essential help maintaining this 
character 
5. There are a number of trees in the 
road which help to maintain its character 
but only 2 of these are known to have 
TPO's on them 
6. We believe that this development will 
come to be seen as a classic example of 
how a modern development can be 
reconciled with the character of a 
Conservation Area and as such an area 
of architectural and heritage interest 
suitable for inclusion within such a 
Conservation Area 
7. We take the view that items 2 to 7 in 
the list of Specific Management 
Principles on page 131 of the Review 
should be applied to Leicester Close 
 
On the assumption that you do indeed 
receive similar comments from the vast 
majority of Leicester Close residents, it is 
hard to see on what basis the Council 
could refuse our request and we look 
forward to a positive response. 

21 - - - - - - - - - Thank you for your  letter of 30th March. 
  
My wife and I  have lived in Henley since 
1969 in houses both within and outside 
the Henley Conservation area. 
  
We moved  to  2 Leicester Close  RG9 
2LD specifically because it was in the 
Henley Conservation Area and we both  
wish it to remain within such designated 
area .  
  
We can not see a rational reason for a 
change and would object strongly to any 
alteration to the uniformity of the 
buildings within the Close. 

Recommended that Leicester 
Close be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 8



16 
 

  
"The town's conservation area exists to 
protect the features that make Henley a 
historic,unique and distinctive place". 

22 - - - - - - - - - I am writing in support of the letter that 
you have received from some or all of 
my neighbours in the Close (Tony May 
and Peter Lloyd).  
 
My main point is that I can see no benefit 
to anyone, residents or town of removing 
the status. Please would you explain 
who would benefit from this change?  
 
All the houses sit on modest plots (little if 
no scope for demolishing or enlarging) 
and have maintained the homogenous 
design over the 55 years of existence. 
We have all worked within these 
constrains during this time and 
respected the rules to the benefit of the 
aesthetics visible from the kerbside. 
Disturbing this now seems pointless and 
only likely to foment needless challenges 
in the future, unless this is all a scheme 
to create planning disputes? 

Recommended that Leicester 
Close be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

P
age 70

A
genda Item

 8



17 
 

23 - - - - - - - - - I am  resident of Leicester Close 
 
In response to your letter dated the 30th 
March 2022, I would like to state that I 
believe that Leicester Close should 
definitely NOT be removed from the 
Conservation Area. 
 
The reasons why I believe this are as 
follows: 
 
Leicester Close has been part of the 
Conservation Area since inception. 
 
All 14 houses in Leicester Close are 
identical (built in Neo-Georgian style with 
white front doors, white garage doors 
and white sash windows.  Being in a 
Conservation area has provided the 
benefit of increased planning controls 
thereby protecting the setting and 
providing control over inappropriate work 
over inter alia: 
(a) the level of permitted development 
(b) the restrictions on size and  location 
of any alterations such as two storeys 
etc 
(c) ensuring that materials, colours, 
bricks, fencing etc are in keeping with 
the existing 
 
This overall control has worked well and 
as result, the character of the Close has 
been maintained. 
Owners in similar type developments in 
other locations have increasingly taken 
to alterations of the above nature leading 
to a change in the uniformity and 
character of that development.  Free of 
Conservation control, it is highly likely 
that such work would increasingly take 
place in Leicester Close and would 
gradually diminish its character and be 
detrimental to Henley.  Surely it must be 
in the interest of Henley to maintain the 
character of this part of the town. 
 
To remove the Conservation Area 
therefore does not seem to make sense. 
All the houses can be seen from the 
main road and the development is fully 
sympathetic with the Preservation Area 
of Henley. 
 
I believe that the majority of the 

Recommended that Leicester 
Close be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

P
age 71

A
genda Item

 8



18 
 

Leicester Close residents will have the 
same view that I have and therefore I 
can’t see on what basis the Council 
could refuse our request of keeping 
Leicester Close in the Conservation Area 
as it has always been. 

24 - - - - - - - - - We live as co-owners of 12 Leicester 
Close, Henley-on- Thames RG9 2LD, 
and I write to say that we are strongly 
opposed to the proposal to remove this 
property ( and presumably the whole of 
Leicester Close ) from the conservation 
area. 
1. Leicester Close is an area of urban 
development of 14 houses erected in the 
1960’s representing the then fashionable 
neo-Georgian architectural style. It was 
thoughtfully and carefully designed by 
the Planners and architects of the day to 
create an integrated community within 
easy reach of the town centre via 
Northfield End. All the houses had the 
same style and appearance: 14, 
essentially identical houses with open 
frontage and surrounding space making 
for an overall green environment, 
sympathetic to its position located just 
off, and visible from the grand Fairmile 
entrance to this riverside and tourist 
town. 
2. Since the houses were built some 55 

Recommended that Leicester 
Close be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

P
age 72

A
genda Item

 8



19 
 

years ago, they have been maintained 
with a common frontal appearance. The 
development still demonstrates the 
original vision of an integrated, 
communal area and as such is worthy of 
continuing conservation protection. This 
uniformity of the houses and the general 
layout of the development creates in 
Henley, an attractive example of 
1960/70’s good design and architectural 
style. 
3. The development is already a classic 
example of how modern development 
can be reconciled with appropriate 
environmental and conservation 
concerns. It would be clearly detrimental 
to the character of the area if any one of 
the houses became structurally or 
superficially altered at the front or 
replaced as might well be the case if the 
protection of being within the 
conservation area is lost. The current 
and all previous conservation 
frameworks for Henley have played a 
key role in maintaining the architectural 
integrity of the development which is so 
obvious and appreciated now.  
4. In our view, then, Leicester Close 
should remain, as a whole, within the 
Conservation Area for Henley to protect 
the unique setting and the valued 
architectural statement made 55 years 
ago. 

25 - - 
 

- - - - - - My husband and I moved to Henley 6 
years ago and one of the reasons we 
were keen to buy a house in Leicester 
Close was that it was in the 
Conservation area. We would be very 
disappointed if that was to change as 
indicated in your letter of 30.3.22. 
 
There are several reasons why Leicester 
Close should remain in the Conservation 
area, 
 
1.  To provide adequate protection from 
unsightly development. 
2. To maintain the attractive appearance 
of the Close. 
3.  To protect the trees and attractive 
planted areas around each house. 
4.  To maintain the pleasing appearance 
of the Close in the town which adds to its 
heritage interest as a good example of 
mid 20th century development which has 

Recommended that Leicester 
Close be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 8



20 
 

not been altered since it was built in 
1968. 

26 - - - - - - - - - My wife and I are joint owners and 
residents of 14 Leicester Close. 
 
We are writing to support other residents 
who want Leicester Close to remain in 
the conservation area for the reasons 
explained in Peter LLoyd's email. 
 
The  cul-de-sac is already protected, and 
remains so, by restrictive covenants 
applied when the properties we’re built 
55 years ago. 

Recommended that Leicester 
Close be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

27 - - - - - - - - - I am the owner/occupier of No.4 
Leicester Close and strongly believe that 
we should remain   
in the Conservation Area.  I simply wish 
to endorse the points made in their e-
mails by 
Peter Lloyd (No 10) and Tony May (No 
11). 

Recommended that Leicester 
Close be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

P
age 74

A
genda Item

 8



21 
 

28 - - - - - - - - - My wife and I reside at No 1 Leicester 
Close which we own and I am 
responding to the proposal to remove 
the Close from the current conservation 
area. 
 
We believe this would be a retrograde 
step and we oppose it. The grounds for 
so doing are well expressed in the 
submissions you have received from our 
neighbours- Mr Tony May at not 11 and 
Mr Peter Lloyd at No.10. I wish to add 
these additional considerations: 
History 
Your letter of 30 March states that the 
conservation area “is the designated 
area of special architectural or historic 
interest which exists to protect the 
features and characteristics that make 
Henley a historic, unique and distinctive 
place.” I submit that Leicester Close 
does have both architectural and historic 
interest. 
The 14 houses of the Close together 
with the two properties which front North 
End Road at the Close entrance ( which 
are already recommended to remain in 
the C.A) are constructed on the grounds 
of Leicester House which in the early 
1960`s was owned by Osbert Lancaster, 
the pocket-cartoonist for the Daily 
Express. Mr Lancaster was, ironically, a 
pioneer and pillar of conservation in 
Henley; until that is , he had a torrid 
affair with a fellow journalist, Anne-Scott 
James of the Daily Mail. She persuaded 
her lover to abandon Leicester House 
and to join her at her country estate 
elsewhere in Oxfordshire which he did-
performing a moonlight flit and selling 
out to the developers who built Leicester 
Close. The Close preserves a good 
number of the trees that originally stood 
in the grounds of Leicester House and is 
a fine example of neo-Georgian 
architecture, which thanks,inter alia,to 
the conservation area have retained 
their distinctive original character for the 
past 54 years; and if they remain in the 
conservation area will remain so for 
the next 54 years, gaining in 
recognition as a fine example of its 
kind as they age. 
 
The South side of Leicester Close abuts 

Recommended that Leicester 
Close be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 8



22 
 

the historically important Friends 
Meeting House which has occupied the 
site since 1658 and which borders the 
Leicester Close houses nos-1-6 with a 
sixteen century flint and brick wall and 
boasts on Northfield End one of the 
oldest, if not he oldest, inhabited 
dwelling in Henley. The Friends garden 
runs the whole length of Leicester Close 
South side and culminates with a 
cemetery the other side of the wall 
opposite No 6.Leicester Close. The 
North side of Leicester Close overlooks 
Freemans Meadow, an important, 
protected green space. 
 
Democracy or Bureaucracy ? 
We have lived in Leicester Close for 22 
years. In that time it has been possessed 
of a friendly collegiate spirit as 
evidenced by all the Close residents 
coming together each year to share in a 
Christmas Luncheon and where 
appropriate national celebrations such 
as VE Day and this year a Platinum 
Jubilee Street Party. 
Thanks to the conservation area, despite 
many houses having received extensive 
alterations both internally and to the 
rear, the frontages and overall aspect 
have retained their original character 
and the Close remains as originally 
constructed visually. 
We believe it is the wish of the 
majority of Close residents for the 
conservation area to be preserved. 
Past success is no guarantee of future 
success in maintaining the character of 
this neo-Georgian Close, unique in 
Henley. If the protection of the 
conservation area is removed, the 
possibility of harmful development is 
increased. We ask SODC to endorse the 
local democratic will of those of us who 
live in and cherish the legacy of 
Leicester Close for future generations 
over the bureaucratic considerations of 
an external consultant. 

29 - - - - - - - - - I am responding to the issue of Leicester 
Close no longer being in the 
Conversation area for Henley on 
Thames. I am astonished that you are 
thinking of withdrawing the protection of 
this area. 
 

Recommended that Leicester 
Close be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

P
age 76

A
genda Item

 8



23 
 

I am a new resident of Leicester Close 
and one of the factors I took into 
consideration when buying the property 
was that it was in the Conservation area. 
I do not want this to change and agree 
wholeheartedly with the mails you have 
already received from Paul Barrett, Peter 
Lloyd and Tony May. 
 
Please look at this again and change 
your minds. 

30 - - - - - - - - - Thank you for your letter of 30th March 
2022 regarding the above review.  I am 
the owner/occupier of No.6 Leicester 
Close and strongly believe that we 
should remain in the Conservation Area.   
I endorse the points made in the e-mails 
you have received from Paul Barrett 
(No.1), Peter Lloyd (No. 10) and Tony 
May (No. 11). 

Recommended that Leicester 
Close be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

31 - - - - - - - - - I have been the owner of no 3 Leicester 
Close since January 1983. I agree with 
My  neighbours who have written to 
express their dismay at the idea of this 
Close losing its conservation status; and 
I am extremely grateful to Tony May, 
Peter Lloyd and Paul Barrett for putting 
the arguments so succinctly. 

Recommended that Leicester 
Close be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

32 - - - - - - - - - Further to my earlier letter asking please 
that you KEEP Leicester Close in the 
Conservation Area where it has always 
been since it was built. I thought this 
photograph well illustrated how visible it 
is and how harmoniously it blends with 
the Fairmile off which it leads.  The 
owners of the Court House would be 
happy to allow you to view it from their 
front elevation – this shot is from the 
road. 
Had Leicester Close not readily followed 
the original conditions of the planning 
consent and the Conservation status 
and only built extensions BEHIND their 
property the development would not 
deserve the continued protection we 
seek to retain. Everyone would have 
built individual extensions over their 
garages, as the cheapest options, and 
Leicester Close would not look as it does 
today under the original trees which 
graced the Leicester House garden 
which it replaced. 

Recommended that Leicester 
Close be retained as an 
example of C20 development 
that makes a positive 
contribution. 

P
age 77

A
genda Item

 8



24 
 

33 - - - - - - - - - I would suggest that all Planning Apps 
within the Conservation area are 
required to submit a Ground Penetrating 
Radar (GPR) plan of the proposed area. 
The plans to be lodged with the Land 
Registry. There are many subsurface 
facilities of which neither the MOD or 
County have any record. 
 
As an example I have recently found a 
WW2 Signals bunker beneath my 
driveway the size of a double garage. 
This has bourn the weight of a number of 
refuse carts / builders lorries / JCBs over 
the past 30 years to my horror! 
 
I would also suggest Michael Gove 
considers this for all Planning 
Applications in his new Bill 

This is outside of the remit of a 
Conservation Area Appraisl and 
Designation but comments 
noted.  

34 Historic 
England 

        
I am happy to confirm that in Historic 
England's view, this provides a suitable 
approach to documenting and analysing 
the significance of the conservation area 
and we hope will provide a sound basis 
for planning and other decisions 
affecting the area.  
 
We commend the approval to the district 
council. 

n/a 

35 Natural 
England 

        
No specific comments n/a 

 

P
age 78

A
genda Item

 8



Cabinet Report 

 

 

 

Report of Deputy Chief Executive for Operations and Transformation 

Authors: Harry Barrington-Mountford 

Telephone: 07554432156 

E-mail: Harry.Barrington-Mountford@southandvale.gov.uk  

Wards affected: All 

 

South Cabinet member responsible: Cllr Andrea Powell 

Tel: 07882 584120 

E-mail: andrea.powell@southoxon.gov.uk    

Vale Cabinet members responsible: Cllr Debby Hallett 

Tel: 07545 241013 

E-mails: debby.hallett@whitehorsedc.gov.uk  

To: CABINET 

Dates:29 September 2022 (South) 30 September 2022 (Vale) 

 

 

Update on the Corporate Transformation 

Programme, and the Technology and 

Customer Workstreams  

Recommendations 

That Cabinet is requested to note the update on the transformation programme and 
progress to date on the technology and customer workstreams.   
 

 

Purpose of report 

1. To update Cabinet members on progress implementing the council’s agreed 
transformation programme, including the proposed structure of the transformation 
team, and the further development of transformation outcomes linked to clear themes.  

Page 79

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Harry.Barrington-Mountford@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.powell@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:debby.hallett@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


Corporate objectives  

2. Future transformation activity at the Council is fundamental to our ability to enable our 
staff and services to meet and deliver our Corporate Objectives over the coming 
months and years in what will be an increasingly challenging financial environment.  

3. The consistent approach (ensured by focusing on the clearly defined outcomes 
outlined in this paper), will drive a positive approach to transformation activity across 
the councils.  

Background 

4. South Oxfordshire Cabinet agreed the Technology Strategy and roadmap on 4 
November 2021, and the Customer Transformation Strategy and Roadmap on 2 
December 2021. 

5. Vale of White Horse Cabinet agreed the Technology Strategy and roadmap on 29 
October 2021, and the Customer Transformation Strategy and Roadmap on 3 
December 2021 

6. At the time of these decisions progressing through Cabinets, it was identified that these 
workstreams would form a significant part of our overall transformation activity.  

7. This update sets out the progress made in the establishment of the target outcomes for 
the transformation programme and the team to support delivery, and what has been 
achieved on each of the roadmaps since the decisions were made.  

Transformation Outcomes 

8. The councils must ensure staff are enabled by systems and processes, to deliver the 
high standard of services expected by service users, be they residents, businesses or 
visitors.  

9. The transformation outcomes identified below have been categorised into four key 
themes, “Customer”, “Digital, Data and Technology”, “People” and “Future Proof”. With 
three overall outcomes of “Financially Stable”, “Environmentally Positive” and “Open 
and Transparent” which apply to every area, and are driven by the priorities in the 
Corporate Plan. 

10. When undertaking transformation activity, these key themes  will be focused on to 
measure success.  
 

Page 80

Agenda Item 9



 

 
11. Customer Outcomes 

a. No wrong front door – Service users will be dealt with at the first point of contact or 
directed/transferred to the right place for each contact, resulting in a seamless, single 
contact experience.  

b. Delivered once and done – For ‘single transaction’ contacts, each will result in the 
correct action being taken, reducing failure demand and the need for service users to 
undertake multiple, unnecessary contacts. 

c. Every contact right first time – Every contact along the entire customer journey should 
be clear and accurate, delivering the required information at the right time.  

d. Protect the vulnerable – Our service and system design must ensure vulnerable 
service users are identified and are supported to the fullest extent possible. 

e. Digital by default – Our systems and processes should be undertaken in the simplest, 
quickest and most efficient manner possible, using the most appropriate system 
available. 

12. Digital, Data and Technology Outcomes 

a. User centred service design – Processes and systems should be designed and 
implemented in a way which ensures the user experience is at the heart of our 
decision making. 

b. Data driven decision making – We will utilise the data we hold and are able to collect 
to ensure we make the right decisions each time, every time. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 9



c. Connected anywhere anytime – Our systems will be accessible when they are 
needed where they are needed.  

d. Secure and trusted – Our systems, data and processes are safe, secure in the face of 
an ever-changing digital landscape. 

e. Accessible,– Services and processes are accessible in the ways that service users 
need to use them, ensuring that people can access our services using the means of 
contact/channel most appropriate for them. 

13. People Outcomes 

a. Supported – Our staff are supported by the processes and systems they work with, to 
deliver the outcomes required by our service users.  

b. Accountable – The systems and policies we have in place will ensure that our staff 
are accountable for their actions and decision making. 

c. Skilled – The training, and recruitment practices will ensure that our staff have the 
necessary knowledge, skills and experience to deliver the right outcomes for 
residents. 

d. Collaborative – The systems and processes we put in place should enable 
opportunities for collaboration and cross service working; we expect our staff to 
collaborate where appropriate to achieve the best outcomes. 

e. Resilient – We want to work in a way which encourages and enables resilience at  
individual, team and council-wide levels.  

14. Future Proof Outcomes 

a. Continually improving – The systems, processes and supporting policies we 
implement must be open to continuous improvement and designed with that in mind. 

b. Affordable – In an ever more challenging financial environment, we must implement 
solutions which will ensure that council operations are affordable now and into the 
future. 

c. Adaptable – Solutions must be able to flex to meet needs as they arise, no matter 
how unforeseeable they are today. 

d. Commercially focused – Systems and processes we implement must be open to 
seizing opportunities as they arise, with an entrepreneurial mindset and a solution 
focused approach. 

e. Efficient – activity will be focused on delivering solutions which are lean and deliver 
the best value for money for our residents, business and visitors.  

 
 

  

Page 82

Agenda Item 9



Establishment of the Transformation Team and Governance 
 
15.  To support the delivery of transformation activities (both planned and underway), we 

must ensure that we must put in place a structure which can drive progress and 
delivery at pace. Recruitment is currently underway for the team shown below which is 
funded from existing, agreed budgets. 
 

 
 
16. This team will have oversight of all transformation activity, and will both manage 

projects/programmes directly and support transformation being managed at a service 
level. 

17. Whilst operational decision making relating to transformation activities rests at an 
officer level, members will be briefed and consulted through a newly established 
member and officer group consisting of the Cabinet Transformation Leads, Deputy 
Chief Executive Operations and Transformation, Head of Policy and Programmes and 
Council Leaders/Officers as required.  

Progress on the Technology Roadmap 

18. The Technology Roadmap is at Annex A and this update focusses on five areas of 
progress: 

 Finance systems (Unit 4, Pay360 and Bottomline) 

 Property Systems (Concerto, Confirm and Mapinfo) 

Page 83

Agenda Item 9



 Housing Management system (Abritas) 

 Customer Relationship Management system 

 Planning and Environmental Health System (Ocella) 
 
19. The core General Ledger and Accounts Payable system (Unit 4) was one of the first to 

be migrated to the Cloud under the roadmap, with full implementation completed on 
time and on budget in April 2021. Since then the system has performed very well and 
in fact has undergone three major upgrades without any additional cost or negative 
impact to normal business. Since taking the system management back in-house there 
have been significant developments in useability and functionality, which have reduced 
manual effort across the councils and improved visibility of data for financial 
management.  Support to increase use of the system will continue.  

20. On the Property Systems, the councils have successfully upgraded the main IT system 
Concerto to the latest version, again on time and on budget, and enabled the  
decommissioning of two other systems used for Technical Services. For the first time 
the councils have full visibility of all property assets and land parcels in one place, 
using standardised datasets. The move to the latest cloud based platform has also 
enabled the use of Single Sign-On, reducing IT security risks. The full capabilities of 
the new solution will be realised over the next 2 years by providing a single spatial view 
of property and other assets for better decision making across technical services, 
facilities and real estate management.  

21. For the Housing Management Systems, the procurement has been successfully 
concluded with the establishment of a new contract for Abritas as a Cloud hosted 
service. Unfortunately, the supplier has a waiting list for implementation due to huge 
demand across the housing and local government sectors, meaning the 
implementation for South and Vale councils will be between January and March 2023. 

22. The Customer Relationship Management system, Goss Interactive, has now been 
procured and the implementation project has been mobilised. The expected go-live 
date is the start of November 2022. 

23. Moving on to the next key step, officers are currently working on the full business case 
for replacement of systems used by Planning and Environmental Services which will 
support workflow and enhanced automation– this is the subject of a separate report on 
this agenda. 

Progress on the Customer Transformation and Roadmap 

Outcome of the baseline review 

24. Officers have completed a review of each of our customer transactions against the 
Local Government Association’s (LGA) published list of 495 District Council services. 
This baseline review has been used to help revise the roadmap and will provide 
evidence to inform the business case for change as we review each service.  

25. A significant number on the LGA list referred to transactions which were the 
responsibility of other agencies or were internally focused, once these were stripped 
out 176 were examined further. Of those services examined:  

 129 services fit the ‘right first time’ definition 

Page 84

Agenda Item 9



 47 services fit the ‘once and done’ definition 

26. The number of services delivered through each channel is as follows: 

 22 are fully or in part provided through the councils’ (or are partners) points of 
presence (currently Milton Park, Leisure Centres, Cornerstone or Beacon) 

 79 are available digitally through the web sites 

 47 services are fully or in part provided through contact centres (Capita, Biffa, GLL 
or in house) 

27. Completion of processes involves being handed off to other organisations (including 
contractors) for 47 of these services 

28. The main areas for transformation identified in the review are: 

 a significant number of digital services not being fully digital – they still contain 
various analogue and manual steps to complete delivery (e.g. pdf forms, providing 
paper evidence) 

 many services are available through only one channel 

 many of the once and done services are not digital but should be 

 many services are delivered outside the councils but remain the councils’ 
responsibility 

29. In addition to these, a further 73 services on the LGA list are for provision of 
information/advice only with no other customer transaction and a number are 
discretionary, and we have chosen not to include them in this baseline assessment. 

30. Some transactional services are very high volume - revenues and benefits, planning, 
elections, and waste and street cleaning (inc. garden waste) – and any process 
improvements are likely to have the widest impact on our residents. Beacon, 
Cornerstone and community centre bookings are also high-volume services, along with 
housing allocations. Owing to the current systems and processes, much routine work is 
undertaken by higher cost ‘expert’ domains, and not enough routine work is resolved at 
the front end of customer contact. 

The revised roadmap 

31. Conversations with teams around the baseline review and preliminary discussions with 
suppliers, has revealed opportunities to revise the original road map for greatest impact 
and to avoid duplication with other projects. The full revised roadmap is attached at 
Annex B. In summary revisions are: 

 Planning operations and regulatory services has been brought forward to June 
2022 - July 2023, aligned across the technology and customer roadmaps to 
address the limitations on change by current IT solutions. The full business case is 
well under way and is subject to a separate item on this agenda. 

Page 85

Agenda Item 9



 Mobile homes and housing systems procurement completed with implementation, is 
now in January - March 2023 due to supplier congestion in their delivery 
programme. 

 Contact centre service design and telephony solutions has been split into a two-
stage approach: contact centre design in 2022 and telephony procurement in 2023 . 

 Democratic services moved to June 2023 (post the planned local elections). 

 Economic services moved to April 2024. 

 Review of Member IT provision added for January - March 2023 in preparation for 
services required following the 2023 local government election.  

Procurement of the CRM solution 

32. The CRM is a critical part of the councils’ technology provision which will support the 
delivery of the Customer Strategy. Without it the councils will be unable to join the dots 
between services around our residents and businesses.  

33. As part of the IT Strategy, Cabinet agreed an indicative budget of £36,200 per council 
one off implementation costs; and £20,000 per council for annual revenue costs, to be 
funded from savings released from the wider customer transformation review. 
Discussion with our preferred supplier has revealed further opportunities to review 
current working and fill identified needs, by purchasing additional functionality: 

 API connectors to the ‘Whitespace’ system and to GIS will enable us to fully 
automate garden waste processes, including links to Biffa; and to review how 
customer service elements of the waste service are handled in future. 
   

 The GIS Connector and ‘report it’ functions available with the CRM provide us with 
the opportunity to replace some functions no longer supported by Oxfordshire 
County Council’s ‘Fix My Street,’ enabling residents to be able to digitally report 
issues with map references and via mobile devices 
 

 The Bookings functionality will avoid the cost of procuring an alternative booking 
system for community centre bookings which is an identified need.  
 

34. With these additions actual costs are £78,100 (one off capital); £74,159 revenue (year 
1) and £85,560 (year 2). Funding was approved by ICMDs in July and August, this 
included identified cost efficiencies of £97,300 per annum. Work on implementation of 
the CRM began in September and we expect the garden waste service to be migrated 
across in late 2022. 

Customer Service Centre 

35. Based on best practice contact centre models, the new Customer Service Centre 
(CSC) will evolve to become the first point of contact for all council services. It is vital to 
the success of the transformation programme that the new structure and council-wide 
ways of working are established before we begin to migrate services, to minimise risks 
and ensure a smooth transfer, whilst maintaining a positive customer experience. 

36. The new model is an invest to save project; up front funding will allow us to progress 
the transformation of services in line with the agreed roadmap and unlock productivity 

Page 86

Agenda Item 9



gains, any savings being realised by a reduction in support staff. Additional costs of the 
new model will be funded through current year underspends. 

37. Staff consultation and recruitment to the CSC is scheduled for early Autumn 2022.  

Project launch and Engagement 

38. The project has been launched to all staff through the recent staff get togethers, an all 
staff email, and a dedicated Jarvis page with key documents supported by frequently 
asked questions. Feedback from staff has been positive so far with many recognising 
the positive impacts this transformation programme will bring to our residents and staff 
alike. 

39. An all councillor briefing and further staff sessions are scheduled for October. 

Options 

40. This report is provided as an update only. The strategies and roadmaps have been 
approved by Cabinet and are the councils’ agreed policy direction for the 
transformation programme.  

Climate and ecological impact implications 

41. The transformation activity supported by the activities in this paper will support the 
councils’ carbon reduction ambitions by reducing the reliance on paper and postage, 
avoiding unnecessary travel and by delivering increased self-service.  

Financial implications 

42. Any council decision that has financial implications must be made with the knowledge 
of the councils’ overarching financial position. For South, the position reflected in the 
Council’s medium-term financial plan (MTFP) as reported to Full Council in February 
2022 showed that it is due to receive £2.1 million less in revenue funding than it plans 
to spend in 2022/23. For Vale, a balanced budget was set in 2022/23 but there is 
expected to be a budget gap in future years.  

43. The funding gap at both councils is predicted to increase to over £3 million by 2026/27. 
As there remains no certainty on future local government funding, following the 
announcement of a one-year spending review by government, and as the long-term 
financial consequences of the Coronavirus pandemic remain unknown, this gap could 
increase further. Every financial decision made needs to be cognisant of the need to 
address the funding gap in future years. 

44. The effort required to deliver the end-to-end service transformations, underpinned by fit 
for future IT systems, which will deliver against the core principles will be significant, 
challenging longstanding operational practices and cultures, and as such needs 
investment. For each service this will include the formulation of the full business case in 
advance of transformation to set out the investment required and expected return 
which will help close the funding gap. 

45. These programmes are being driven by the Transformation Outcomes, which will 
reduce cost created by duplication, failure demand and overly complicated routes for 
residents and businesses to engage with council services. As such the projects 

Page 87

Agenda Item 9



delivered under this programme will deliver cost efficiencies over the course of the 
programme and beyond, thereby helping to address the funding gap.  

Legal implications 

46. As individual projects are progressed, legal advice is being sought on terms of existing 
contracts, procurement of new systems and software including approval and 
preparation of contracts.  

Risks 

47. The main risks to delivery of the transformation programme are: 

 Lack of co-operation from outsourced delivery partners and their capacity to meet 
our timelines. This will be mitigated as part of contract reviews and by including the 
core principles in future contracts as part of mandatory requirements. 
  

 Customers do not take up the revised service models as digital by default. This will 
be mitigated by including customers in the service design process to ensure it is fit 
for purpose and meets their needs, and by wide-ranging communication of the 
changes the councils are enacting. 
 

 Efficiencies from streamlining services, increasing self-service and removing 
duplication are not realised. The service review and redesign process will include 
the creation of full business cases to ensure efficiencies are identified and 
delivered. 
 

 

Background papers 

 Adopted IT Strategy (Cabinet decision, October 2021) 

 Revised IT Roadmap  

 Adopted Customer Transformation Strategy and Roadmap (Cabinet decision, 
December 2021)   

Page 88

Agenda Item 9



Summary

Programme Project Sponsor Project 
Manager

Status Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Column1 Column2 Column3 Column4 Column5
Platform Connectivity Mark Minion SDT On Hold

Unified communications Mark Minion SDT On Hold
End user environment Mark Minion LB Active
Follow me print Mark Minion SDT Complete
End user device Mark Minion LB Active

Corporate systems Enterprise Resource Planning Simon Hewings SDT Active
Information management Adrianna Partridge LB Scheduled

Business intelligence
Harry Barrington-
Mountford

LB On Hold

Spatial data management Mark Minion LB Active
Customer Systems Web sites Mark Minion AR Active

Mobile apps Mark Minion LB On hold
Customer relationship mgt Mark Minion LB Active
Bookings James Carpenter LB On hold
Consultations Mark Minion SW On Hold

Community grants
Harry Barrington-
Mountford

SW Active

Call centre Mark Minion SDT Active
Lottery James Carpenter SDT Complete

Place and People systems Regulation
Paul Fielding/Patrick 
Arran

TBC On Hold

Revenues Simon Hewings PH Complete
Democracy Patrick Arran SC Complete
Economy James Carpenter MS Active
Place management Suzanne Malcolm LB Active

Totals:

2020-21 2021-22

Planning Procurement

2022-23

Retired

P
age 89

A
genda Item

 9



1 
 

CUSTOMER TRANSFORMATION ROADMAP 1, REVISED JUNE 2022 

Workstream Services & Project Jan-Mar 2022 Apr-Jun 2022 Jul-Sep 2022 Oct-Dec  2022 Funding Lead 

Principles Service group and 

customer definition 

Approved & 

operational 

Complete 
  

Invest Customer Services 

Principles Core principles 

baseline 

Approved & 

operational 

Complete 
  

Invest SMT 

Bridging the gap Once and Done 

digital by default 

 
Complete baseline 

of services 

Amend services  Complete Invest to save 

(consolidate) 

Customer Services 

Enabling front 

doors 

360 degree view of 

the customer 

CRM 

procurement 

commenced 

Services aligned 

for migration 

Align to service 

redesign/review  

projects 

Deployed Invest to save (GW) Corporate Services 

Enabling front 

doors 

Our points of 

presence 

Baseline & 

define PoPs 

Front of house 

defined 

Front of house 

model deployed 

Services aligned Invest to save (Property) Customer Services 

Enabling front 

doors 

Contact centre & 

Voice services 

 
Design & approve Deploy Complete Invest to save 

(consolidate) 

Customer Services 

Service redesign Garden Waste 
 

Service redesign Service redesign Implement & 

complete 

Invest to save (transform) Service owner 

Service redesign Property and asset 

mgt 

Service redesign Implement 
 

Complete Invest to save (transform) Service Owner 

Service redesign Plannning 

Operations & 

regulatory services 

 
Services review IT systems and 

service redesign 

IT systems 

procurement 

Invest to save (transform) Service owner 

Service redesign Technical services, 

grounds 

maintenance 

Service redesign Implement Complete 
 

Invest to grow 

(commercial) 

Communities 

P
age 90

A
genda Item

 9



2 
 

Workstream Services & Project Jan-Mar 2023 Apr-Jun 2023 Jul-Sep 2023 Oct-Dec  2023 Funding Lead 

Service review Waste management Integration with 

service provider 

Implement Complete 
 

Invest to save (transform) Service owner 

Principles Core principles 

applied to delivery 

partners 

Contracts review 
 

Implement Complete BAU Finance 

Bridging the gap Once and Done 

digital by default 

Customer 

feedback on new 

services 

Amend services as 

required  

 
Complete Invest to save 

(consolidate) 

Customer Services 

Service review Leisure Integration with 

service provider 

Implement Complete 
 

Invest to save (transform) Service owner 

Enabling front 

doors 

Our points of 

presence 

Align to new 

Office Plan and 

mobile councils 

 
Implement Complete Invest to save (Property) Customer Services 

Enabling front 

doors 

Contact centre & 

Voice services 

Design & 

approve new 

voice services 

Implement 
 

Complete Invest to save 

(consolidate) 

Customer Services 

Service review Housing Mobile homes 

Service redesign 

Implement 
 

Complete Invest to save (transform) Service owner 

Service review  Planning Operations 

& regulatory services  

IT systems build 

and service 

redesign 

Implement Complete 
 

Invest to save (transform) Service owner 

Service review Democratic services IT systems 

review 

Service review and 

systems 

procurement 

implement Complete Invest Service owner 

 

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 9



3 
 

 

Workstream Services & Project Jan-Mar 2024 Apr-Jun 2024 Jul-Sep 2024 Oct-Dec  2024 Funding Lead 

Enabling front 
doors 

Future state Digital 
Services 

 
Service design for 
2025 

 
Complete Invest to save (transform) Service owner 

Principles Core principles 
applied to delivery 
partners 2 

Contracts review 
2 

 
Implement Complete BAU Finance 

Bridging the gap Once and Done 
digital by default 

Customer 
feedback on new 
services 

Amend services as 
required  

 
Complete Invest to save 

(consolidate) 
Customer Services 

Service review Economic 
development 

Service redesign Implement Complete 
 

Invest to save (transform) Service owner 

Enabling front 
doors 

Our points of 
presence 

Redesign to meet 
new Office Model 

 
Implement Complete Invest to save (Property) Customer Services 

Service review Revenues & Benefits Future service 
model definition 

Service redesign 
 

New model from 
Sept 2025 

Invest to save (transform) Service owner 

Service redesign IT and Digital Future service 
model definition 

Service redesign 
 

New model from 
Sept 2025 

Invest to save (transform) Service owner 

Service review Communications Web site review procurement implement complete Invest Service owner 

 

P
age 92

A
genda Item

 9



 
 

Cabinet Report 

 

 

 

Report of Deputy Chief Executive Transformation and Operations 

Author: David Wilde 

Telephone: 07540349135 

E-mail: david.wilde@southandvale.gov.uk  

Wards affected: All 

 

South Cabinet member responsible: Andrea Powell 

Tel: 07882 584120 

E-mail: andrea.powell@southoxon.gov.uk    

Vale Cabinet members responsible: Debby Hallett 

Tel: 07545 241013 

E-mails: debby.hallett@whitehorsedc.gov.uk  

To: CABINET 

Dates:29 September 2022 (South) 30 September 2022 (Vale) 

 

 

Business case for Transforming IT and Systems 

of Planning and Regulatory Services 

Recommendations 

That Cabinet: 
 
(a) Approve the business case and recommended procurement option for the 

replacement of the Planning and Regulatory Services IT systems as an Invest to 
Save initiative  

(b) Delegate the contract approvals to the Deputy Chief Executive, Transformation and 
Operations, in consultation with the Head of Finance, subject to costs being within 
the business case 

 

Purpose of report 

1. To present the Full Business Case for the transformation for the IT and Systems of 
the Councils’ Planning and Regulatory Services (Environmental Protection, Food 
Safety, Community Safety, Waste and Licencing), enabled by the procurement of 
future proofed and fit for purpose IT solutions.  

Page 93

Agenda Item 10

mailto:david.wilde@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.powell@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:debby.hallett@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


 
 

Corporate objectives  

2. The move to customer-centred service provision through digital channels, with a 
Customer Relationship Management (CRM) solution at its heart and fit for purpose IT 
systems for service delivery, will support the councils’ carbon reduction ambitions by 
reducing the reliance on paper and avoiding unnecessary travel; whilst engaging with 
residents and businesses digitally. 

3. The future proofed IT systems being deployed through the Technology roadmap will 
enable services to be designed around the customer and not individual processes, 
delivering against the principles set out in the Customer Transformation Strategy. 

4. The consistent application of those core principles to drive and develop customer 
services for the councils will release efficiencies through the use of automation and by 
removing duplication and avoidable contact to take out manual effort, which in turn 
will ensure the councils use customer facing resources more efficiently. 

5. As more efficient organisations, the councils will be able to ensure resources are 
firmly focussed on delivering the councils’ strategic themes and priorities. 

Background 

6. In December 2021 Cabinet agreed the Customer Transformation Strategy and 
Roadmap setting out plans for the complete transformation of the way the councils 
handle customer contact, providing a single point of contact through a centralised 
customer service function, reduce unnecessary contact, increase self- service, and 
provide a greater consistency of customer experience across all our services.  

7. Fundamental to the success of the transformation work will be IT systems that are fit 
for purpose and will need to be flexible and adaptable to meet the future needs of the 
councils. The IT Strategy and Road map agreed by Cabinet in October 2021 outlined 
a clear direction, which will be supported by full business plans, for the ongoing use 
and development of technology. 

8. The IT solutions currently being used by Planning and Regulatory Services are 
fragmented and, in some cases, require a new procurement exercise as their current 
contracts can no longer be extended. They also do not meet the core principles of the 
IT strategy. The solutions are: 

 Ocella Planning and Regulatory services 

 TotalMobile field force 

 Local Oracle databases 

 IDOX Licencing modules 

 Microsoft M365 Directory Services for file stores 

 

 

Page 94

Agenda Item 10



 
 

9. To ensure the Councils invest in technology which will deliver the outcomes expected 
from the Transformation Programme, the full business case (FBC) for the 
replacement of these IT systems is modelled on the service efficiencies they will 
unlock through end-to-end service redesign as part of their implementation. 

10. A review of the IT market has also been completed and included in the FBC, in line 
with the Councils’ Procurement Strategy. 

11. The customer implications of this transformation project will be significant, bringing to 
life the core principles around once and done for service delivery, right first time 
across all contact points and in being digital by default for engaging with us. The 
review of current service delivery has identified considerable scope to streamline and 
automate services as well as redesign them to make more use of wider council 
capabilities (customer services, finance IT systems and digital channels). 

Options 

12. There is not an acceptable “do nothing” option because the councils need IT 
applications to support their business. The current contract for the Ocella IT solution 
requires a procurement exercise and the current provider is not listed on any 
Government Framework Agreements for IT service provision. This contract will expire 
in October 2023. There are 2 options for completing the procurement exercise. 

13.  Option 1 – full public procurement for a new IT solution. This option will allow the 
Councils to invite the open market to propose solutions for the service, but the 
process will be costly in terms of officer time and potential external support and is 
likely to take at least 18 months to reach contract award.  This process also 
introduces an element ofrisk in terms of whether bidders’ solutions have a proven 
track record or will deliver the transformational change required. 

14. Option 2 – Procurement of a fit for purpose IT solution through the GCloud 12 
Framework Agreement. This option fits with the Councils’ Procurement Strategy and 
can be completed within 3 months, thus delivering better value for taxpayers and 
allowing the implementation of the replacement solution within 12 months. The market 
review has identified a solution provider able to meet the business needs of the 
Councils andand the GCloud12 operational rules permit direct awards to suppliers.  
This mitigates the risk of procuring an unproven solution. 

15. Option 2 is the recommended option 

 

Climate and ecological impact implications 

16. The move to customer centred service provision through digital channels will support 
the councils’ carbon reduction ambitions by reducing the reliance on paper and 
postage, avoiding unnecessary travel and increased self-service; this model can also 
be used to engage with residents and businesses digitally through the new online 
systems to encourage positive climate change activities.  

 

Page 95

Agenda Item 10



 
 

Financial implications 

17. Any council decision that has financial implications must be made with the knowledge 
of the councils’ overarching financial position. For South, the position reflected in the 
Council’s medium-term financial plan (MTFP) as reported to Full Council in February 
2022 showed that it is due to receive £2.1 million less in revenue funding than it plans 
to spend in 2022/23. For Vale, a balanced budget was set in 2022/23 but there is 
expected to be a budget gap in future years.  

18. The funding gap at both councils is predicted to increase to over £3 million by 
2026/27. As there remains no certainty on future local government funding, following 
the announcement of a one-year spending review by government, and as the long-
term financial consequences of the Coronavirus pandemic remain unknown, this gap 
could increase further. Every financial decision made needs to be cognisant of the 
need to address the funding gap in future years. 

19. The effort required to deliver the end-to-end service transformations, underpinned by 
fit for future IT systems, which will deliver against the core principles will be 
significant, challenging longstanding operational practices and cultures, and as such 
needs investment. This business case sets out the investment required and expected 
return which will help close the funding gap. 

20. The investment in new IT solutions for these services will deliver a net saving of 
£2.266million over 4 years for both Councils. Details of the financial breakdown is 
contained in Annex A (confidential). These savings will contribute towards bridging 
the current funding gap in the MTFPs. 

Legal implications 

21. There are no specific legal implications arising from this transformation project. 

22. As individual project activities are progressed, legal advice will be sought on terms of 
existing contracts, procurement of new systems and software including approval and 
preparation of contracts, where required.  

Risks 

23. The main risks to delivery of the strategies are: 

 Project activity timelines not aligning with the councils’ outsourced delivery partners 
and their resource capacity. This will be mitigated through commercial agreements 
with current solution providers. 
  

 Customers do not take up the revised service models as digital by default. This will 
be mitigated by including customers in the service design process to ensure it is fit 
for purpose and meets their needs, and by wide-ranging communication of the 
changes the councils are enacting.  Communications will be focussed on explaining 
how the changes will help with the overall achievement of the councils’ strategic 
themes and priorities, not least addressing the climate emergency. 

 

 Efficiencies from streamlining services, increasing self-service and removing 
duplication are not realised. The service review and redesign process will ensure 

Page 96

Agenda Item 10



 
 

efficiencies are identified and delivered. 
 

 Information sharing prevents the creation of a rounded (360 degree) view of 
customers. This will be mitigated using information sharing protocols and the 
application of informed consent models for access to services. 
 

 Services are too heavily committed on delivering existing services to undergo a 
service review and redesign. This will be mitigated by capacity planning and the 
investment needs already built into the business case  

Other implications 

24. The successful implementation of this transformation project will also enable relevant 
services to access and use technology which is designed for their business areas and 
support better alignment with core corporate systems (Finance, CRM, HR and 
Payroll), in turn supporting better decision making for customer centred service 
delivery. 

25. The project will impact some staff roles across the affected services, including those 
who will form the basis of the new Customer Service Centre, and will be the subject of 
staff consultation.  

Conclusion 

26. This business case is the first to apply the core principles agreed in the Customer 
Transformation and IT Strategies and will deliver a fundamental change in the way 
the Councils deliver the services affected, designed with the customer in mind, more 
efficiently and embracing the Digital world in which we operate.  This, in turn, will help 
with the overall delivery of the councils’ strategic themes and priorities. 

27. The investment will deliver a significant return, helping to address current and future 
financial pressures without compromising service quality. 

28. Finally, the recommended procurement route will enable the project to move at pace 
whilst minimising process costs. 

 

Annex A (Confidential): Full Business Case for the transformation of Planning and 

Regulatory Services 

 

Background papers 

 Adopted IT Strategy (Cabinet decision, October 2021) 

 Adopted Customer Transformation Strategy and Roadmap (Cabinet decision, 
December 2021)   

Page 97

Agenda Item 10



South Oxfordshire District Council 

Corporate Performance Report
2022/23 Quarter One 
July 2022

P
age 98

A
genda Item

 11



 2southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Table of content

Background                 3
Strategic context                 4
Quarter One 2022/23 Performance Highlights            6

Theme 1:  Protect and restore the natural world           7
Theme 2:  Openness and accountability             8
Theme 3:  Action on climate emergency             10
Theme 4:  Improved economic well-being            12
Theme 5:  Homes and infrastructure that meet local needs          15
Theme 6:  Investment that rebuilds our financial viability          17

Theme 1:  Protect and restore our natural world - performance updates against reporting measures   19
Theme 2:  Openness and accountability - performance updates against reporting measures     21
Theme 3:  Action on climate emergency - performance updates against reporting measures     25
Theme 4:  Improved economic and community well-being          30
Theme 5:  Homes and infrastructure that meet local need - performance updates against reporting measures   36
Theme 6:  Investment that rebuilds our financial viability - performance updates against reporting measures   42

P
age 99

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


 3southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Background

• The Council monitors performance and progress towards achieving the aims and priorities set out in the South Oxfordshire District Council 
Corporate Plan 2020-2024.

• This report provides a strategic overview of the performance for quarter one (01 April to 30 June 2022), focusing on the activity to deliver 
our priorities in the Corporate Plan.

• In addition to providing a performance update and assurance against the delivery of the Council’s six strategic themes in the Corporate 
Plan, this report will also provide any strategic context relevant to the Council’s operations. 

• This report is the fifth iteration, and it is expected that it will evolve in line with the new approach to Performance Management being 
embedded by the Council, as well as from feedback from senior officers and Members.

P
age 100

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Strategic context 4southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Strategic context

Quarter one of 2022/23 saw the global 
economic situation deteriorate further. 

Soaring prices for energy, food, petrol and 
durable goods have driven inflation across the 
world, stalling the post-pandemic recovery and 
placing individuals, families and businesses 
under increasing financial pressure. Within the 
UK, the rate of inflation reached a forty year 
high of 9.4 per cent in the 12 months to June 
2022 – driven by rising food and fuel prices. 
The Bank of England forecast that inflation 
will continue to rise throughout much of 2022 
(they expect it to peak at around 11.0 per cent 
during October when the impacts of a further 
prospective increase in the Ofgem price cap 
feed through into household bills) before 
gradually falling back.

The high rate of inflation in the UK has meant 
that household finances have been squeezed 
as incomes have failed to keep pace with the 
rising cost of living. Figures from the Office 
for National Statistics (ONS) show that, when 
adjusted for prices, average earnings were 3.4 
per cent lower in April 2022 than a year earlier 
– the biggest drop since modern records 
began in 2001. In addition, those in receipt 
of benefits or a pension have found that the 
increase of 3.1 per cent for this year has been 
rapidly outpaced by the high rate of inflation.

In May, as part of efforts to try to mitigate the 
worst effects of the squeeze on household 
budgets, HM Government announced a 

package of measures designed to provide 
over £15 billion in additional support to assist 
with the rising cost of living. As part of these 
proposals, every household in the UK will get 
an energy bill discount of £400 this October. 
In addition, households in receipt of means 
tested benefits will get a payment of £650 – 
divided into two lump sums – to help with the 
cost of living. There will also be separate one-
off payments of £300 to pensioner households 
and £150 to individuals receiving disability 
benefits. Furthermore, the emergency 
Household Support Fund, which is allocated 
by councils in England, will be extended by 
£500m to £1.5bn. The cost of the measures 
will be partly offset by 25.0 per cent windfall 
tax on oil and gas firms’ profits.

As the cost-of-living crisis has worsened 
throughout the quarter, the Council’s 
Community Hub has offered practical help 
and advice to residents. It has also continued 
to distribute grants through the Household 
Support Fund to those in need of help with the 
purchase of essentials such as food, clothing 
and utilities.

The devastating war in Ukraine continued 
during Q1 2022/23. The latest estimates 

from the United Nations High Commissioner 
For Refugees (UNHCR) suggest that around 
a third of the country’s population have been 
forced from their homes since February 
(around seven million people are internally 
displaced, while nearly five million have sought 
refuge in Europe). As part of the Council’s 
ongoing response to this humanitarian crisis, 
it continues to work alongside partners across 
Oxfordshire to help provide ‘wrap-around’ 
care for refugees within the county through 
the Homes for Ukraine scheme (this offers 
the opportunity for individuals in the UK to 
sponsor named guests to come and live with 
them in their home). The Council’s Community 
Hub continues to ensure that support is 
available for both guests and hosts in need of 
assistance.

During quarter one, HM Government published 
its Energy Security Strategy. This sets out how 
the UK will enhance its energy security and 
independence in the long-term. It contains 
proposals to accelerate the deployment of 
renewables such as solar and wind (both 
onshore and offshore), to significantly increase 
the delivery of new nuclear power plants, to 
improve energy efficiency and to realise the 
potential of hydrogen as a source of low-
carbon energy. The importance of sourcing 
alternative, renewable energy sources is a 
major part of our Climate Action Plan (CAP).

P
age 101

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Strategic context 5southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

From quarter one, the CAP is being monitored as part of South Oxfordshire’s corporate 
performance management framework. It will be delivered in tandem with the Council’s 

Corporate Plan performance reporting and will give a detailed overview of all actions that 
may have an impact on reducing carbon in the wider district.

HM Government also published a white paper on creating A Fairer Private Rental Sector. 
This sets out their proposals to reform the private rented sector and level up housing quality. 
Providing high-quality, affordable homes across a range of tenures is a key priority for South 
Oxfordshire.

In June, HM Government published a Food Strategy. It aims to tackle rising costs and 
increased levels of obesity by supporting a resilient, healthier, and more sustainable food 
system that is affordable to all. Recognising and supporting the vital role of farming, and the 
need for greater local food provision, forms a major component of South Oxfordshire’s wider 
ambitions to protect and restore the natural world.

Towards the end of quarter one, the number of people testing positive for Covid-19 started 
to increase – the most likely cause being infections caused by variants of the Omicron strain 
of the virus. While this rise in cases did lead to an increase in hospital admissions, it did not 
lead to the reimposition of any of the previous legal restrictions and requirements. However, 
the Council’s Community Hub remains ready and mobilised to move to respond.

On 28 June, the Office for National 
Statistics (ONS) released a first look 

at some of the data arising from the 2021 
Census.

• Since 2011, the population of South 
Oxfordshire has increased by 11.1 per cent 
(from around 134,300 to 149,100). This is 
a higher overall increase than for England 
(6.6 per cent) or the South East region (7.5 
per cent). 

• Of the 309 local authorities in England, 
South Oxfordshire has the 142nd largest 
population – it has moved up 12 places in 
the decade since 2011.

• South Oxfordshire is the 7th least 
densely populated of the South East 
region’s 64 local authorities.

• Between 2011 and 2021 there has been 
an increase of 25.1 per cent in the number 
of people aged 65 and over in South 
Oxfordshire. This is above the figure for 
England (20.1 per cent). There have also 
been above the national average increases 
in the number of people aged 15 to 64 
(7.9 per cent compared to 3.6 per cent) 
and those aged under 15 (6.7 per cent 
compared to 5.0 per cent). 

P
age 102

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Performance highlights 6southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Quarter One 2022/23 Performance Highlights

P
age 103

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Protect and restore the natural world 7southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024 7

Theme 1:  Protect and restore the natural world

Why? 

South Oxfordshire is a largely rural district, 
including parts of two Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONBs) and the Oxford 
Green Belt, as well as a long stretch of the 
River Thames. The natural world is proven 
to provide benefits to both mental and 
physical health, as well as having its own 
intrinsic value, and it needs our protection.

So:

We will respect and protect our natural 
environment, especially our Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs) and 
other nature rich areas. We will champion 
the opportunity to restore our natural world 
in both biodiverse and bio-depleted areas 
through nature recovery networks and other 
means. We will connect urban communities 
to their local green spaces and restore 
nature to urban environments.

Strategic Lead - Suzanne Malcolm (Deputy Chief Executive / Place)

Key Activities in quarter one 

As part of our commitment to enhance 
and protect South Oxfordshire’s natural 

assets, South Oxfordshire District Council 
has launched a new partnership aimed 
at improving the health and quality of the 
Thames at Wallingford. Working alongside 
the environmental charity Thames 21 and 
volunteers from the local community, water 
samples and user surveys are being used to 
provide important information about the overall 
state of the river.

The tree planting licenced during quarter 
four is complete and no new applications for 
tree planting were received during quarter 
one. The Council is however exploring other 
opportunities to plant more trees across the 
district. 

Following work over previous quarters, a Chair 
and a Manager for the Oxfordshire Local 
Nature Partnership have been appointed. 
This will ensure strong leadership for the 
partnership’s work to promote an ambitious 
nature recovery programme across the county. 

Development of the Visitor Economy has 
been highlighted as a major theme of the 
Government’s forthcoming UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund (UKSPF). Positive meetings 
have been held by Council officers, with 
relevant stakeholders including destination 
management organisations in our area. This 
is in line with our commitment to promote 
our rural district for leisure and tourism. A 
successful bid would support the development 
of a more defined tourism strategy. 

Following success in previous quarters, the 
Economic Development team started to 
assess potential options for the next business 
“netwalking” event to be held in quarter three.

See Theme 1 performance updates 
against all reporting measures on page 19

P
age 104

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Openness and accountability 8southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024 8

Theme 2:  Openness and accountability

Why? 

The complexity of modern society and 
local government structures can be hard 
to navigate. Many services are delivered 
as part of external partnerships, so it can 
be hard for residents to see what we do 
and how we do it. There are some groups 
within our district with whom we have little 
engagement or interaction, so the diversity 
of our district is not always recognised and 
supported.

So: 

We will maintain and improve high levels 
of satisfaction with the services we provide 
and will reach out to all sectors and age 
groups to foster a culture of openness, 
participation, and representation. We will 
use our influence to champion inclusion, 
diversity and transparency across all elected 
and unelected bodies in our region. We will 
empower and invest in our staff and conduct 
our operations with the highest level of 
integrity and accountability.

Strategic Lead - Adrianna Partridge (Deputy Chief Executive / Transformation and Operations)

Key Activities in quarter one

See Theme 2 performance updates 
against all reporting measures on page 21

In order to maintain and improve the services 
that the Council provides, South Oxfordshire 

made significant progress in relation to the 
procurement of a new Customer Relationship 
Management (CRM) system. A preferred 
supplier has been identified and contract 
award arrangements are progressing. The 
CRM system will help us to build relationships 
with our customers, streamline processes 
and improve the services that we provide to 
residents.

During quarter one, the Planning Enforcement 
e-mail contact was successfully migrated to 
the Customer Services team. By allowing 
customer services advisors to not only 
complete all ‘once and done’ transactions but 
also triage more complex issues, it has helped 
to reduce the number of customer enquiries 
being handled by enforcement staff – thereby, 
freeing up capacity.

In addition, the Comms team integrated 
its social media accounts to the Hootsuite 
platform. This has helped to increase 
efficiency and productivity, as officers no 

longer have to work through each account’s 
native site. It also allows for all of the 
analytics to be gathered in one place which 
will make it easier to compare and optimise 
performance in the future.

As part of South Oxfordshire’s efforts to 
champion openness and transparency, it 
continued to livestream all public meetings 
during quarter one. This not only helped to 
ensure a greater degree of accessibility for 
residents, but also allowed them an insight 
into our decision-making processes. Officers 
are currently working on business continuity 
plans to ensure that this continues when the 
Council vacates the offices at Milton Park. 

With the ambition of increasing the Council’s 
level of engagement with residents – 
especially those from marginalised/
under-represented groups – South 
Oxfordshire prepared a communications 
and engagement plan for the Diversity and 
Inclusion Strategy. This was designed to 
raise awareness of the Strategy and to seek 
feedback from both staff and members.

P
age 105

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Openness and accountability 9southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

In addition, the Comms team, in collaboration with Planning Policy, produced an innovative, interactive website for the first Joint Local Plan (JLP) 
consultation. This allowed users to explore the details of the Plan across infographics, images and maps that could be moved and manipulated. 

In addition, Smart Survey was also embedded within the website to allow people to respond as they explored the themes of the JLP. This approach 
received widespread praise from the public, councillors and other local authorities.

As part of South Oxfordshire’s goal of increasing accountability and improving decision-making, progress continued during quarter one on updating 
South’s Annual Governance Statement (AGS). This remains on track to report during the summer. The Council will introduce the 2016 Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance for the 2022/23 AGS over the coming year.

The Monitoring Officer provided training to officers on local government law and process – with a specific focus on governance, delegation of 
powers, report writing/content and decision making. They also delivered refresher training to district councillors on the new Code of Conduct (with a 
particular emphasis on interests and conflicts). 

P
age 106

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Action on climate emergency 10southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024 10

Theme 3:  Action on climate emergency

Why? 

The greatest challenge we face as a society 
is the Climate Emergency and our ability 
to adapt our lives and our behaviours to 
ensure a safe and resilient future. While 
statements and targets are welcome, the 
challenge for our district is to take action, 
transform our operations and inspire our 
residents and businesses to do the same. 
Aspects of our lives will need to change, but 
we have a duty to make this transition fair 
for all parts of society. 

So: 

We will show leadership by developing and 
implementing a climate change programme 
to make the Council net carbon neutral 
by 2025. We will help our communities to 
plan a fair transition to a future that will be 
defined by climate change.

Strategic Lead - Suzanne Malcolm (Deputy Chief Executive / Place)

Key Activities in quarter one

See Theme 3 performance updates 
against all reporting measures on page 25

After extensive preparatory work over recent 
months, progress against the Council’s 

Climate Action Plan (CAP) is now being 
monitored as part of the council’s corporate 
performance management framework. It will 
be delivered in tandem with the Council’s 
Corporate Plan performance reporting and will 
give a detailed overview of all actions that may 
have an impact on reducing carbon emissions 
in our district.

The first public consultation on the Joint Local 
Plan took place in May and June. Topics raised 
included how the Plan might offer opportunities 
to cut carbon emissions. Planning Policy 
Officers have been reviewing what evidence 
will be needed to support climate change 
policies, meeting with the Oxfordshire Plan 
Team and working internally with Climate and 
Biodiversity Officers. 

In May, the Economic Development team, 
in partnership with Oxfordshire Greentech 
and Jennings Business Parks, delivered a 
well-received “make a difference” workshop 
focusing on how small businesses could 
do good for both people and the planet.        

During quarter one attention also focused on 
the planning of several future joint events with 
Abingdon and Witney College focusing on 
Green Skills. In addition, preparations were 
made for Eco-Business Fairs in Didcot and 
Thame.

The Economic Development team prepared a 
bid for funding from the UK Shared Prosperity 
Fund. As decarbonisation forms a significant 
portion of South Oxfordshire’s proposal, they 
have collaborated with both the Climate Action 
and Biodiversity team and local stakeholders 
to ensure that the Council’s draft investment 
plan is adequately detailed.

South Oxfordshire worked with Oxfordshire 
County Council on the review of the Local 
Transport and Connectivity Plan and sought to 
clarify the compatibility between Local Cycling 
and Walking Plans and the Strategic Active 
Travel Network.

Emissions from our leisure facilities make 
up a significant proportion of our carbon 
footprint. Quarter one saw the completion of 
the evaluation of the decarbonisation report for 
Thame Leisure Centre. 

P
age 107

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Action on climate emergency 11southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

The Council is now awaiting a further 
opportunity to bid into the Public Sector 

Decarbonisation Scheme in order to support 
the project. 

A bid into the scheme is also being prepared 
for Cornerstone. In addition, a new pool 
cover is on order for Riverside and the water 
temperature has been reduced to 25°C at this 
location in order to save energy. 

In conjunction with a county wide plan to 
place air quality monitors at primary schools, 
an air quality sensor was placed at Cholsey 
Primary School. Monitoring will provide 
baseline data and will highlight any changes 
as a result of planned interventions. Taking 
action to improve air quality in the district is 
a key commitment for the Council. During 
this quarter, the tendering process began 
to engage consultants to develop new Air 
Quality Plans for the district. The Council also 
submitted its Annual Air Quality Status Report 
(2021) to Defra. Feedback on this is expected 
later in the year. 

South Oxfordshire also ran a number of 
comms campaigns during quarter one related 
to improving air quality. These included 
promoting Walk to Work Day, Clean Air Day 
and Earth Day. More widely, communications 
campaigns focused on the Great British Spring 
Clean, a litter mapping project, highlighting the 
need to reduce plastic waste and encouraging 
composting and the use of Real Nappies.

P
age 108

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Improved economic and community well-being 12southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024 12

Theme 4:  Improved economic well-being

Why? 

South Oxfordshire has a large number of 
small and micro businesses and is well 
placed to adapt to changes in the economy, 
but support will be needed for it to remain a 
healthy and vibrant place to live and work. 
The Coronavirus pandemic has shown the 
strength of the community but there are 
areas of isolation and deprivation in our 
district, and the benefits of access to culture, 
leisure, and community for all has been 
made clear.

So: 

We will reimagine our high streets, helping 
independent small businesses to thrive 
and to encourage cultural well-being for all. 
We will encourage clean local economic 
development and support our business 
hubs, centres of scientific excellence 
and our educational establishments to 
become leaders in sustainable technology, 
innovation, and enterprise.  We will help our 
community groups to strengthen cohesion, 
reduce social isolation and tackle areas of 
deprivation.

Key Activities in quarter one

See Theme 4 performance updates 
against all reporting measures on page 30

To support the economic recovery and 
future prospects of our district, the 

Economic Development team prepared a 
bid for the UK Shared Prosperity Fund. This 
aims to secure £1m of funding to tackle key 
priorities within South Oxfordshire. A draft 
investment plan for the initial three years of 
the scheme has been produced and will be 
finalised in quarter two.

South Oxfordshire’s new capital programme 
came into effect at the start of the quarter. 
Within this programme, £2,419,500 of 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
funding is allocated for 2022/23. During 
April 2022, £847,945 was paid to Town and 
Parish Councils that had seen CIL  liable 
developments in their areas during the 
previous six months.

During quarter one the Virtual High Street 
(VHS) Initiative was launched in Thame 
and was met with enthusiasm by local 
traders. This Initiative will consolidate South 
Oxfordshire-based independent retailers on 
a single e-commerce platform. This is in line 

with our commitment to reimagine our high 
streets and help small businesses to thrive. 
The VHS will be rolled out in stages, with 
Wantage, Henley and Wallingford scheduled 
over the next two quarters.

Business confidence in South Oxfordshire 
is being affected by the cost-of-living crisis. 
While this has not yet been reflected in local 
unemployment, strategic employment partners 
have voiced concerns that the current situation 
could quickly reverse in the face of ongoing 
pressures.

The South and Vale Economic Development 
Newsletter continued to have a strong and 
increasing take-up amongst local businesses. 
The South and Vale Business Support website 
and social media accounts continued to have 
good engagement 

The Economic Development team ran four in-
person digital business skills events, covering 
advertising and selling on social media, 
creating newsletters, and using LinkedIn to 
generate business - 81 attendees were from 
businesses in South Oxfordshire. The team 
also ran four online Digital Skills workshops 
for businesses looking to reach new customer 
bases.

Strategic Lead - Suzanne Malcolm (Deputy Chief Executive / Place) 
Strategic Lead - Adrianna Partridge (Deputy Chief Executive / Transformation and Operations)

P
age 109

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Improved economic and community well-being 13southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Reconciliation work for the Additional 
Restrictions Grant Fund showed that over 

the entirety of scheme, South Oxfordshire 
distributed grants totalling £5,862,763. 

Nine enquiries were logged throughout the 
quarter, with non-covid related ongoing grant 
enquiries making up the majority of most 
complex asks.

The Council continued to work with the 
Oxfordshire Digital Infrastructure Partnership 
(DIP) Board regarding the rollout of broadband 
infrastructure. This quarter, the DIP raised 
issues in relation to planning application 
requirements in Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty and the Economic Development team 
liaised with colleagues to ensure that these 
matters received timely responses.

Officers in the Economic Development Team 
and Housing Needs have begun work to help 
prioritise the provision of full fibre connections 
to tenants of social housing in ‘Multiple 
Dwelling Units’. An opportunity has also 
been highlighted to work with social housing 
providers in the district, to inform their tenants 
of the availability of ‘social broadband tariffs’.

The Council is committed to using our planning powers to preserve our green spaces. South Oxfordshire currently has three emerging 
Neighbourhood Plans at examination and a further three that are approaching referenda. In total, these Plans contain proposals to protect 23 
green spaces through Local Green Space designations. They also contain measures to protect a further 13 green spaces through other forms 
of policy protection. The Council is also supporting the preparation of 12 new Neighbourhood Plans and five Neighbourhood Plan reviews. All 
are considering the preservation of important green spaces. 

The Cabinet approved the new Didcot Garden Town Delivery Plan and a supplementary estimate to the revenue budget of £660,000 (fully 
funded from external grants). The plan includes proposals for public transport, an active walking and cycling network, communal facilities and 

accessible green spaces. This refocus will bring forward additional community improvements and align the Didcot Garden Town Project with the 
Council’s climate action, health and wellbeing agendas.

P
age 110

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Improved economic and community well-being 14southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

The Cabinet agreed to transfer grant funds 
of £6.2 million to Oxfordshire County 

Council towards phase three of the Northern 
Perimeter Road. 

A consultant has been appointed to develop      
a Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 

Plan for Didcot. This project is scheduled to 
be completed by December 2022 and will 
recommend improvements to both existing 
and new cycling/walking routes. 

The Council continued to take action against 
flytippers, with four flytipping prosecutions 

as well as three fixed penalty notices for waste 
crimes and two for abandoning vehicles. The 
Council launched our litter mapping project 
and ran communications campaigns promoting 
the county wide anti-flytipping campaign, 
SCRAP, and highlighting specific instances of 
flytipping on social media.

P
age 111

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Homes and infrastructure that meet local needs 15southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024 15

Theme 5:  Homes and infrastructure that meet local needs

Why? 

The average price of a home is many times 
higher than the average salary, particularly 
for the young, and renting is also expensive. 
The pressure to build new homes in our 
district sometimes outweighs local wishes. 
Infrastructure like roads, schools and GP 
surgeries have not kept up with housing 
development. Too many houses being built 
today are not fit for a low carbon future.

So: 

We will strive to ensure that new homes and 
infrastructure in South Oxfordshire meet 
local needs, are sustainable, zero carbon in 
their build and operation, and high quality in 
design. We will provide homes that people 
can afford to live in. New developments 
will be accessible with walking, cycling and 
public transport a priority. Neighbourhood 
plans and local participation will sit at the 
heart of our planning process. We will work 
with partners to ensure that development is 
appropriate for our communities.

At the end quarter one, the Council recorded 
only two rough sleepers – this reflects the 
success of South Oxfordshire’s preventative 
approach. 

The number of homeless households at the 
end of June 2022 was 12 – an increase of 
three on the previous quarter. The average 
length of stay in emergency accommodation 
was 83 nights, marginally above the ceiling 
target of 42. This reflected the highly complex 
specific needs of one client. During quarter 
one, the rate of successful homelessness 
prevention was 82.0 per cent – this was above 
the target of 80.0 per cent.

With the ambition of ensuring that new homes 
and infrastructure meet local needs, are 
sustainable, zero carbon and high quality in 
design, the new Joint Design Guide (JDG) 
was agreed by South Oxfordshire’s Cabinet  
during quarter one. The JDG incorporates new 
guidance on zero and low carbon construction.

The Council’s Planning Policy team also 
continued to work on the development of the 

Joint Local Plan. Between 12 May and 23 
June, a public consultation – known formally 
as a ‘Regulation 18 Part 1 Issues Consultation’ 
– was held. This asked for views on a draft 
vision for the Joint Local Plan and included 
matters relating to the environment, healthy 
lifestyles, infrastructure and sustainable 
growth. The Planning Policy team are currently 
processing the responses that were received.

Strategic Lead - Suzanne Malcolm (Deputy Chief Executive / Place)

Key Activities in quarter one

See Theme 5 performance updates 
against all reporting measures on page 36

P
age 112

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Homes and infrastructure that meet local needs 16southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

In order to provide homes that people can afford to live in, a total of 53 affordable housing units were delivered across the district between April 
and May 2022. Moreover – and following a competitive tendering process – a project manager, cost consultant and clerk of works are in the 

process of being appointed to help deliver the Broadway Housing Scheme development.

As part of South Oxfordshire’s efforts to 
prioritise active travel and to make sure 

that new developments are accessible, the 
Cabinet approved the new Didcot Garden 
Town Delivery Plan and a supplementary 
estimate to the revenue budget of £660,000 
(fully funded from external grants) at their 
meeting on 23 June 2022. The new plan 
includes proposals for public transport, an 
active walking and cycling network, communal 
facilities and accessible green spaces. 
The aim of this refocus is to: bring forward 
additional community improvements, align the 
Didcot Garden Town Project with the Council’s 
climate action, health and wellbeing agendas, 
and assist economic recovery following the 
pandemic.

In addition, the draft Active Communities 
Strategy was considered by South’s 

Scrutiny Committee in June 2022. It was well 
received by members and will come before 
Cabinet during quarter two. One of the key 
themes of the Strategy is to: ‘create healthier 
communities through walking and cycling’.
  
Progress also continued to be made during 
quarter one on increasing sustainable 
transport solutions within the district. As part of 
these efforts, 60 electric vehicle (EV) charging 
bays became operational in five of the 
Council’s car parks as part of the Oxfordshire 
wide “Park and Charge” project. 

Furthermore, officers also worked with 
colleagues from Oxfordshire County 

Council to make a joint application for further 
Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure (LEVI) 
funding.

With the intention of ensuring that 
neighbourhood plans, and local participation 
sit at the heart of our planning process, the 
Berinsfield Garden Village team has continued 
to work with the local community to map all 
the existing community assets during quarter 
one. This will not only allow them to identify 
any gaps in the provision of services but help 
to develop discussions regarding need. In 
addition, discussions have also been held 
with Berinsfield Parish Council regarding the 
development of a new Neighbourhood Plan.

P
age 113

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Investment that rebuilds financial viability 17southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024 17

Theme 6:  Investment that rebuilds our financial viability

Why? 

Coronavirus has cost, and lost, the Council 
money. Many years of austerity before that, 
as well as a failure to increase Council tax 
in line with growing costs, makes it hard 
to balance the books. The future funding 
picture for Councils from Government 
remains unclear. In order to deliver a 
progressive and ambitious agenda, we need 
to reduce the gap between income and 
expenditure in our Medium-Term Financial 
Plan. 

So: 

We will invest to save and act responsibly 
and ethically with our financial resources. 
We will work with other Councils for fair 
funding and will investigate new viable 
sources of revenue in order to maintain and 
improve vital services. We will ensure all 
financial operations and reporting support 
effective decision making and strong, ethical 
governance.

Strategic Lead - Simon Hewings (Head of Finance)

Key Activities in quarter one

See Theme 6 performance updates 
against all reporting measures on page 42

In order to invest, save and act responsibly 
with our financial resources, South 

Oxfordshire’s Asset Management Group 
(established during quarter three 2021/22) 
continues to meet on a quarterly basis to 
progress implementation of the Strategic 
Property Review. The aim of the Group is to 
assess the Council’s land ownerships in a 
holistic manner and consider opportunities 
for their development, usage or disposal. Any 
outcomes from these meetings are progressed 
as business as usual.

The Strategic Property Team continued to 
lease vacant properties, progress lease 
renewals and review rents during quarter 
one. Progress was also made on work 
regarding potential housing development sites 
– and their promotion - via the Housing and 
Economic Land Availability Assessment.

With the ambition of improving its 
effectiveness as an organisation, South 
Oxfordshire made significant progress in 
relation to the procurement of a new Customer 
Relationship Management (CRM) system. 

A preferred supplier has been identified and 
contract award arrangements are progressing. 
The delivery of the CRM system is scheduled 
for the end of quarter three.

In addition, the Council’s property and asset 
management IT solution went live in quarter 
one. It is now being utilised by the Property 
and Technical teams. Upgrades to the system 
that delivers online E-forms and the Binzone 
app are also currently being completed.

As part of South Oxfordshire’s commitment 
to maximise external funding opportunities to 
support services and to enrich the district’s 
leisure, sporting and community activities, 
work has continued during quarter one 
on embedding the External Funding Lead 
within the organisation. Progress has also 
been made on introducing the necessary 
governance structures and documentation to 
ensure that any future funding bids align are 
deliverable and align with South’s goals. Work 
also continued on ensuring that the Council 
is prepared for phase 3b of the Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Scheme.

P
age 114

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Investment that rebuilds financial viability 18southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

South Oxfordshire quarter one independent cabinet member decisions

Date Description

11/04/2022 Capital grants – to award capital grants 

28/04/2022 Joint Local Plan - to launch the consultation on issues and supporting document

23/05/2022 Discretionary fuel payments scheme – to approve the scheme 

21/06/2022 Taxi tariff - to approve the consultation of the review of the tariff

22/06/2022 Berinsfield Garden Village project funding

P
age 115

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 1 performance updates 19southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 1: Protect and restore our natural world - performance updates against reporting measures 

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

PRN1

With partners, promote in-
depth mapping and surveying of 
ecosystems across the district, 
planning for restoration of the 
natural world and working 
closely with land-owners and 
specialist agencies

Narrative report to include 
information on work with 
partners, and Habitat and 
Species data + changes/trends 
on a 12 month basis

Cllr Sue 
Cooper 

Head of 
Planning No progress to report Q1 2022/23. 

PRN2

Celebrate, protect and enhance 
our natural assets, including the 
River Thames and the AONBs 
and their setting, promoting our 
rural district for tourism, leisure 
and wellbeing

Narrative report to include 
information on work to manage 
natural assets and ANOBs (both 
internally and with partners)

Cllr Andrea 
Powell

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

In Q1 2022/23, South Oxfordshire launched a new partnership aimed at 
improving the health and quality of the Thames at Wallingford. Working 
alongside the environmental charity Thames 21 and volunteers from 
the local community, water samples and user surveys are being used to 
provide information about the overall state of the river. 
 
Positive meetings have also been held between the Council and a range 
of relevant stakeholders regarding the development of the district’s 
visitor economy. It is hoped that the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 
could potentially provide a significant amount of support to develop 
more baseline evidence and create a more defined tourism strategy 
– which could eventually lead to a more coordinated and substantial 
promotion of the district’s tourism assets.  

PRN3

Encourage the use of natural 
processes to combat risks 
arising from climate change, 
such as meadows and trees to 
reduce flooding

Narrative report to include 
direct and indirect information 
on use of natural processes to 
combat risks of climate change. 
This should include new policy 
development and direct activity 
undertaken by the Council

Cllr Sue 
Cooper 

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

South Oxfordshire received no new applications relating to the Tree 
Planting on Council Owned Land Policy during Q1 2022/23. The Council 
is, however, exploring other opportunities to plant more trees across the 
district. 
 
The tree planting licenced during Q4 2021/22 has now been completed. 

P
age 116

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 1 performance updates 20southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 1: Protect and restore our natural world - performance updates against reporting measures 

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

PRN4 Recognise and support the vital 
role of farming in economic and 
ecosystem resilience, local food 
provision and the recovery of 
soils and natural processes

Narrative report on activity 
undertaken with partners to 
encourage and support the vital 
role of farming in economic and 
ecosystem resilience (where 
possible, although this may 
be implicitly included in the 
information above)

Cllr Sue 
Cooper 

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

No progress to report Q1 2022/23. 

PRN5 Call for the establishment of 
a Local Nature Partnership 
for Oxfordshire to promote 
an ambitious nature recovery 
programme, including tree and 
meadow planting, rewilding and 
providing habitats for wildlife 
including wildlife corridors

Narrative report - accepting that 
much of the activity to support 
PRN3 will be relevant here

Cllr David 
Rouane 

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

During Q1 2022/23, both the Chair and Manager of the Local Nature 
Partnership were appointed.  

PRN6 Work in partnership with 
the Earth Trust, Chilterns 
Conservation Board, North 
Wessex Downs AONB, the 
Environment Agency and others 
to improve access to green 
spaces in and around our towns, 
reinforcing access to nature 
as a priority for community 
wellbeing

Narrative report on activity with 
partners (including those named, 
and others), with a particular 
focus on work supporting the 
link between green spaces and 
community wellbeing

Cllr Pieter-
Paul Barker  

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

In Q1 2022/23, the Economic Development team started to assess 
potential options for the next “netwalking” event – this followed a call 
for venues advertised in the South and Vale Business Support newsletter. 

P
age 117

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 2 performance updates 21southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 2: Openness and accountability - performance updates against reporting measures 

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

OA1 Enhance trust and 
accountability in democratic 
decision-making, including 
live-streaming and recording 
of meetings, ensuring full 
accessibility of facilities and 
monitoring progress in an 
open and transparent way

Narrative update to include 
information on the performance 
management framework, 
communications update on 
Cabinet/Council decisions, IAG 
around the operations/activity of 
the Council 
 
% of Public Council meetings 
within 12 months available 
online

Cllr Andrea 
Powell 

Deputy Chief 
Executive - 
Transformation 
and Operations

All meetings continue to be livestreamed. Officers are currently 
working on business continuity plans to ensure that this continues 
when the Council vacates the offices at Milton Park.  
 
During Q1 2022/23, 100% of public meetings were broadcast – all of 
South Oxfordshire’s public council meetings over the last 12 months 
are online.  

OA2 Ensure that council 
departments work 
collaboratively to deliver best 
outcomes for residents

Narrative report detailing 
significant, non-recurring 
examples of inter-departmental 
working which have secured 
concrete outcomes for residents

Cllr Andrea 
Powell 

Deputy Chief 
Executive - 
Transformation 
and Operations

The Planning Enforcement e-mail contact was successfully migrated to 
the Customer Services team during Q1 2022/23. By allowing customer 
services advisors to not only complete all ‘once and done’ transactions 
but also triage more complex issues, it has helped to reduce the 
number of customer enquiries being handled by enforcement staff – 
thereby, freeing up capacity. 
 
Separately, the Communications team, in collaboration with Planning 
Policy, were able to produce an innovative, interactive website for the 
first Joint Local Plan (JLP) consultation. This allowed users to explore 
the details of the Plan across infographics, images and maps that 
could be moved and manipulated. In addition, Smart Survey was also 
embedded within the website to allow people to respond as they 
explored the themes of the JLP. This approach received widespread 
praise from the public, councillors and other local authorities. 
 
Teams from across the Council also continue to work closely together 
to support hosts and guests under the Homes for Ukraine Scheme. 

P
age 118

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 2 performance updates 22southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 2: Openness and accountability - performance updates against reporting measures 

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

OA3 Embed an organisational 
culture that celebrates 
diversity, inclusion and respect

Narrative report on work 
undertaken to celebrate 
diversity, inclusion and respect. 
Should include standard 
recurring activity, one off 
supporting activity. This should 
be a joint report primarily 
from HR/Comms but include 
comments from others

Cllr Maggie 
Filipova-
Rivers 

Deputy Chief 
Executive - 
Transformation 
and Operations

In Q1 2022/23, South Oxfordshire prepared a communications and 
engagement plan for the Diversity and Inclusion Strategy. This was 
designed to raise awareness of the Strategy and to seek feedback from 
both staff and members.

The Council also promoted several campaigns that feature in its 
Diversity Calendar. These included:
• Pride Month
• Learning Disability Week
• Easter
• Eid

In addition, information and support was provided to staff and 
members during Mental Health Awareness week. The first of an 
ongoing series of wellbeing walks were held and a review was 
undertaken of the Council’s Wellbeing Group’s activities. 

Following the agreement (during Q4 2021/22) of an overarching 
Communications and Engagement Strategy – which includes measures 
to ensure that we are open and inclusive to all of our residents – Q1 
saw South Oxfordshire prepare a launch plan for this document. The 
first step of this work will involve communicating with staff about their 
roles and responsibilities in helping to deliver the Strategy. Its launch 
will be timed to complement the Council’s recently unveiled Style 
Guide (which itself, is a key item in the Strategy’s action plan).

South Oxfordshire also continued to share updates with members and 
staff on its role in helping Ukrainian refugees.

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 2 performance updates 23southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 2: Openness and accountability - performance updates against reporting measures 

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

OA4 Apply good governance 
and transparency in all our 
working and decision-making, 
exploring optimal structures 
and mechanisms for best 
practice in local government

Narrative report on significant 
change initiatives which have 
resulted in restructures/new 
processes to deliver local govt 
services

Cllr Pieter 
Paul Barker

Head of Legal 
and Democratic

Various initiatives are currently being progressed to review South 
Oxfordshire’s governance arrangements – for example the Council’s 
procurement process/contract procedure rules and assurance around 
information governance. 
 
During Q1, the work on updating South’s Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS) continued. This remains on track to report during the 
summer. The Council will introduce the 2016 CIPFA guidance for the 
22/23 AGS over the coming year. 
 
The Monitoring Officer continued to provide training to officers 
on local government law and process – with a specific focus on 
governance, delegation of powers, report writing/content and decision 
making. They also delivered refresher training to district councillors on 
the new Code of Conduct (with a particular emphasis on interests and 
conflicts).  
 
In addition, work began on rationalising the Council’s decision 
recording processes.  

P
age 120

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 2 performance updates 24southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 2: Openness and accountability - performance updates against reporting measures 

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

OA5 Engage effectively with 
residents, Parish and Town 
Councils and other community 
organisations, using plain 
English in our communications 
and using appropriate 
methods and technologies to 
ensure equal and fair access 
for all

Narrative report on activities 
communications/engagement 
specific activities 

Cllr Andrea 
Powell 

Deputy Chief 
Executive - 
Transformation 
and Operations

Following the agreement (during Q4 2021/22) of an overarching 
Communications and Engagement Strategy, Q1 saw South Oxfordshire 
prepare a launch plan for this document. The first step of this work will 
involve communicating with staff about their roles and responsibilities 
in helping to deliver the Strategy. Its launch will be timed to 
complement the Council’s recently unveiled Style Guide (which itself, is 
a key item in the Strategy’s action plan).

Between April and June, South Oxfordshire issued 27 press releases, 
produced three town and parish and residents’ newsletters and 
disseminated six InFocus newsletters to share important stories and 
information with our communities.

South Oxfordshire also promoted the Council’s grants. In particular, 
they highlighted the support that had been given to organisations who 
work with residents with learning disabilities.

In addition, the Council supported and attended Park and Charge 
Scheme events in both Henley and Wallingford.

During Q1 2022/2, the Communications team integrated its social 
media accounts to the Hootsuite platform. This has helped to increase 
efficiency and productivity, as officers no longer have to work through 
each account’s native site. In addition, it allows for all of the analytics 
to be gathered in one place which will make it easier to compare and 
optimise performance in the future.

Given the move to Hootsuite – and its use of different algorithms etc – 
it is unlikely that the stats from Q1 2022/23 are directly comparable to 
those from previous quarters.  

Facebook:  242 posts reached 510,000 people, total fans 5,684 
(including 352 new fans)
Instagram:  152 posts reached 4,700 people, total fans 564 (including 
27 new fans)
Twitter:  233 tweets, 82,000 impressions, total followers 11,233 
(including 52 new followers)

P
age 121

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 3 performance updates 25southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 3: Action on climate emergency - performance updates against reporting measures 

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

ACE1 Achieve our own zero carbon 
target by 2025 and support 
others to achieve the district 
target of zero carbon by 2030

Narrative report on strategic 
projects which will help to 
deliver net zero carbon for 
2025/2030. This should be split 
between Council specific and 
District specific activities

Cllr Sue 
Cooper 

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

In Q1 2022/23, the evaluation of the decarbonisation report for 
Thame Leisure Centre was completed. The document is now finalised, 
and the Council is now awaiting a further opportunity to bid into the 
Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme. South Oxfordshire have also 
commissioned the preparation of a funding bid document for the 
Cornerstone. 
 
The Council continues to use capital to deliver LED lighting at 
Riverside in Wallingford and at the Abbey and Henley Leisure Centres. 
In addition, a new pool cover is on order for Riverside – the water 
temperature has also been reduced to 25°C at this location in order to 
save energy. 

ACE2 Develop an annually approved 
climate emergency programme 
and adequately finance it

Quantitative measure - delivery 
of an annual CEP Y/N

Cllr Sue 
Cooper 

Head of Policy 
and Programmes

From Q1 2022/23, the Climate Action Plan (CAP) is being monitored 
as part of the Council’s corporate performance management 
framework. It will be delivered in tandem with the Council’s Corporate 
Plan performance reporting and will give a detailed overview of all 
actions that may have an impact on reducing carbon in the wider 
district.

ACE3 Deliver Council-owned net-zero 
homes and use grants, planning 
policy and advocacy to ensure 
the same standards throughout 
the district

Narrative Update on the current 
activities which WILL result in 
the delivery of Council owned 
homes (and details of those 
homes where possible)

Cllr Robin 
Bennett

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

During Q1 2022/23, the Council completed the purchase of a property 
in Didcot which will be used to provide temporary accommodation – 
the acquisition of another building is also close to completion. As part 
of the work to bring these properties into use, consideration will be 
given to any modifications that would help to improve their energy 
efficiency.   

ACE4 Promote and encourage 
behavioural change with 
informational campaigns and 
leading by example

Narrative update to include the 
number of communications 
campaigns undertaken which  
promote/encourage behavioural 
change (with examples)

Cllr Andrea 
Powell 

Deputy Chief 
Executive - 
Transformation 
and Operations

During Q1 2022/23, South Oxfordshire ran 49 campaigns. 29 of 
these highlighted/publicised events and council news, 13 promoted 
behavioural change and seven promoted diversity and inclusion. The 
behavioural change campaigns included encouraging people to report 
fly-tipping and stop littering (supporting Oxfordshire County Council’s 
SCRAP campaign), promoting the use of reusable nappies (supporting 
Real Nappy Week) and informing people about how to compost.

P
age 122

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 3 performance updates 26southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 3: Action on climate emergency - performance updates against reporting measures 

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

ACE5 Take positive action on 
single-use plastics, air quality 
improvement measures and 
sustainable transport

Suggested combined narrative 
update on Comms relating 
to single use plastics/comms 
relating to AQ initiatives and 
metrics relating to AQ (with 
an appreciation that this data 
will be skewed in 2020 due to 
lockdown(s)

Cllr Sue 
Cooper 

Head of Housing 
and Environment

South Oxfordshire has yet to receive feedback from Defra on the 
various Environment Bill consultations which will shape any future 
waste collection services.  
 
The Council continues to use communications channels to highlight 
the need to reduce plastic waste and encourage behavioural change 
in this area. 
 
During Q1 2022/23, tender documents to engage consultants to 
develop new Air Quality Plans were published. The closing date for 
returns is in July, after which submissions will be evaluated and a 
consultant appointed.  The Council also submitted its Annual Air 
Quality Status Report (2021) to Defra Feedback on this is expected 
later in the year. 
 
In addition, OCC’s Public Health Team, in conjunction with the 
districts, redeployed air quality sensors to primary school locations 
across the county. These devices will not only help to provide baseline 
data but will also monitor any changes in air quality resulting from 
any potential interventions. In South, the air quality sensor is located 
at Cholsey Primary School, Cholsey.  
 
South Oxfordshire also ran a number of comms campaigns during Q1 
2022/23 related to improving air quality. These included promoting 
Walk to Work Day, highlighting Clean Air Day and marking Earth Day.

P
age 123

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 3 performance updates 27southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 3: Action on climate emergency - performance updates against reporting measures 

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

ACE6 Mitigate climate change 
through planning and land use, 
enhancing biodiversity on our 
own land and strengthening 
the planning system to enforce 
environmental standards

Narrative update to focus 
on planning initiatives 
which support the potential 
deliverables where possible 
(primarily the development of 
the joint 2041 Local Plan, the 
joint Design Guide and carbon 
reduction in planning (DES8/10)

Cllr Anne-
Marie 
Simpson 

Head of Planning During Q1 2022/23, the Council’s Planning Policy team has continued 
to work on the development of the Joint Local Plan. Between 12 May 
and 23 June, a public consultation – known formally as a ‘Regulation 
18 Part 1 Issues Consultation’ – was held. This asked for people’s 
thoughts on the main issues facing the district and how the Joint Local 
Plan could address them. 
 
Amongst the topics raised in the consultation was how to reduce 
carbon emissions and the potential opportunities that exist within 
the Joint Local Plan for helping to achieve this ambition. The Planning 
Policy Team are currently processing the responses that were received 
and preparing for the next stage of consultation (this is where policy 
options on climate change will be presented). 
 
In addition, officers have been reviewing what evidence will be 
needed to support any ambitious climate change policies in the Joint 
Local Plan. This work has involved meetings with the Oxfordshire Plan 
Team regarding their work and also an assessment of what will be 
required at a local level. 
 
Regular internal meetings are also taking place between the Planning 
Policy and Climate & Biodiversity Teams. These events are used to 
communicate updates, note progress, and provide any necessary 
advice and guidance.   
 
The new Joint Design Guide was agreed by South Oxfordshire’s 
Cabinet in June 2022.

P
age 124

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 3 performance updates 28southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 3: Action on climate emergency - performance updates against reporting measures 

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

ACE7 Promote the circular economy 
(reduce, re-use and recycle), 
including in our waste 
management contracts

Narrative measure on comms 
activity relating to waste/
recycling 
 
Quantitative information on 
recycling rate, contamination 
rates, % of residual waste to 
landfill

Cllr Sue 
Cooper 

Head of Housing 
and Environment

The April 2022 recycling rate was 61.55%, the landfill rate was 0.37% 
and the contamination rate was 9.64%.  The May 2022 recycling rate 
was 67.52%, the landfill rate was 0.29% and the contamination rate 
was 7.56%.  The figures for June have yet to be finalised. 
 
During Q1 2022/23, South Oxfordshire ran several comms campaigns. 
These included:
• promoting the use of Real Nappies
• the Great British Spring Clean
• a litter mapping project
• encouraging composting.

ACE8 Support and encourage local 
businesses to respond to 
climate change and nature 
recovery

Narrative update on the work 
influencing work undertaken 
to support and encourage local 
businesses relating to climate 
change and nature recovery

Cllr Robin 
Bennett

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

In May, the Economic Development team, in partnership with 
Oxfordshire Greentech and Jennings Business Parks, delivered a 
“make a difference” workshop focusing on how small businesses 
could do good for both people and the planet. The event featured 
presentations from local companies who shared their environmental 
sustainability journeys. The workshop was attended by 41 guests and 
was well received. 
 
During Q1 2022/23, attention also focused on the planning of several 
future joint events with Abingdon and Witney College focusing on 
Green Skills. In addition, preparations were made for Eco-Business 
Fairs in Didcot and Thame. 
 
The Economic Development team carried out extensive work in 
preparing a bid for funding from the UK Shared Prosperity Fund. As 
decarbonisation forms a significant portion of South Oxfordshire’s 
proposal, they have collaborated with both the Climate Action & 
Biodiversity team and local stakeholders to ensure that the Council’s 
draft investment plan is adequately detailed and evidenced.   
s quarter to enable the plan to be adequately detailed and evidenced.

P
age 125

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 3 performance updates 29southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 3: Action on climate emergency - performance updates against reporting measures 

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

ACE9 Promote waste minimisation 
initiatives such as Repair Cafés

Unless specific activity relating 
to Repair Café's and Freecycle 
can be reported on, suggest 
that this is covered in previous 
narratives

Cllr Sue 
Cooper 

Head of Housing 
and Environment

Although there was no specific activity during Q1 2022/23 relating to 
Repair Cafés and Freecycle, South Oxfordshire did run several comms 
campaigns to highlight ways to reduce waste. These included:
• promoting the use of Real Nappies
• the Great British Spring Clean
• a litter mapping project
• encouraging composting 

 
South also continued to promote the use of Repair Cafés through the 
Council’s website.

ACE10 Work with Oxfordshire 
County Council to build on 
our commitment to active 
travel including walking, 
public transport and cycling 
infrastructure

Narrative update on work with 
Oxfordshire County Council 
 
Optional Quantitative metrics on 
the amount of new footpaths/
cycle paths 

Cllr Pieter-
Paul Barker 

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

During Q1 2022/23, South Oxfordshire worked collaboratively with 
colleagues from Oxfordshire County Council on the review of the 
Local Transport and Connectivity Plan. As part of this work, South 
Oxfordshire sought to clarify the compatibility between Local Cycling 
and Walking Plans (LCWIPs) and the Strategic Active Travel Network 
(SATN) in the draft document. 

P
age 126

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 4 performance updates 30southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 4:  Improved economic and community well-being

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

ECW1 Partner with regional agencies 
to ensure economic recovery, 
quality employment, thriving 
businesses and vibrant 
communities, avoiding the 
blight of “dormitory towns”

Narrative report on work with 
partners  in this area 
 
Quantitative metrics relating 
to employment rates (trends, 
actuals) - unemployment rate, 
trajectory/trend, earnings 
information

Cllr Pieter-Paul 
Barker 

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

Officers continued to attend Economic Recovery Task Group 
meetings. They also engaged with the Joint Operations Business 
Support, and Oxfordshire Inclusive Economy countywide 
initiatives. 
 
The Economic Development team carried out extensive work in 
preparing a bid for funding from the UK Shared Prosperity Fund. 
This aims to secure £1m worth of funding to tackle some of the 
key priorities within South Oxfordshire. A draft investment plan 
for the initial three years of the scheme has been produced and is 
scheduled to be finalised in Q2. 
 
Business confidence in South Oxfordshire is being affected by 
the cost-of-living crisis. While this has not yet been reflected in 
local unemployment rate (which currently stands at 2.4 per cent 
– down from 2.5 per cent in Q4 2021/22), strategic employment 
partners have voiced concerns that the current situation could 
quickly reverse in the face of ongoing pressures. 
 
During Q1 2022/23, the Virtual High Street Initiative was officially 
launched in Thame and was met with enthusiasm by local traders. 
This Initiative will enable the consolidation of South Oxfordshire 
based independent retailers on a single e-commerce platform. A 
total of 40 traders are established on the portal, with over 900 
products available to order through the site.  
 
There is a staged rollout of the Initiative to individual towns, with 
Henley and Wallingford due to follow Wantage in the next two 
quarters. Ahead of these scheduled launches, there has been 
strong interest from local businesses in signing up for the scheme. 

P
age 127

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 4 performance updates 31southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 4:  Improved economic and community well-being

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

ECW2 Provide advice on access 
to grants, training and 
diversification programmes, 
helping local businesses to 
build agility and resilience

Quantitative measures - 
number of businesses we 
engage with, social media 
hits, newsletter subscribers, 
clickthrough rate, numbers of 
business grants awarded 

Cllr Robin 
Bennett

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

During Q1 2022/23, the reconciliation work for the Additional 
Restrictions Grant Fund commenced. Over the entirety of scheme, 
South Oxfordshire distributed grants totalling £5,862,763.

Also, during Q1 2022/23 nine enquiries were logged on Tractivity. 
Ongoing grant enquiries (non-covid related) made up the majority 
of most complex asks. 

By the end of Q1 2022/23, there were 2,468 subscribers to South 
and Vale’s economic development newsletter – an increase of 19 
over the previous reporting period. There was 1,641 clickthroughs 
from these – and the average open rate was 54.2 per cent (much 
higher than the industry average).

From April and June, there were 2,792 users of the South and 
Vale Business Support Website – of these 2,702 were new visitors. 
Between them they generated 7,324 page views.

The Business Support Twitter feed had 1,473 followers by the end 
of Q1 2022/23. Activity undertaken during the quarter created 
12,996 impressions, 408 engagements, 15 new followers and 
1,444 profile visits. 

At the end of Q1 2022/23, South and Vale Business Support’s 
Facebook page had 146 likes, with quarterly activity creating 
5,312 impressions and 144 engagements. 

The Economic Development team ran four in-person digital 
business skills events during Q1 2022/23:

• Advertising on Facebook and Instagram – there were 51 
attendees at this event, of which 17 were from businesses in 
South Oxfordshire and four were from businesses that operate in 
both South and Vale. 

(update continues on page 32)P
age 128

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 4 performance updates 32southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 4:  Improved economic and community well-being

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

ECW2 Provide advice on access 
to grants, training and 
diversification programmes, 
helping local businesses to 
build agility and resilience

Quantitative measures - 
number of businesses we 
engage with, social media 
hits, newsletter subscribers, 
clickthrough rate, numbers of 
business grants awarded

Cllr Robin 
Bennett

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

• Selling on Facebook and Instagram – there were 43 attendees 
at this event, of which 15 were from businesses in South 
Oxfordshire and five were from businesses that operate in both 
South and Vale.
• Creating and sending newsletters using Mailchimp – there 

were 41 attendees at this event, of which 20 were from 
businesses in South Oxfordshire and five were from businesses 
that operate in both South and Vale.
• Using LinkedIn to generate Business – there were 64 attendees 

at this event, of which 29 were from businesses in South 
Oxfordshire and six were from businesses that operate in both 
South and Vale.

The Economic Development team also ran four online Digital Skills 
workshops for businesses looking to reach new customer bases. 

These events were well attended and provided an opportunity to 
encourage local companies to join the Council’s Virtual High Street 
Initiative.

The Council also sent out 13 Start Your Own Business Guides and 
7 Greening the Web Guides during the quarter.

P
age 129

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 4 performance updates 33southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 4:  Improved economic and community well-being

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

ECW3 Plan for communities 
connected by walking & 
cycling networks, with 
sustainable, accessible and 
affordable public transport 
and reliable Broadband, 
learning the lessons from 
the Covid-19 experience and 
enabling more home-working

Narrative update on work 
support reliable broadband 
(where possible) 
 
Narrative update on transport 
initiatives 
 
Quantitative - new footpath/
cycle paths delivered

Cllr Anne-Marie 
Simpson 

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

The Council continued to work with the Oxfordshire Digital 
Infrastructure Partnership (DIP) Board regarding the rollout of 
broadband infrastructure. During Q1 2022/23, the DIP raised 
issues in relation to planning application requirements in Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty – the Economic Development team 
liaised with colleagues to ensure that these matters received 
timely responses.

Economic Development also highlighted with Housing Needs the 
potential opportunity of developing a list of Multiple Dwelling 
Units of social housing which could be prioritised for full fibre 
connections.  

South Oxfordshire’s Cabinet approved the new Didcot Garden 
Town Delivery Plan and a supplementary estimate to the revenue 
budget of £660,000 (fully funded from external grants) at their 
meeting on 23 June 2022. The new plan includes proposals 
for public transport, an active walking and cycling network, 
communal facilities and accessible green spaces. The aim of this 
refocus is to: bring forward additional community improvements, 
align the Didcot Garden Town Project with the Council’s climate 
action, health and wellbeing agendas, and assist economic 
recovery following the pandemic.

In addition, the Cabinet (at the same meeting) agreed to transfer 
grant funds of £6.2 million to Oxfordshire County Council towards 
the costs of phase 3 of the Northern Perimeter Road. A funding 
agreement is currently being prepared.

During Q1 2022/23, a procurement exercise has been held to 
appoint a consultant to develop a Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan for Didcot and its environs. This project 
is scheduled to be completed by December 2022 and will 
recommend improvements to both existing and new cycling/
walking routes for the purposes of commuting and leisure. 

P
age 130

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 4 performance updates 34southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 4:  Improved economic and community well-being

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

ECW4 Launch a new community 
wellbeing strategy to 
encourage and support 
culture, leisure and the arts

Approval/Launch of 
'Community Wellbeing 
Strategy' Y/N (document 
should encompass large parts 
of information above)

Cllr Maggie 
Fillipova-Rivers 

Head of Policy 
and Programmes

During Q1 2021/22, officers continued to collect data to inform 
the development of the new Community Wellbeing Strategy. 
Work also commenced on drafting the document. 

ECW5 Use our planning powers to 
preserve our valuable green 
spaces, particularly in urban 
areas 

Number of Neighbourhood 
Plans implemented/green 
spaces secured

Cllr Anne-Marie 
Simpson 

Head of Planning South Oxfordshire currently has three emerging Neighbourhood 
Plans at examination and a further three that are approaching 
referenda. In total, these Plans contain proposals to protect 23 
green spaces through Local Green Space designations. They also 
contain measures to protect a further 13 green spaces through 
other forms of policy protection. 
 
South Oxfordshire are also supporting the preparation of 12 new 
Neighbourhood Plans and five Neighbourhood Plan reviews. All 
are considering the preservation of important green spaces. 

ECW6 Work with our communities 
to maximise Community 
Infrastructure Levy funds and 
to allocate these to achieve 
best outcomes for residents in 
the District

Narrative update about work 
in this area to include detail 
of new CIL spending strategy, 
communication with parishes 
 
Quantitative elements - CIL 
Spend broken down by type, 
by parish

Cllr Robin 
Bennett

Head of Finance During April 2022, £847,945 was paid to town and parish councils 
that had seen CIL liable developments in their areas during the 
previous six months.  
 
Since the introduction of CIL in 2016, £6,278,221 has been made 
available to town and parish councils for use on local projects to 
support development.  
 
South Oxfordshire’s new capital programme came into effect at 
the start of the quarter. Within this programme, £2,419,500 of CIL 
funding is allocated for 2022/23.

P
age 131

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 4 performance updates 35southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 4:  Improved economic and community well-being

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

ECW7 Take enforcement action on 
fly-tipping and dog fouling

Small narrative on Fly 
Tipping/dog following activity 
(with Comms input on any 
campaigns) 
 
Qualitative data on fly 
tipping - what we collect, 
where from, how much, 
nature of enforcement action 
undertaken, hotspot map

Cllr Sue Cooper Head of Housing 
and Environment

In April 2022, there were 73 fly tips in South Oxfordshire. This was 
an increase on the 69 fly tips recorded in April 2021. 
 
In May 2021, there were 43 fly tips in South Oxfordshire. This was 
a decrease on the previous year when 66 fly tips were recorded.  
 
The figures for June 2022 are, unfortunately, not yet available. 
 
During Q1 2022/23, the Council issued three Fixed Penalty Notices 
for waste crimes and two for abandoning a vehicle. There were 
also four fly-tipping prosecutions (all for incidents around Lewknor 
and Chinnor) – a further six prosecutions are pending. 
 
In addition, officers received 79 abandoned vehicle reports 
between April and June. Of these, 30 vehicles were not on site, 
23 were identified as not abandoned, 17 investigations remain 
ongoing and nine were duplicate cases. 
 
South Oxfordshire also ran the following communications during 
Q1 2022/23: 
promoting SCRAP, the county-wide anti-flytipping and anti-
littering campaign. 
highlighting specific incidents of flytipping through social media. 
the launch of the Council’s litter mapping project. 

ECW8 Work with local partners 
to introduce civil parking 
enforcement as a district 
responsibility

Narrative update on progress Cllr David 
Rouane

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

Civil parking enforcement – undertaken by Oxfordshire County 
Council contractors – is in place in the district. 
 
A report detailing the outcomes of a consultation on a new car 
park order has been drafted. It will be considered by the Cabinet 
during Q2 2022/23.

P
age 132

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 5 performance updates 36southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 5: Homes and infrastructure that meet local need - performance updates against reporting measures  

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

HILN1 Didcot Garden Town priority 
projects as identified by the 
Advisory Board, specifically a 
sustainable plan to redevelop 
the Didcot Gateway site, a 
public transport and active 
walking and cycling network, 
community facilities and 
accessible green spaces for 
Didcot residents

Narrative update against the 
stated aim, to include as many 
of the potential deliverables 
as possible, but not limited in 
scope to this

Cllr Robin 
Bennett

Head of Policy 
and Programmes

South Oxfordshire’s Cabinet approved the new Didcot Garden Town 
Delivery Plan and a supplementary estimate to the revenue budget 
of £660,000 (fully funded from external grants) at their meeting on 
23 June 2022. The new plan includes proposals for public transport, 
an active walking and cycling network, communal facilities and 
accessible green spaces. The aim of this refocus is to: bring forward 
additional community improvements, align the Didcot Garden Town 
Project with the Council’s climate action, health and wellbeing 
agendas, and assist economic recovery following the pandemic.  
 
In addition, the Cabinet (at the same meeting) agreed to transfer 
grant funds of £6.2 million to Oxfordshire County Council towards 
the costs of phase 3 of the Northern Perimeter Road. A funding 
agreement is currently being prepared. 
 
During Q1 2022/23, a procurement exercise has been held to appoint 
a consultant to develop a Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 
Plan for Didcot and its environs. This project is scheduled to be 
completed by December 2022 and will recommend improvements 
to both existing and new cycling/walking routes for the purposes of 
commuting and leisure.  
 
Consultants were also selected in Q1 2022/23 to progress the 
proposals for the Didcot Central Corridor. Their initial focus is to 
develop a placemaking strategy to help regenerate the town centre. 
 
Initial discussions have taken place between the Council and Public 
Health to prepare for a healthy place shaping programme targeting 
health inequalities within Didcot.   
 
Plans have been made for a Didcot Garden Party to take place 
over the summer holidays. Activities have been arranged and a 
communications campaign organised.

P
age 133

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 5 performance updates 37southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 5: Homes and infrastructure that meet local need - performance updates against reporting measures  

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

HILN2 The transformation of 
Berinsfield into a thriving 
Garden Village with improved 
facilities that are developed in 
line with the community’s needs 
and aspirations

Narrative update against the 
stated aim, to include as many 
of the potential deliverables 
as possible, but not limited in 
scope to this

Cllr Robin 
Bennett

Head of Policy 
and Programmes

The Berinsfield Garden Village team has continued to work with the 
local community to map all the existing community assets. This will 
not only allow them to identify any gaps in the provision of services 
but also help to develop discussions regarding need. 
 
During Q1 2022/23, the Berinsfield Grants Scheme was opened. 
The Council offered advice and assistance to local voluntary groups 
looking to make an application. Eleven submissions were received 
(two capital only, five revenue only, and four revenue + capital) 
before the closing date – both funds were heavily oversubscribed. 
Awards will be confirmed in Q2. 
 
Discussions were held with Berinsfield Parish Council regarding the 
development of a new Neighbourhood Plan.

HILN3 New council-owned homes 
with a focus on quality of 
design, affordability and local 
requirements

Narrative Update on the 
current activities which WILL 
result in the delivery of Council 
owned homes (and details of 
those homes where possible) 
Also reporting on progress of 
Design Guide

Cllr Robin 
Bennett

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

During Q1 2022/23, the Council completed the purchase of a 
property in Didcot which will be used to provide temporary 
accommodation – the acquisition of another building is also close to 
completion. As part of the work to bring these properties into use, 
consideration will be given to any modifications that would help to 
improve their energy efficiency. 
 
Following a competitive tendering process, a project manager, cost 
consultant and clerk of works are in the process of being appointed 
to help deliver the Broadway Housing Scheme development. 
 
The new Joint Design Guide was agreed by South Oxfordshire’s 
Cabinet in June 2022.

HILN4 Support and encouragement 
for the retrofit of our existing 
housing stock for low-carbon 
performance and to eliminate 
fuel poverty

Narrative update on current/
completed activities and 
influencing activity

Cllr Sue 
Cooper

Head of Policy 
and Programmes

P
age 134

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 5 performance updates 38southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 5: Homes and infrastructure that meet local need - performance updates against reporting measures  

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

HILN5 Elimination of homelessness in 
our District

Narrative update on progress in 
this area 
 
Quantitative information on - 
Homelessness rates, homeless 
cases and TA numbers, length 
of stay in TA and effectiveness 
of interventions (avoided 
homelessness)

Cllr Maggie 
Fillipova 
Rivers 

Head of Housing 
and Environment

South Oxfordshire recorded only two rough sleepers at the end of Q1 
2022/23. The very low levels of rough sleeping in the district reflects 
the success of the Council’s preventative approach. 
 
The number of homeless households in temporary accommodation 
(TA) on 30 June 2022 was 12 – an increase of three on the previous 
quarter. The average length of stay in emergency accommodation 
was 83 nights, marginally above the ceiling target of 42. This reflected 
the highly complex specific needs of one client 
 
During Q1 2021/22, the rate of successful homelessness prevention 
was 82.0 per cent. This was above the target of 80.0 per cent. 
 
South also continues to actively participate in the countywide 
Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy (and in fact currently chairs 
the countywide Homelessness Steering Group). At this Oxfordshire-
level, Q1 saw the successful launch of the county’s innovative alliance 
approach to single homelessness services.

HILN6 Bringing empty properties back 
into use

Narrative update on any 
relevant initiatives to reduce 
the number of empty 
properties and any data on 
empty property levels in South 
Oxfordshire

Cllr Robin 
Bennett 

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

An extension to the Meanwhile in Oxfordshire project was requested 
by the partnership leads (Oxford City Council and OxLEP). The status 
of this appeal is unclear and, therefore, the future of the scheme 
remains in doubt. If the Meanwhile in Oxfordshire project fails to 
secure an extension, there will be no current local funding in place to 
tackle the issue of vacant premises. 
 
At the end of Q1 2022/23, there were 451 standard dwellings in 
South Oxfordshire that had been empty for longer than six months. 

P
age 135

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 5 performance updates 39southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 5: Homes and infrastructure that meet local need - performance updates against reporting measures  

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

HILN7 Ensuring that our teams are 
ready to access or signpost to 
any Government schemes or 
funding that is made available

Narrative update on signposting 
activity and if possible, update 
on take-up

Cllr Robin 
Bennett

Head of Policy 
and Programmes

During Q1 2022/23, work has continued to embed the External 
Funding Lead within the organisation. Progress has also been 
made on introducing the necessary governance structures and 
documentation to ensure that any future funding bids align are 
deliverable and align with South Oxfordshire’s goals.  
 
Officers worked with colleagues from Oxfordshire County Council 
to make a joint application for further Local Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure (LEVI) funding. We are currently awaiting the outcome. 
 
Work also continued on ensuring that the Council is prepared for 
phase 3b of the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme. 

HILN8 New homes are future-
proofed, meeting the highest 
environmental standards and 
enhancing nature through 
sensitive, high quality design

Narrative update around 
refresh of the design guide, 
local plan, and information 
around DES10

Cllr Anne-
Marie 
Simpson 

Head of Planning During Q1 2022/23, the new Joint Design Guide was agreed by 
South Oxfordshire’s Cabinet. Following feedback received during 
the consultation process, the content of the Guide was updated to 
include more references, advice and signposting to energy efficiency 
matters – greater emphasis was also given to their significance.  

HILN9 Spatial planning embeds 
public health, wellbeing and 
sustainability

Narrative update on work 
around planning reinforcing 
wellbeing and sustainability. 
This should include 'health 
based planning data' where 
possible - information on public 
gym equipment - footpaths, 
cycle paths etc. 

Cllr Anne 
Marie 
Simpson 

Head of Policy 
and Programmes 

During Q1 2022/23, the Council’s Planning Policy team has continued 
to work on the development of the Joint Local Plan. Between 12 May 
and 23 June, a public consultation – known formally as a ‘Regulation 
18 Part 1 Issues Consultation’ – was held. This asked for views on a 
draft vision for the Joint Local Plan and included matters relating to 
the environment and healthy lifestyles.  
 
The Planning Policy team are currently processing the responses that 
were received.

P
age 136

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 5 performance updates 40southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 5: Homes and infrastructure that meet local need - performance updates against reporting measures  

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

HILN10 Changes over time in our stock 
of homes meet local needs

Narrative update based on 
information available from 3rd 
parties and the impact this has 
on the local area 
 
Bedroom mix in new 
developments  breakdown 
every 6 months"

Cllr Anne-
Marie 
Simpson 

Head of Planning During April and May 2022, 53 affordable properties have been 
reported as delivered. A quarterly total, including June, will be made 
available towards the end of July. The type and size of the 53 units 
currently delivered in Q1 is as follows: 
- 2 x 1 bed maisonettes 
- 9 x 2 bed flats 
- 34 x 2 bed houses 
- 7 x 3 bed houses 
- 1 x 4 bed house 
 
It should be noted that over the life of a development, different 
dwelling and tenure types will be delivered at varying rates 
depending upon the developer’s build programme.

P
age 137

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 5 performance updates 41southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 5: Homes and infrastructure that meet local need - performance updates against reporting measures  

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

HILN11 Sustainable transport solutions 
prioritise walking, cycling and 
public transport to reduce car 
dependency and air pollution

Narrative update on overall 
progress relating to sustainable 
transport solutions - 
particularly EV elements

Cllr Pieter-
Paul Barker 

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

During Q1 2022/23, 60 electric vehicle (EV) charging bays became 
operational in five of the Council’s car parks as part of the 
Oxfordshire wide “Park and Charge” project. 
 
Officers also worked with colleagues from Oxfordshire County 
Council to make a joint application for further Local Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure (LEVI) funding. We are currently awaiting the outcome. 
 
South Oxfordshire also provided support and advice to the County 
Council in relation to an EV charging pilot (DoorSTEP) which looks to 
install non-trip hazard electric charging infrastructure for properties 
with on-street parking.   
 
In addition, a procurement exercise was held to appoint a consultant 
to develop a Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan for 
Didcot Garden Town and its environs. This project is scheduled to be 
completed by December 2022 and will recommend improvements 
to both existing and new cycling/walking routes for the purposes of 
commuting and leisure. 
 
The draft Active Communities Strategy was considered by South’s 
Scrutiny Committee in June 2022. It was well received by members 
and will come before Cabinet during Q2 2022/23. One of the key 
themes of the Strategy is to: 'create healthier communities through 
walking and cycling'.

P
age 138

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 6 performance updates 42southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 6: Investment that rebuilds our financial viability - performance updates against reporting measures  

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

IRFV1 Develop and implement an 
innovative Transformation 
Strategy to diversify our 
revenue streams, improve our 
effectiveness and secure our on-
going viability

Narrative measure relating 
to the development of an 
overarching Transformation 
Strategy and any overall 
narrative linking to potential 
deliverables 
 
Quantitative data - Income 
relative to Net expenditure (in 
context), this could be broken 
down by service

Cllr Leigh 
Rawlins

Deputy Chief 
Executive - 
Transformation 
and Operations

During Q1 2022/23, substantial progress was made in relation to the 
procurement of a new Customer Relationship Management (CRM) 
system. A preferred supplier has been identified and contract award 
arrangements are progressing. The delivery of the CRM system is 
scheduled for the end of Q3. 
 
In addition, the Council’s property and asset management IT solution 
went live in Q1. It is now being utilised by the Property and Technical 
teams.  
 
Upgrades to the system that delivers online E-forms and the Binzone 
app are currently being completed. These will help to improve the 
customer experience. 
 
Work also progressed during Q1 on updating the Council’s GIS system 
to the latest software.

IRFV2 “Invest to save” for the District, 
including the delivery of 
sustainable new Council offices 
– on time and within budget 
– to realise future operational 
efficiencies

Narrative on progress of the 
Corporate Office project, 
including data on current spend 
on office accommodation which 
will no longer be spent once 
project completed. Further 
narrative to discuss impact of 
new building finances

Cllr Leigh 
Rawlins 

Deputy Chief 
Executive - 
Transformation 
and Operations

Work on the detailed design of the delivery of the new council offices 
and the masterplan continued during Q1 2021/22. 

P
age 139

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 6 performance updates 43southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 6: Investment that rebuilds our financial viability - performance updates against reporting measures  

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

IRFV3 Exercise strong Stewardship 
of all Council assets including 
property and financial 
investments, optimising their 
performance for the benefit of 
our residents

Narrative update on the 
progress of the SPR, in the 
initial period detailing the 
scope and scape, then once 
SPR has been delivered, the 
outcomes and future measures 
(quant element)

Cllr Leigh 
Rawlins 

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

During Q1 2022/23, the Strategic Property Team continued to lease 
vacant properties, progress lease renewals and review rents. 
 
Progress was also made on work regarding potential housing 
development sites – and their promotion - via the Housing and 
Economic Land Availability Assessment. 
 
In addition, the Asset Management Group (established during 
Q3 2021/22) continues to meet on a quarterly basis to progress 
implementation of the Strategic Property Review and to consider 
assets in line with the council's corporate priorities. 

IRFV4 Maximise external funding 
opportunities to support our 
services and to enrich our 
leisure, sporting and community 
activities

Narrative update relating to 
external funding utilisation, 
both funding received direct to 
the council, and projects which 
have received part external 
funding or are in progress if not 
already delivered 
 
Specific elements which should 
be included - Proportion of 
spend on leisure/community 
facilities vs amount funded by 
Council.  
 
CIL/106 spend broken down by 
type/parish 
 
Externally funded Capital 
schemes 
 
Total External funding received 
figure - narrative should be 
clear that this is not the total 
figure

Cllr Maggie-
Fillipova 
Rivers 

Head of Policy 
and Programmes 

During Q1 2022/23, work has continued to embed the External 
Funding Lead within the organisation. Progress has also been 
made on introducing the necessary governance structures and 
documentation to ensure that any future funding bids align are 
deliverable and align with South Oxfordshire’s goals.  
 
Officers worked with colleagues from Oxfordshire County Council 
to make a joint application for further Local Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure (LEVI) funding. We are currently awaiting the outcome. 
 
Work also continued on ensuring that the Council is prepared for 
phase 3b of the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme.  

P
age 140

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Theme 6 performance updates 44southoxon.gov.uk/corporateplan2020-2024

Theme 6: Investment that rebuilds our financial viability - performance updates against reporting measures  

Corp Plan ID Stated Aim/Project 
description Reporting Measure Cabinet 

Lead 
Officer Lead 
Title Q1 Performance Update

IRFV5 Invest responsibly and ethically 
with the Climate Emergency at 
the heart of what we do

Narrative update detailing 
changes which have included 
climate elements into 
regularised decision making 

Cllr Leigh 
Rawlins 

Head of Finance No progress to report Q1 2022/23.

P
age 141

A
genda Item

 11

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/11/SODC-Corporate-Plan-2020.pdf


Climate Action Plan

PERFORMANCE      
REPORT

2022/23 
Quarter ONE

July 2022

P
age 142

A
genda Item

 12



Table of contents
Introduction              3
Quarter context             4
Quarter One 2022/23 Performance Highlights         6

THEME 1  Our ways of working           7
THEME 2  Our service delivery           8
THEME 3  Our people            9
THEME 4  Our land             10
THEME 5  Our buildings            11
THEME 6  Our communities           12
THEME 7  Our partners            13

Theme 1: Our ways of working - performance updates against reporting measures   14
Theme 2: Our service delivery  - performance updates against reporting measures   24
Theme 3: Our people - performance updates against reporting measures     29
 Theme 4: Our land - performance updates against reporting measures    32
Theme 5: Our buildings - performance updates against reporting measures    35
Theme 6: Our communities - performance updates against reporting measures    40
Theme 7: Our partners - performance updates against reporting measures     46

P
age 143

A
genda Item

 12



      3Introduction southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Introduction

The South Oxfordshire District Council Climate Action Plan (CAP) 2022-24 sets out to demonstrate and deliver the 
council’s commitment to the Corporate Plan objective of taking Action on the Climate Emergency and target of becoming a 

carbon neutral council by 2025. 

Progress on the actions and outputs in the CAP will be reported quarterly, in line with the council’s Corporate Performance Management 
Framework. This report is the first iteration, and it is expected that it will evolve in line with the approach to Performance Management 
being embedded by the council, as well as from feedback from senior officers and Members. This report provides a strategic overview of 
the climate action performance across the council for quarter one 2022/23 (01 April to 31 June 2022) and should be reviewed in context 
with the council’s quarterly Corporate Plan Priorities Strategic Performance Report. The council’s greenhouse gas emissions are also 
reported and published annually.

The CAP is one piece of a much larger picture, consisting of national, regional and local initiatives and plans all of which influence our priorities. 
The CAP was designed to be a live document, where quarterly progress reporting may result in the reprioritisation or refocusing of actions by 
Cabinet where necessary.

P
age 144

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf
https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/south-oxfordshire-district-council/about-the-council/corporate-plan/


      4Quarter context southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Quarter context
Latest climate change science 

The IPCC has finalised the second part of the Sixth Assessment Report, Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation 
and Vulnerability. The report describes how climate change is already affecting the world’s human and natural systems 

and details which climate adaptation approaches are most effective and feasible, as well as which groups of people and 
ecosystems are most vulnerable. The report highlights the role of local government in designing and planning urban 
and rural settlements and infrastructure, and in working in partnership with communities and wider society, as critical for 
resilience to climate change. 

The Climate Change Committee’s 2022 Progress Report to Parliament highlighted that progress is lagging behind the 
UK’s net zero ambitions. One of the priority recommendations of this report was to set out how the Government’s Net Zero 
Strategy will be delivered, including clarifying the roles and responsibilities across central and local government. 

National government legislation 

The Environment Act received its royal assent in November 2021 and covers a broad range of issues across the four priority areas of air 
quality, biodiversity, water and waste. The implications of the Act will have significant impacts in certain areas of the council’s service delivery. 

Before the Act comes into force the Government must publish a number of pieces of supplementary legislation and guidance which will provide 
the detail that is needed to allow effective implementation. However, the publication of this supplementary legislation and guidance has been 
subject to significant delays, and it is now unlikely that this information will be available until quarter three 2022/23. These delays will impact on 
the delivery of some actions in the CAP, particularly those related to waste reduction and air quality. 

The Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill reached Committee stage in June 2022 and proposes significant changes to the planning system. An 
update to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is also expected later this year which will contain detail on energy and climate change. 
The current NPPF holds local planning authorities back from delivering net-zero ready new homes, which means that new homes are still being 
delivered which will need retrofitting later. The timing and content of the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill and the updated NPPF will impact 
how ambitious the council can be with the actions relating the new Joint Local Plan. 

P
age 145

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      5Quarter context southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

At the council 

During Quarter 1 we have been building capacity within the Climate and Biodiversity Team with the appointment 
of a new Senior Climate Action Officer to support the delivery of the CAP across South Oxfordshire and the Vale 

and to allow us to respond to a fast-moving funding landscape with help from the new External Funding Lead. The 
Team will work across all council service areas to support service teams to deliver their actions as well as taking direct 
responsibility for delivering some of the actions from the CAP. In South Oxfordshire we have also recruited two additional 
Senior Climate Action Officers on one-year secondments to help accelerate the delivery of some of the key actions.

South Oxfordshire District Council and the Vale of White Horse District Council are working together to produce a new Joint Local Plan 
for 2041. The Joint Local Plan will provide a guide to the kinds of new housing and jobs that are needed and where they should go as 
well as setting out the policies that will be needed to help us to achieve our climate targets. During quarter one the early stages of the 
plan were subject to a public consultation which sought views on the issues that should be addressed within the new Joint Local Plan. 
The outcomes of the various stages of the public consultation and the examination are key to allowing us to attain our corporate climate 
targets.  

P
age 146

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      6 southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Quarter One 1 2022/23 Performance Highlights

P
age 147

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      7Our ways of working southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

QUARTER ONE KEY ACTIVITIES

THEME 1  Our ways of working
GOAL  
To make climate action 
inherent in all the council’s 
work by designing and 
updating our policies, 
strategies and
governance with the climate 
emergency at their core

See Theme 1 
performance 
updates against 
all reporting 
measures on
page 14

The council continued to push to integrate climate action into day-to-day activities across the 
different teams and services. This report is the first output of the new system of performance 

management of the CAP allowing us to track our progress towards the delivery of the actions 
within the plan. 

In quarter one, various internal documents and report templates have been reviewed to ensure 
climate implications are considered. The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) strategy was 
updated to allow CIL funds to be used on projects that support our corporate climate and 
biodiversity objectives. Progress on developing the Joint Local Plan has continued and a 
consultation on the draft vision, which included matters relating to sustainable construction, 
was held from 12 May to 23 June 2022. All of the council meetings are now held virtually when 
permitted and were livestreamed to reduce travel to meetings. 

P
age 148

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      8Our service delivery southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

QUARTER ONE KEY ACTIVITIES

THEME 2  Our service delivery
GOAL  
To plan and deliver services 
to our residents in ways that 
reduce carbon emissions 
and prepare our district for
future ways of living

To reach the council’s target of being a carbon neutral council by 2025, we are reviewing 
all the services that the council delivers. This includes the waste collection service which 

accounts for just over 40% of our greenhouse gas emissions and in Quarter 1 we ran an initial 
trial of an electric waste vehicle. Although this trail demonstrated that the vehicle used is not 
suitable for our rural district, it did provide valuable information that will help in specifying new 
waste contracts in the coming years. To try and reduce the emissions from the council’s fleet 
we are also working with the Energy Saving Trust on an Ultra-Low Emission Fleet Review 
to assess the opportunity to replace vehicles owned and leased by the council with electric 
vehicles.

In Quarter 1 the Joint Design Guide was adopted which includes lots of new information and 
guidance on climate and sustainability, aiming to encourage those planning new developments 
to reduce the carbon footprint of the proposals and to incorporate as many energy efficiency 
measures as possible.

See Theme 2 
performance 
updates against 
all reporting 
measures on 
page 24

P
age 149

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      9Our people southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

QUARTER ONE KEY ACTIVITIES

THEME 3  Our people
GOAL  
To create a culture of climate 
action amongst staff and 
councillors in the workplace

In order to enable and encourage staff and councillors to embed climate action in their day-to-
day work, in Quarter 1 we have been developing an online training module on the CAP and 

carbon literacy. We are also working to build the skills and capacity needed to submit bids for 
climate-related funds and work has commenced to introduce the governance and documentation 
needed when making a bid to ensure it aligns with the council’s goals and is deliverable. The 
council has submitted a bid in partnership with Oxfordshire County Council and other district 
councils into the Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure (LEVI) scheme, which follows on from the 
success of the Park and Charge project.

See Theme 3 
performance 
updates against 
all reporting 
measures on 
page 29

P
age 150

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      10Our land southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

QUARTER ONE KEY ACTIVITIES

GOAL  
To approach our land 
management with 
sustainable and climate-
friendly best practices

THEME 4  Our land

Progress has been made in quarter one towards enhancing biodiversity on council owned 
land through No Mow May, which was trialled on sites in Didcot and Wallingford. The initial 

trial period has now been extended to the end of the growing season in quarter three, when the 
success of the trail will be evaluated. 

The council’s website has been updated to offer more guidance for communities undertaking 
their own tree and hedgerow planting projects and communications were sent out to encourage 
community groups to plant trees for the Queen’s Green Canopy. 

The Park and Charge scheme was fully delivered, with 62 electric vehicle charging bays 
now operational in five car parks in the district. Potential locations for a solar farm were also 
reviewed.  

See Theme 4 
performance 
updates against 
all reporting 
measures on
page 32

P
age 151

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      11Our buildings southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

QUARTER ONE KEY ACTIVITIES

GOAL  
To decarbonise our buildings 
and their operations to 
ensure they are fit for the 
future

THEME 5  Our buildings

To progress the council’s aim to ensure our buildings are fit for the future, work to complete 
energy efficiency and site decarbonisation assessments for all council properties continued. 

An initial assessment was undertaken in quarter one at Cornerstone Arts Centre and a tender 
was prepared for the survey work for all outstanding council premises.

To further the council’s commitment to delivering council owned net zero homes, this quarter 
saw the development of a project at the council owned site 116-120 Broadway, Didcot. The 
tender for project management, cost consultancy and clerk of works services have been 
concluded and the successful applicant will advise on the appropriate carbon building standard 
for the site.

Work has continued on ensuring that the council’s new office building at Didcot Gateway is 
designed to achieve BREEAM excellent building standards. Additionally preparatory work has 
continued for relocating the council’s current office base from 135 Milton Park to Abbey House, 
Abingdon which has included plans for reviewing the operating needs of the building and 
managing energy consumption.

See Theme 5 
performance 
updates against 
all reporting 
measures on 
page 35

P
age 152

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      12Our communities southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

QUARTER ONE

THEME 6  Our communities
KEY ACTIVITIES

See Theme 6 
performance 
updates against 
all reporting 
measures on 
page 40

GOAL  
To guide and support the 
district’s businesses, 
voluntary sector and 
communities to take action 
on the climate
emergency In line with the council’s aims to work with communities, businesses, the voluntary sector 

and residents to address the climate emergency, this quarter we have continued to deliver 
our strategic climate communications plan, sharing appropriate information on a variety of 
climate issues. For example, we promoted campaigns including the Great British Spring 
Clean, Earth Day, Walk to Work Day and Clean Air Day. Officers have also had an active role 
in the Oxfordshire wide councils’ climate comms project, which aims to provide consistent and 
coordinated messaging across Oxfordshire, on a monthly key climate theme. This project will 
deliver a new, interactive, climate action website to support climate lifestyle changes and offer 
advice on aspects such as reducing energy use in your home and retrofitting. The new website 
will launch in quarter two. 

The district has many strong pre-existing climate and biodiversity focused networks and 
groups and this quarter officers continued to connect with these, with a view to developing 
and strengthening these relationships further as the year continues. Communities were also 
supported to include climate measures and to develop policies on addressing the challenges of 
climate change, in their neighbourhood plans. 

P
age 153

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      13Our partners southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

QUARTER ONE

THEME 7  Our partners
KEY ACTIVITIES

See Theme 7
performance 
updates against 
all reporting 
measures on 
page 46

GOAL  
To work in partnership to 
reduce carbon emissions 
across the district and 
support county-wide 
initiatives, making a 
greater impact together The CAP aims to build on the council’s partnership work as key to achieving our climate 

emergency targets. This quarter, the council continued to engage in the development of 
the Oxfordshire Plan 2050, including work to ensure that climate considerations are central to 
the emerging Plan. Officers have also been supporting OxLEP to develop an event aimed at 
helping businesses to tackle climate change titled ‘What would need to happen to get every 
business in Oxfordshire to cut their carbon emissions by half by 2030?’. This event will be led 
by OxLEP in quarter two. 

To progress the council’s aim to end pollution in the River Thames and promote the sustainable 
use and enjoyment of the river, this quarter saw the commencement of a project to submit an 
application to the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra), for bathing water 
status for a mile stretch of the Thames in Wallingford. The council is working with environmental 
charity Thames 21 to engage local volunteers, collect water samples and complete user 
surveys which will be used as evidence to support the application which will be made in quarter 
three.  

P
age 154

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      14Theme 1 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 1: Our ways of working - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on 
AMBER or RED 
ratings

WOW1 Update the Corporate 
Delivery Framework to 
include considerations 
for climate impact and 
carbon emissions 

Report on the 
climate impact and 
carbon emission 
considerations 
included in the 
Corporate Delivery 
Framework providing 
examples

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

In Q1, the gateway one form (GW1), within 
the corporate delivery framework, was 
amended to encourage consultation with 
the Climate Action Team to support with 
assessment of climate and biodiversity 
implications of all projects across 
the council. Further work to increase 
awareness of these implications is planned 
for Q2 and will include updating the 
guidance and advice contained within the 
CDF.

WOW2 Implement internal 
governance to 
progress and monitor 
the Climate Action 
Plan

Update on the 
internal governance 
including its structure 
and approach to 
progressing and 
monitoring the 
Climate Action Plan

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

Q1 2022/23 signified the commencement 
of the first reporting period for the Climate 
Action Plan (CAP). A methodology for 
performance management of the CAP was 
implemented this quarter, in allignment 
with the Corporate Plan performance 
management approach. Quarterly reports 
will be published that specifically give a 
strategic overview of climate activity and 
performance across the Council, including 
a RAG rating of progress on the measures, 
relevant narrative and statistical data 
where appropriate. The performance 
report will be reviewed by the Climate 
Emergency Advisory Committee, Scrutiny 
and Cabinet to increase visibility, ensure 
accountability and monitor delivery of the 
Plan’s progress. Ensuring we are on track to 
meet the Council’s carbon neutral targets, 
through delivery of the actions set out in 
the CAP. 

P
age 155

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      15Theme 1 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 1: Our ways of working - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on 
AMBER or RED 
ratings

WOW3 Publish an internal 
toolkit with guidance 
for staff on how to 
assess the climate 
implications of 
projects and proposals

Update on the 
content of the toolkit 
and examples of 
projects and proposal 
that have used 
learning from the 
toolkit for the climate 
implications section 
of reports

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes 

During Q1, the Climate Action Team 
consulted with service areas across the 
Council to offer advice and guidance on 
climate and biodiversity implications and 
considerations, as part of internal decision 
making documentation and and the 
Corporate Delivery Framework. Work to 
further this through creation of  an internal 
toolkit available to officers will develop in 
Q2/Q3. 

WOW4 Develop and 
implement measures 
for monitoring 
procurement contracts 
based on carbon 
emissions and climate 
action

Update on monitoring 
of procurement 
contracts based on 
carbon emissions 
and climate action, 
providing examples of 
relevant contracts

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance

Head of 
Finance

During Q1, discussions were held 
with multiple companies on contract 
management opportunities for an online 
reporting and monitoring tool, to enable 
full contract management which will 
include climate action elements.

WOW5 Update the contract 
evaluation quality 
scoring procedure 
to include carbon 
reduction criteria

Report on how the 
contract evaluation 
quality scoring criteria 
has been updated 
to include carbon 
reduction criteria, 
providing examples 
of relevant awarded 
contracts

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance

Head of 
Finance

During Q1, action to address climate 
change continued to be discussed 
with teams when preparing the tender 
documentation. Work also continued on 
drafting a set of questions focused on 
climate action, to be used as guidance.

Live tenders that 
include climate action 
criteira have not 
been completed as 
yet. Examples will 
be included in Q2 
performance update.

WOW6 Deliver staff 
training on the 
Procurement Strategy 
which includes 
understanding of 
carbon reduction 
objectives and 
criterion

Percentage of staff 
who completed 
the procurement 
training quarterly / 
report on how the 
training has impacted 
procurement 
contracts, providing 
relevant examples

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance

Head of 
Finance

During Q1, work continued on preparing 
training on revised procurement 
procedures. This training will include 
Procurement Strategy, carbon emissions 
and action. It is due to be delivered in Q2 
(September) to managers and in Q3 to 
officers. P

age 156

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      16Theme 1 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 1: Our ways of working - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on 
AMBER or RED 
ratings

WOW7 Conduct a review 
of all report writing 
templates, adding a 
climate implications 
section where missing 

Percentage of report 
writing templates 
that include a climate 
implications section 
/ narrative on the 
updates to report 
writing templates

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Partnerships 
and Legal 
Democratic

Head of 
Legal and 
Democratic

At Q1, 100% of report templates have a 
climate implications section. However, 
it is recognised that there is work to be 
done around assessing climate impact 
for decision making purposes. Work to 
develop a screening toolkit and impact 
assessment form will be initiated.

WOW8 Divest direct 
investments from 
environmentally 
harmful activities 
where possible, whilst 
protecting the security 
of tax-payer funds

Narrative update 
detailing changes 
which have included 
climate elements into 
financial decision 
making

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance

Head of 
Finance

At Q1, the council has no direct investment 
in environmentally harmful activities. Work 
has continued on developing a process 
to review the environmental, social, and 
governance (ESG) risk score, of current 
and potential counterparties, which will 
cover assessment of climate implications 
as part of assessment criteria for future 
investment.

WOW9 Incorporate a 
policy statement 
on environment/
social/governance 
factors in the financial 
implications section of 
reports 

Update on the 
statement included 
in Council templates 
under financial 
implications 

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance

Head of 
Finance

No progress to report 2022/2023

P
age 157

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      17Theme 1 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 1: Our ways of working - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on 
AMBER or RED 
ratings

WOW10 Engage with the 
council's investment 
portfolio to ask for and 
review their carbon 
reduction plans as part 
of decision making 
for the treasury 
management strategy

Number of 
investment portfolios 
reviewed for their 
carbon reduction 
plans / narrative 
on any changes in 
investments based on 
investment portfolio 
carbon reduction 
plans / percentage 
of Council portfolio 
in Paris Agreement 
aligned companies

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance

Head of 
Finance

No progress to report Q1 2022/2023

WOW11 Review internal audit 
processes and where 
appropriate include 
risk considerations for 
the climate emergency

Report on how 
the internal audit 
processes have been 
updated to include 
carbon emission 
considerations

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance

Head of 
Finance

During Q1 2022/23 the audit scoping 
document has been updated to include an 
assessment of climate change risks, which 
is used on every individual audit.

P
age 158

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      18Theme 1 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 1: Our ways of working - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on 
AMBER or RED 
ratings

WOW12 Refine criteria 
for community 
infrastructure 
levy (CIL) funding 
to maximise 
opportunities for 
including carbon 
reduction measures 
in projects and 
supporting climate 
action projects 

Narrative update 
about work in this 
area to include 
detail of new CIL 
spending strategy, 
communication with 
parishes 
 
Quantitative elements 
- CIL Spend broken 
down by type, by 
parish

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Planning

Head of 
Finance

The CIL Spending Strategy was updated 
and changes came into effect in April 2021. 
The changes enable the council to use 
its CIL funds to the fullest extent of the 
regulations, on projects either identified 
in the council's infrastructure delivery 
plan (IDP) or on infrastructure projects 
that support the council's corporate 
priorities, including climate change.  Any 
infrastructure projects delivered by the 
council are required to consider climate 
and biodiversity implications. 
 
As part of the 2022/23 capital programme, 
CIL funding has been allocated to the 
following climate/biodiversity projects: 
 
Tiny Forests: £25,000 
 
Strategic Partnership with Trust for 
Oxfordshire's Environment to protect the 
natural world: £50,000

P
age 159

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      19Theme 1 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 1: Our ways of working - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on 
AMBER or RED 
ratings

WOW13

Promote community 
infrastructure levy 
(CIL) criteria to all 
relevant staff to 
ensure they maximise 
carbon emission 
reductions in all CIL 
projects

Percentage of 
CIL projects that 
include carbon 
emission reduction 
considerations/ 
relevant project 
proposals, providing 
examples

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Finance

Each year, projects with potential to be 
funded from CIL are identified so that 
they can be considered together as part of 
the budget setting process.  The Climate 
Action Team will be asked to provide some 
wording to include in the annual request 
for projects to remind officers that all 
projects must look to minimise carbon 
emissions.  All projects must also cover 
the climate and biodiversity implications 
in decision making documents in order for 
the projects to be considered for approval.  
The Climate Action Team will also be 
encouraged to bring forward projects that 
directly contribute to the reduction in 
carbon emissions where these are in line 
with the CIL spending regulations. The 
percentage of CIL projects that include 
carbon emission reduction considerations 
will be reported on an annual basis in Q4.  

WOW14

Include more 
ambitious climate 
criteria in the 
conditions of our 
affordable housing 
grant funding

Updates on changes 
to the climate criteria 
of the affordable 
housing grant 
funding and how this 
has impacted new 
affordable housing 
developments, 
providing examples

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Economic 
Development 
and 
Regeneration

Head of 
Housing and 
Environment

During Q1, work to review the criteria for 
S106 affordable housing grant funding 
continued and this is ongoing. The 
review will include more specific climate 
measures, including clarity whether a 
project can be rejected for funding due to 
environmental criteria. The recruitment 
of a new Housing Delivery Manager 
will support progression of this action, 
following an assessment of the new 
Housing Delivery team.

The council is in the 
process of reviewing 
specific requirements 
with regards to 
climate measures in 
regards to affordable 
housing grant funding 
and the recruitment 
of a new Housing 
Delivery Manager 
will help progress this 
work, including setting 
timescales.

P
age 160

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      20Theme 1 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 1: Our ways of working - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on 
AMBER or RED 
ratings

WOW15

Include policies in the 
Joint Local Plan that 
will help deliver zero 
carbon development 
and encourage more 
sustainable choices

Narrative update on 
sustainable and net 
zero planning policies 
being developed 
and included in the 
emerging JLP

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Planning

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

In Q1 the Joint Local Plan consultation was 
held (from 12 May - 23 June 2022) which 
asked for views on the draft vision for the 
Local Plan and opportunities to deliver 
that vision, including matters relating to 
sustainable construction. 

WOW16

Produce an options 
paper for setting up 
a carbon offsetting 
scheme for developers 
as part of the new 
Joint Local Plan

Report on options 
paper development 
and suggested ways 
forward

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Planning

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

No progress to report Q1 2022/2023

Currently at early 
stage of work on 
scoping and vision 
for Joint Local Plan 
(consultation held 
May-June 2022).  
Later work will 
consider detailed 
policy development 
and could explore 
merits of a carbon 
offsetting scheme. 

P
age 161

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      21Theme 1 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 1: Our ways of working - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on 
AMBER or RED 
ratings

WOW17

Produce an options 
paper for pool electric 
vehicles for use by 
council staff to reduce 
emissions from 
business mileage, 
implementing if 
approved 

Update on the 
development of 
options paper for 
piloting pool electric 
vehicles, including on 
the carbon emission 
savings and decision 
making progress

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

In Q1 62 electric vehicle (EV) charging 
points have been implemented as part 
of the ‘Park and Charge project’ across 
five car parks per council.  As of July 2022 
uptake of the EV bays is low as expected 
and officers will monitor this uptake and 
usage of the EV charging bays over the 
next year as it is hoped and planned to 
grow.  In the meantime to maximize use 
of the EV bays, officers are exploring the 
potential for commercial  EV hire clubs to 
benefit from this low usage of the EV bays 
and include council EV charging points as 
part of hire clubs network for recharging 
and parking of their EVs.  If staff resource 
is available, officers will also explore the 
use of EV hire companies for the benefit 
of staff who require vehicles for travel 
purposes whilst on council business. In 
particular, the new EV Park and Charge 
bays in the Cattlemarket car park in 
Abingdon could be trialled as a pilot EV 
hire scheme for council staff working at 
Abbey House (and potentially the public 
out of hours).  Staff are due to relocate 
to Abbey House in September 2022 and 
if successful, a similar approach could 
be implemented at the new HQ office 
site opposite the train station at Didcot 
Gateway. The Energy Saving Trust are 
carrying out a review of staff mileage. Their 
report will assess the emissions savings, 
and any potential financial savings, if some 
journeys in officer’s own vehicles were to 
be replaced with electric pool vehicles. The 
results from this study will feed into the 
proposed pilot scheme.

P
age 162

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      22Theme 1 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 1: Our ways of working - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on 
AMBER or RED 
ratings

WOW18

Develop and 
implement an internal 
communications 
plan to keep staff 
updated on climate 
action work, including 
useful advice and 
guidance on how to 
incorporate climate 
action into projects 
and programmes

Data on the 
number of internal 
communications 
campaigns on climate 
action work and a 
narrative update 
on the type of 
information shared 
and any feedback 
from staff on the use 
of the information

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

During Q1, a Climate Comms Forward 
Plan has been developed and is discussed 
fortnightly with Climate Action Officers 
to keep it up to date as a live document, 
this includes internal and external 
communications. Staff have been informed 
about Climate Action Plan and the Climate 
Action Oxfordshire website in Q1.   

WOW19

Move to a digital by 
default approach 
for virtual meetings 
where possible given 
the current conditions 
around decision 
making in Local 
Government 

Percentage of virtual 
meetings taken place, 
benchmark to include 
CEAC, Scrutiny, 
Cabinet and Council 
meetings

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Democratic and 
Legal Services 

Head of 
Legal and 
Democratic

The council continues to hold meetings 
remotely where permissible within the 
confines of the legislation and all of 
these meetings are livestreamed.  Any 
meetings of bodies carrying out an 
advisory function or where a formal 
decision is not being made is held virtually, 
and additionally these meetings are 
livestreamed.  Arrangements for meetings 
to be broadcast when the council moves 
to new offfices in Q2 are being made.  At 
present, we believe that we can livestream 
all meetings apart from council meetings. 
At Q1, 100% of Council meetings are now 
on-line and are available for a period of 12 
months.

WOW20

Improve our use of 
existing technology 
to move to digital by 
default working 

Update on the use 
of technology for 
meetings; data on % 
of MFD printing 

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Corporate 
Services

100% of committee meetings continue to 
be held using MS Teams enabling hybrid 
meetings and live streaming for online 
consumption. Use of MS Team Rooms 
to improve hybrid meeting experience 
is being explored for Abbey House large 
meeting room.P

age 163

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      23Theme 1 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 1: Our ways of working - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on 
AMBER or RED 
ratings

WOW21

Develop and 
implement an anti-
idling policy for staff 
and contractors on 
council business, 
to ensure engines 
are turned off when 
appropriate

Update on the 
development of the 
policy and examples 
of anti-idling 
implementation from 
staff and contractors

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Environment, 
Climate Change 
and Nature 
Recovery 

Head of 
Corporate 
Service

No progress to report Q1 2022/23. 

P
age 164

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      24Theme 2 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 2: Our service delivery  - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

SD1 a) Prepare new 
waste management 
approach to align 
with provisions of the 
Environment Bill 

                                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                           
Narrative measure 
on comms activity 
relating to waste/
recycling 
Quantitative 
information on 
recycling rate, 
contamination rates, 
percentage of residual 
waste to landfill                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                      
                                             

Cabinet 
Member for 
Environment, 
Climate Change 
and Nature 
Recovery 

Head of 
Housing and 
Environment

No progress to report Q1 2022/2023.  
No details from Defra on the results of 
consultations that have taken place on the 
Environment Act

Delay from Defra on the 
various elements of the 
Environment Bill and 
how it will impact on 
the new waste service 

SD2 b) Specify new 
waste management 
contract with 
route optimisation, 
collection frequency 
and vehicle size to 
minimise carbon 
emissions

Narrative measure 
on comms activity 
relating to waste/
recycling 
Quantitative 
information on 
recycling rate, 
contamination rates, 
percentage of residual 
waste to landfill                         

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Environment, 
Climate Change 
and Nature 
Recovery 

Head of 
Housing and 
Environment

No progress to report Q1 2022/2023. The 
new waste management contract is not 
required until 2024.

P
age 165

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      25Theme 2 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 2: Our service delivery  - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

SD3 c) Trial electric refuse 
vehicles and other 
relevant vehicle 
options, to identify the 
most suitable vehicles 
for reducing carbon 
emissions whilst 
maintaining service 
delivery 

                                                 
Narrative measure 
on comms activity 
relating to waste/
recycling 
Quantitative 
information on 
recycling rate, 
contamination rates, 
percentage of residual 
waste to landfill                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                 

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Environment, 
Climate Change 
and Nature 
Recovery 

Head of 
Housing and 
Environment

An initial electric waste vehicle trial has 
taken place. The vehicle was trialled across 
the district in a mixture of rural and urban 
areas. The conclusion of the trial during 
Q1 was that current vehicles available are 
not suitable for waste collection in our 
district due to a number of factors. The 
vehicle was unable to complete a waste 
collection round if it was doing more than 
one load of collected material (a current 
waste collection vehicle will do two to 
three loads). Additionally, the trial electric 
waste vehicle completed 60 to 70 per cent 
of the collection round on one charge and 
due to the current depot infrastructure, 
the vehicle could not charge mid shift due 
to time constraints. Positive feedback from 
drivers was received regarding the low 
noise level of the electric waste vehicle, 
however, concern was also raised regarding 
safety risks of other road users potentially 
not being able to hear the vehicle. The trial 
took place at intervals over a two-month 
period.

SD4 d) Replace end of 
life waste collection 
vehicles with electric 
fleet where range 
available allows

Narrative measure 
on comms activity 
relating to waste/
recycling 
Quantitative 
information on 
recycling rate, 
contamination rates, 
percentage of residual 
waste to landfill                                                   

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Environment, 
Climate Change 
and Nature 
Recovery 

Head of 
Housing and 
Environment

No progress to report Q1 2022/2023. 
Current waste collection vehicles will not 
be replaced until 2024.

P
age 166

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      26Theme 2 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 2: Our service delivery  - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

SD5 Explore opportunities 
for a new waste depot 
including research 
into renewable energy 
supplies

Update on proposals 
for a new waste 
depot, including 
potential carbon 
reduction figures 

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Environment, 
Climate Change 
and Nature 
Recovery 

Head of 
Housing and 
Environment

During Q1, work to explore opportunities 
for a new waste depot continued. A 
possible site has been identified and a 
meeting took place with the owner. A 
Non-Disclosure Agreement (NDA) has been 
produced at the request of the site owner, 
so that negotiations can progress without 
prejudice to either party prior to a formal 
agreement being entered into. The NDS 
is in the process of being signed by both 
parties.

SD6 Develop a business 
case and implement 
a delivery plan for 
council vehicles to be 
zero emission by 2025, 
where available on the 
market

Data on potential 
carbon reduction 
savings from 
switching vehicles 
to zero emission; 
narrative report 
on business case 
development and 
delivery plan for 
doing so, including 
market options for 
EVs

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Environment, 
Climate Change 
and Nature 
Recovery 

Head of 
Development 
and 
Corporatre 
Landlord

 In Q1 the councils worked in partnership 
with the Energy Saving Trust on an 
Ultra Low Emission Fleet Review. This 
project is assessing the opportunities 
to replace vehicles owned and leased 
by the councils with electric vehicles. A 
report will be published at the end of the 
project which will cover predicted carbon 
emissions savings, costs, and timescales for 
equivalent vehicles to come to market. The 
report will be completed in Q2.

SD7 Install electric vehicle 
(EV) charge points 
in council depot and 
other locations as 
necessary to meet 
needs of council fleet 

Data on the number 
of EV charge points 
installed for use 
by council fleet; 
narrative update on 
the location of the 
EV charge points and 
how they meet the 
needs of the council 
fleet

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Environment, 
Climate Change 
and Nature 
Recovery 

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

No EV charge points have been installed 
for use by the council fleet. During Q1 no 
council EV vehicles were purchased.  We 
have commissioned a report by the Energy 
Saving Trust to make recommendations on 
best types of vehicle procurement across 
councils. 

The "council fleet" does 
not include electric 
vehicles currently

P
age 167

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      27Theme 2 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 2: Our service delivery  - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

SD8 Feedback on planning 
applications to 
include signposting to 
information sources 
to improve the energy 
efficiency of proposals 

Data on the 
percentage of 
applications that 
include sign posting 
to energy efficiency 
advice 

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Planning

Head of 
Planning

There is currently no method for collecting 
data on the percentage of applications that 
include sign posting to energy efficiency 
advice. The recently adopted Joint Design 
Guide (adopted in South Oxfordshire on 
23 June 2023) includes a climate change 
section with website links to guide and 
assist customers and users on information 
resources on incorporating energy 
efficiency measures into development 
proposals. 

SD9 Update the council 
planning and 
development 
webpages to 
signpost to advice 
on energy efficiency 
considerations for 
inclusion in planning 
applications

Update on the energy 
efficiency information 
provided on the 
council webpages; 
data on the number 
of clicks on the links

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Planning

Head of 
Planning

During Q1 the Joint Design Guide was 
adopted (June 2022). This is a web-based 
document which includes information and 
advice on energy efficiency considerations 
for inclusion in planning applications. 

SD10 Work with our town 
and parish councils 
who are developing 
projects that reduce 
carbon emissions 
locally by providing 
advice on planning 
permissions needed 
for their projects to be 
a success

Report on support 
provided to town 
and parish councils 
on their carbon 
reduction projects; 
data on number of 
carbon emissions 
reduction projects 
submitted by town 
and parish councils

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Planning

Head of 
Planning

Town and Parish Engagement sessions are 
held monthly where representatives from 
the Town and Parish Councils can meeting 
with officers (a Service Manager and Team 
Leader) to discuss planning matters. This 
is the forum through which Town and 
Parish projects can be discussed and advice 
around planning-related carbon emissions 
offered. 

P
age 168

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      28Theme 2 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 2: Our service delivery  - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

SD11 Support the 
implementation of the 
air quality action plan 
across the district

Comms relating to AQ 
initiatives and metrics 
relating to AQ 

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Environment, 
Climate Change 
and Nature 
Recovery 

Head of 
Housing and 
Environment

During Q1, tender documents to engage 
air quality consultants to produce a 
new air quality action plan have been 
published. The closing date for return 
is in Q2. Following tender returns, 
work will commence on evaluation and 
appointment.  

P
age 169

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      29Theme 3 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 3: Our people - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

P1 Provide all-staff and 
councillor training on 
the council's climate 
action plan and carbon 
literacy

Data on percentage 
of staff that have 
taken the climate 
action plan training; 
narrative on how staff 
have integrated the 
training into their 
work, using case 
studies 

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

During Q1, work continued on reviewing 
and scoping content for an internal, 
online training module for all-staff and 
councillors. This module will include 
information on understanding climate 
change, the impact of climate change, the 
international and national picture, the 
South Oxfordshire District Council story so 
far and how addressing climate change is a 
role for everyone.

P2 Provide enhanced 
specialist training 
on latest carbon 
reduction or climate 
action approaches 
to relevant staff and 
councillors

Data on percentage 
of specialist training 
delivered to staff; 
narrative on how staff 
identify the training 
they need and how 
they have used the 
training in their work 

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes 

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 
/ Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

No progress to report Q1 2022/23. To 
follow after implementation of CAP Action 
P1

P
age 170

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      30Theme 3 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 3: Our people - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

P3 Ensure there is 
relevant skill and 
capacity to support 
grant application 
writing and bidding 
for climate related 
funds, maximising 
the opportunities 
to include carbon 
emissions reductions 
and energy efficiency 
in all projects

Dedicated bid writing 
resource secured; 
Data on the number 
of applications to 
grants and funds 
that relate to climate 
action and carbon 
emission reduction; 
narrative report 
on grant writing 
skills and training 
that has taken 
place to maximise 
opportunities on bid 
writing

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes 

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

During Q1 2022/23, in order to ensure 
there is relevant skill and capacity to 
support grant application writing and 
bidding for climate related funds, the 
External Funding Lead has continued to 
embed in the organisation and work has 
commenced to introduce the governance 
and documentation needed when making 
a bid to ensure it aligns with the Council's 
goals and is deliverable. The Council has 
also submitted a bid in partnership with 
Oxfordshire County Council and other 
district councils into the Local Electric 
Vehicle Infrastructure (LEVI) scheme which 
follows on from the success of the Park 
and Charge project. We are expecting a 
result in Q2, if successful this will provide 
the necessary infrastructure to facilitate a 
rapid shift to EV in the district which will 
significantly decrease carbon emissions 
from vehicles. Work has also continued on 
ensuring we are prepared for phase 3b of 
the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme.

P4 Implement a green 
travel plan for all 
staff and councillors, 
including a digital 
by default approach 
where possible to 
reduce travel

Data on staff mileage 
once this plan is 
implemented and 
narrative report on 
the changes to staff 
travel as a result of 
the plan

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

No progress to report Q1 2022/23 The plan will now 
cover new temporary 
office location at Abbey 
House. Ideas will be 
scoped out in Q2. 

P
age 171

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      31Theme 3 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 3: Our people - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

P5 Set up green 
champions network 
for interested staff to 
support climate work 

Report on outcomes 
of green champion 
network meetings, 
including case studies 
of green champions 
to highlight key areas 
of work and impact of 
the champions

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

No progress to report Q1 2022/23

P6 Incorporate climate 
action opportunities 
within council 
volunteering scheme 
for staff

Data on the number 
of climate action 
opportunities within 
council volunteering 
scheme and data 
on the number of 
take up of these 
opportunities; case 
studies from staff 
on how they have 
engaged with this 
opportunity

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Corporate 
Services

No progress to report Q1 2022/2023

P
age 172

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      32Theme 4 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

 Theme 4: Our land - performance updates against reporting measures

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

L1 Following the 
grounds maintenance 
operational review, 
update grounds 
maintenance 
operations to enhance 
biodiversity and 
tree cover including 
considering the 
need for mowing, 
opportunities to 
allow for wilding, 
and reducing the 
use of pesticides and 
herbicides where 
possible

Report sharing 
the updates to the 
grounds maintenance 
operations that 
address the climate 
emergency and 
how they support 
biodiversity 

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Environment, 
Climate Change 
and Nature 
Recovery 

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

No progress to report in Q1 2022/2023 
towards the grounds maintenance review 
due to an ongoing internal evaluation. 
However, progress has been made towards 
enhancing biodiversity on council owned 
land through No Mow May, which was 
trialled on sites including Didcot and 
Wallingford.  The trail has been extended 
to the end of the season in Q3 when the 
visual impact, ecological growth, and 
informal feedback will be assessed. 

Limited progress to date

L2 Identify sites for new 
tree planting and 
wilding opportunities 
on Our land or 
through partnership 
opportunities on 
privately owned land 
to support natural 
carbon capture

Report on 
identification of sites 
for new tree planting 
opportunities, 
including plans to 
plant trees on these 
sites

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Environment, 
Climate Change 
and Nature 
Recovery 

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

In Q1, work has continued to ensure the 
suitability of sites identified for a Tiny 
Forest in Didcot for delivery in Q3-Q4. 
The council’s website was updated to 
offer more guidance for communities 
undertaking their own tree and hedgerow 
planting projects.  Communications were 
sent out in Q1 to encourage community 
groups to plant trees for the Queen’s 
Green Canopy, following the first 2021/22 
planting season, where 2300 trees were 
planted by communities to celebrate the 
Jubilee. No tree planting applications have 
received in Q1 2022/2023, but we would 
expect this to increase in Q2 and Q3.

Identification of sites to 
date has been limited 
to thoise identified by 
community groups

P
age 173

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      33Theme 4 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

 Theme 4: Our land - performance updates against reporting measures

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

L3 Prepare a business 
case and, if approved, 
implement a local 
renewable energy 
project, such as a 
solar farm, to address 
unavoidable council 
emissions

Data on the amount 
of renewable energy 
produced and 
emissions offset; 
narrative update 
on the progression 
of plans for this 
project and how the 
renewable energy 
produced neutralises 
council emissions

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Economic 
Development 
and 
Regeneration

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

In Q1, the Strategic Property team worked 
with the Climate Action team looking at 
potential locations for a solar farm and the 
former Assendon Tip has been identified as 
a possibility. We have recently received an 
Energy Opportunities Assessment report 
from the Greater South East Energy hub 
which is being reviewed.

Any possible project still 
at inception stage

L4 Deliver the Park 
and Charge scheme, 
installing EV charge 
points in our car parks, 
in partnership with 
Oxfordshire County 
Council 

Data on the number 
of EV charge points 
installed in council 
car parks; narrative 
update on the 
partnership approach 
for delivering this 
project

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Environment, 
Climate Change 
and Nature 
Recovery 

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

In Q1 the project was completed. 62 EV 
charging bays are now operational across 
five South car parks in Henley-on-Thames, 
Wallingford and Thame as part of the Park 
and Charge project.

P
age 174

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      34Theme 4 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

 Theme 4: Our land - performance updates against reporting measures

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

L5 Develop an options 
paper for installing 
public EV charging 
points on additional 
council premises, 
including funding 
sources available

Update on the 
business case 
development for 
installing public EV 
charging points; data 
on energy use of the 
points, including how 
much charge they 
provide to EVs 

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Economic 
Development 
and 
Regeneration

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

No progress to report in Q1 2022/2023. Officers, in partnership 
with Oxfordshire 
County Council, have 
applied for LEVI funding 
(local electric vehicle 
infrastructure) which 
if successful, would 
increase the number of 
EV charging points at 
further locations (staff 
resource dependant).  
However, whilst a bid 
for funding has been 
made, there is not 
currently a buisness 
case, or an options 
paper, drafted.

P
age 175

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      35Appendix 5 southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 5: Our buildings - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

B1 a) Complete energy 
efficiency and site 
decarbonisation 
assessments for all 
leisure centres

Data on the energy 
efficiency of all 
leisure centres; 
narrative report on 
site decarbonisation 
assessments, with 
projections for how 
the sites will be 
decarbonised 

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Economic 
Development 
and 
Regeneration

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

At Q1, a decarbonisation assessment had 
already been completed for Thame Leisure 
Centre. In Q1, the Climate Action team 
prepared a tender for the survey work 
for all outstanding operational council 
premises.

In progress but not 
completed

B1 b) Following site 
assessments of leisure 
centres, prepare 
for external funding 
opportunities, 
including soft market 
testing

Narrative update 
relating to external 
funding utilisation, 
both funding received 
direct to the Council, 
and projects which 
have received part 
external funding or 
are in progress if not 
already delivered 
 
Specific elements 
which should be 
included - proportion 
of spend on leisure/
community facilities 
vs amount funded by 
Council; externally 
funded Capital 
schemes; total 
external funding 
received figure

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Economic 
Development 
and 
Regeneration

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

No progress to report Q1 2022/2023. 
Awaiting decarbonisation surveys (Action 
B1a). 

In progress but not 
completed

P
age 176

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      36Appendix 5 southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 5: Our buildings - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

B2 a) Complete energy 
efficiency and site 
decarbonisation 
assessments for 
all non-leisure 
operational properties

Data on the energy 
efficiency of all 
non-leisure centres; 
narrative report on 
site decarbonisation 
assessments, with 
projections for how 
the sites will be 
decarbonised 

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Economic 
Development 
and 
Regeneration

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

In Q1, the Cornerstone initial assessment 
was undertaken. The Climate Action Team 
are preparing a tender for the survey work 
for all outstanding operational council 
premises.

In progress but not 
completed

B2 b) Prepare for external 
funding opportunities 
for non-leisure 
properties, particularly 
properties with an 
end-of-use heating 
plant, including 
carrying out soft 
market testing

Narrative update 
relating to external 
funding utilisation, 
both funding received 
direct to the Council, 
and projects which 
have received part 
external funding or 
are in progress if not 
already delivered 
 
Specific elements 
which should be 
included - proportion 
of spend on leisure/
community facilities 
vs amount funded by 
Council; externally 
funded Capital 
schemes; total 
external funding 
received figure

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Economic 
Development 
and 
Regeneration

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

In Q1 a consultant was appointed to 
undertake the Cornerstone bid document 
preparation.

In progress but not 
completed

P
age 177

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      37Appendix 5 southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 5: Our buildings - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

B3 Prepare plan for 
Didcot Broadway site 
using sustainable 
designs and low 
carbon and water 
efficient standards, 
as well as including 
the provision for 
infrastructure that 
supports sustainable 
transport and has 
considered waste and 
recycling facilities

Report on the 
sustainable design 
and low carbon 
and water efficient 
standards used in the 
plans for the Didcot 
Broadway site; data 
on expected energy 
usage of the building

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Economic 
Development 
and 
Regeneration

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

In Q1 2022/23, we tendered for project 
management, cost consultancy and clerk 
of works services for the development 
project at 116-120 Broadway and the 
successful Tenderer was Allen Construction 
Consultancy Ltd.  They will be required to 
help manage the project and advise on the 
business case for the development which 
will be to EPC A, zero carbon, PassivHaus 
standards or equivalent subject to costings 
and advice to be provided by the cost 
consultant.  

B4 Prepare Didcot 
Gateway site project 
plan to achieve the 
Building Research 
Establishment's 
Environmental 
Assessment Method 
(BREEAM) excellent 
standard in addition 
to a 40 per cent 
reduction in carbon 
emissions compared 
with a 2013 Building 
Regulations compliant 
base case, and with 
consideration for 
sustainability and 
environmental impact 
throughout the design 
and construction of 
the site

Report on the carbon 
emission reductions 
and prospective 
energy use of the 
building, including 
sustainability and 
environmental 
impact considerations 
included in the plan

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Economic 
Development 
and 
Regeneration

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

During Q1 we have continued to ensure 
that the new office building at Didcot 
gateway is designed to achieve BREEAM 
excellent and exceed the stated carbon 
reduction requirements of both this 
measure and planning policy DES 10.  All 
regulated energy will be produced by on 
site PV - anticipated that the unregulated 
energy component (things plugged into 
sockets) will be sourced from green 
energy providers and the council is also 
investigating the options for offsetting 
this residual electricity use, for example 
through investing in local renewable 
energy generation. During Q2 we will 
compare the new building’s predicted 
energy use with pre-covid data for the 
office at 135 Milton Park from 2019/20, 
though direct like for like comparisons may 
be difficult due to the way data is collected.  

P
age 178

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      38Appendix 5 southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 5: Our buildings - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

B5 Retrofit Cornerstone 
Arts Centre to ensure 
it is fit for purpose 
using energy efficient 
methods, including 
solar panels on the 
roof and low carbon 
heating system

Report on retrofit 
upgrades to the 
Cornerstone Arts 
Centre; data on 
carbon emissions 
savings from 
upgrades

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Economic 
Development 
and 
Regeneration

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

A site decarbonisation assessment of 
Cornerstone has been completed. In Q1 
a consultant was appointed to undertake 
Cornerstone funding bid document 
preparation.

Ongoing project

B6 Include carbon 
and energy 
reduction targets in 
management plans 
for the monitoring 
of site operations 
including all leisure 
centres to enforce and 
encourage low carbon 
operational behaviour 
in council assets

Report on the 
changes to the carbon 
and energy reduction 
targets in the criteria 
for monitoring 
operations and report 
on the changes 
to operational 
procedures to meet 
carbon and energy 
reduction targets; 
data on carbon 
emissions from 
operations

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing and 
Environment

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

This action compliments the site 
decarbonisation assessments covered 
in actions B1 and B2. Whilst the 
decarbonisation reports could be helpful 
for this action, the core aim here is to look 
at the ‘softer side’ of energy management, 
looking to optimise energy efficiency 
across the operational estate.  This will 
be developed further as part of the 
evolution of the Corporate Landlord Model 
which has commenced in Q1.  In Q2 we 
will consolidate the Councils office base 
from 135 Milton Park to Abbey House 
presenting an opportunity to review the 
operating needs of the building (other 
users include Oxfordshire County Council 
and The Citizens Advice Bureau) and to 
manage energy consumption e.g. lighting, 
heating to match the pattern of use.

In progress but not 
completed

P
age 179

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      39Appendix 5 southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 5: Our buildings - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

B7 Develop a policy 
to agree an energy 
efficiency standard for 
new asset acquisitions 
and council owned 
builds

Update on the 
development of the 
energy efficiency 
standards policy 
for new asset 
acquisitions and 
builds, including 
case studies of 
how this has been 
implemented

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing and 
Environment

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

No progress to report Q1 2022/2023. Not progressed

P
age 180

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      40Theme 6 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 6: Our communities - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

C1 Implement an external 
communications plan 
which shares updates 
on the climate action 
work undertaken by 
the council, and advice 
and guidance to 
residents, businesses 
and the voluntary and 
community sector 
on reducing carbon 
emissions. To include:

Narrative update 
on the influencing 
work undertaken 
to support and 
encourage local 
businesses relating 
to climate change 
and nature recovery; 
should be widened 
from just businesses 
to business, voluntary 
sector and residents 
(but still want to tie 
into the corporate 
plan objective when 
collecting data) 

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Corporate 
Services

During Q1, a Climate Comms Forward 
Plan has been developed and is discussed 
fortnightly with officers to keep it up to 
date as a live document. This includes 
internal and external communications 
activities assigned where apprropriate, to 
each climate action the council is involved 
with.

C2 Advice and guidance 
on circular economy 
principles and 
how to implement 
them, especially 
for businesses and 
the voluntary and 
community sector

Narrative update 
on the influencing 
work undertaken 
to support and 
encourage local 
businesses relating 
to climate change 
and nature recovery; 
should be widened 
from just businesses 
to business, voluntary 
sector and residents 
(but still want to tie 
into the corporate 
plan objective when 
collecting data) 

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Corporate 
Services

During Q1, we continued to promote 
the work of Oxfordshire Greentech, as a 
business network supporting the growth 
of the low-carbon sector in Oxfordshire. 
Greentech offer a special interest group 
focused on Circular Economy and can 
provide specialist support and guidance in 
relation to this area. 

P
age 181

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      41Theme 6 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 6: Our communities - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

C3 Advice and guidance 
on energy efficiency of 
operations, including 
consideration for 
delivery options and 
the energy efficiency 
of buildings used 
by businesses and 
the voluntary and 
community sector 

Narrative update 
on the influencing 
work undertaken 
to support and 
encourage local 
businesses relating 
to climate change 
and nature recovery; 
should be widened 
from just businesses 
to business, voluntary 
sector and residents 
(but still want to tie 
into the corporate 
plan objective when 
collecting data) 

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Corporate 
Services

In Q1, energy effiency information for 
businesses and community groups was 
added to the council's climate action web 
pages.  This will be furtherd eveloped in 
Q2, alongside the launch of an Oxfordshire 
wide councils' climate action website, 
supporting an coordinated response to 
offering advice and guidance across the 
county.

C4 Share climate friendly 
lifestyle changes, 
including ways to 
make homes more 
energy efficient

Narrative update 
on the influencing 
work undertaken 
to support and 
encourage local 
businesses relating 
to climate change 
and nature recovery; 
should be widened 
from just businesses 
to business, voluntary 
sector and residents 
(but still want to tie 
into the corporate 
plan objective when 
collecting data) 

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Corporate 
Services

In Q1, officers have supported and been 
actively engaged in, the Oxfordshire 
Climate Action Comms Project, which 
includes the launch of a new Oxfordshire 
climate action website as well as ongoing 
promotion of events and climate 
action messaging since the campaign 
commenced. This has included a month 
by month Oxfordshire wide theme, to 
share climate friendly lifestyle changes to 
residents and communities around specific 
subjects with shared messaging. In Q1 
these themes included biodiversity and 
active travel. 

P
age 182

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      42Theme 6 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 6: Our communities - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

C5 Promote climate 
funding opportunities 
for businesses, 
voluntary and 
community sectors, 
and residents

Narrative update 
on the influencing 
work undertaken 
to support and 
encourage local 
businesses relating 
to climate change 
and nature recovery; 
should be widened 
from just businesses 
to business, voluntary 
sector and residents 
(but still want to tie 
into the corporate 
plan objective when 
collecting data) 

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Corporate 
Services

In Q1, we promoted the Cllr grant scheme, 
which includes encouraging communities 
to put forward projects that will contribute 
to the council’s Corporate Plan priorities, 
to protect and restore our natural world 
and take action on the climate emergency. 
The scheme is due to close in Q2 and 
applications will be assessed

C6 Promote community 
sharing and reuse 
to reduce waste 
and unnecessary 
consumption 

Narrative update 
on the influencing 
work undertaken 
to support and 
encourage local 
businesses relating 
to climate change 
and nature recovery; 
should be widened 
from just businesses 
to business, voluntary 
sector and residents 
(but still want to tie 
into the corporate 
plan objective when 
collecting data) 

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Corporate 
Services

In Q1, the council's social media pages 
were used to encourage members of 
the community to reduce waste and 
unnecessary consumption, including 
promoting composting, the Great British 
Spring Clean, Earth Day, walk to work day 
and clean air day.

P
age 183

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      43Theme 6 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 6: Our communities - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

C7 Promote relevant 
housing energy 
efficiency schemes, 
including grants, to 
residents, landlords 
and housing 
associations

Narrative update 
on the influencing 
work undertaken 
to support and 
encourage local 
businesses relating 
to climate change 
and nature recovery; 
should be widened 
from just businesses 
to business, voluntary 
sector and residents 
(but still want to tie 
into the corporate 
plan objective when 
collecting data) 

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Corporate 
Services

In Q1, we promoted an event held by 
Oxford City and Better Homes Oxford. 
Information was also shared about 
external funding opportunities where 
appropriate. South Oxfordshire received 
92 enquires to the Green Homes Grant 
Local Authority Delivery (LAD) 1b scheme, 
and 40 households subsequently received 
retrofitting measures.

C8 Include in Community 
Employment Plans 
considerations for 
addressing the 
councils climate 
neutral targets 
through commitments 
such as green skills 
training, sourcing 
through a local and 
sustainable supply 
chain, supporting local 
social enterprises and 
charities and accessing 
local employment

Update on the 
conditions of 
Community 
Employment Plans 
that address the 
climate emergency 
and how they are 
being implemented 
by developers; data 
on the number 
of Community 
Employment Plans 
implemented with 
conditions that 
address the climate 
emergency

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Economic 
Development 
and 
Regeneration

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

South Oxfordshire's current Local Plan does 
not contain a policy that allows the Council 
to request Community Employment 
Plans (CEPs) as a condition of planning. 
Consequently, we are unable to request 
CEPs in the district, and cannot report on 
this measure. 
  
In Q1, work began to try and ensure 
that an appropriately worded policy is 
considered for inclusion within the new 
joint local plan. 

In the absence of a new 
local plan it will not be 
possible to deliver this.

P
age 184

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      44Theme 6 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 6: Our communities - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

C9 Support communities 
with their 
neighbourhood 
planning by providing 
up-to-date advice 
and guidance on 
climate measures and 
actions, encouraging 
climate considerations 
to be at the core of 
neighbourhood plans

Data on the number 
of neighbourhood 
plans developed; 
Narrative update on 
the types of climate 
actions incorporated 
into neighbourhood 
plans

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes 

In Q1 work continued to assist 
communities preparing neighbourhood 
plans, including the insertion of climate 
measures.  There are 19 neighbourhood 
plans (including plan reviews) currently 
being prepared. In Q1 the neighbourhood 
plans for Brightwell cum Sotwell (Review), 
Cholsey (Review), Garsington and Benson 
(Review) have reached pre-submission 
consultation stage. The council has 
formally commented on these plans 
and provided advice on Brightwell 
cum Sotwell’s Policy BSC6: Building 
Performance covering how the ambitious 
goals of promoting zero carbon can be 
best achieved through a neighbourhood 
plan, including advice on the relevant 
legislation. We encouraged the inclusion 
of specific policies on reducing greenhouse 
gas emissions and/or identifying suitable 
areas for renewable and low carbon 
energy sources in the Cholsey, Garsington 
and Benson Neighbourhood Plans. We 
also signposted neighbourhood planning 
groups towards resources and support on 
preparing specific policies on addressing 
the challenges of climate change.

P
age 185

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      45Theme 6 performance updates southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 6: Our communities - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

C10 Support taxi drivers in 
switching to electric 
vehicles, including 
reviewing options to 
incentivise the switch 
through fees and 
charges

Data on the number 
of taxi drivers driving 
electric vehicles and 
narrative update on 
the support to taxi 
drivers for doing so

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Community 
Wellbeing

Head of 
Legal and 
Democratic

The licence fee for electric vehicles is set 
at £85, which is over 60% lower than the 
fee for all other vehicles.  At Q1, there 
are 3 licensed electric vehicles in South 
Oxfordshire. This equates to 0.5% of the 
total number of licensed vehicles (591).

This will always be a 
long term initiative 
until the Government 
embargo on new petrol 
and diesel vehicles 
comes into effect, but 
we have to recognise 
that the trade will not 
readily move to what is 
in reality a developing 
technology without 
readily availalbe 
charging infrastructre. 

C11 Organise quarterly 
climate focused 
network meetings 
for town and parish 
councils, and voluntary 
and community 
organisations, linking 
with existing networks

Data on number 
of meetings held; 
narrative update 
on the agendas, 
outcomes and actions 
from the meetings

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

During Q1, the Climate Action Team 
continued to connect with the many pre-
existing climate and biodiversity focused 
network meetings and partnerships in 
Oxfordshire, with a view to developing 
these relationships further. Based on 
discussions in Q1, the Climate Action 
Team has begun to scope opportunities 
to support town and parish councils, and 
voluntary and community organisations 
with their climate and nature recovery 
plans, skills development, communications 
or links with other council services and 
likeminded groups.

P
age 186

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      46Appendix 7 southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 7: Our partners - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

OP1 Build relationships 
with town and parish 
councils to support 
and encourage 
their climate action 
initiatives 

Update on how the 
council has worked 
with town and parish 
councils on climate 
action initiatives, 
including case studies

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes 

The CAP aims to build relationships with 
Town and Parish Councils, and Voluntary 
and Community Organisations as key to 
achieving the district’s climate action 
targets. In Q1, the Council  launched 
a new round of councillor community 
grants, which can provide town and parish 
councils and community groups with 
funding towards climate action projects. In 
2021/22, the scheme funded 18 different 
organisations to engage in climate action 
projects. These projects will provide 
examples of good practice to inspire 
others.

OP2 Identify areas in our 
community that are 
most vulnerable to 
the effects of climate 
change to ensure 
they are properly 
supported and 
protected to promote 
wider community 
wellbeing

Update on the 
identification of areas 
most vulnerable to 
the effects of climate 
change and how the 
council has supported 
them to adapt to 
these changes, 
including through 
initiatives such as 
Better Housing Better 
Health

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

During Q1 2022/23, residents seeking cost 
of living crisis support continued to be 
signposted to Better Housing Better Health 
via the council’s website and through 
information provided by the Community 
Connectors, as part of a range of available 
financial help and food provision.

OP3 Work with Oxfordshire 
County Council to 
support active and 
sustainable travel 
infrastructure 
initiatives 

Narrative update on 
work with Oxford 
County Council 
Optional quantitative 
metrics on the 
amount of new 
footpaths/cycle paths 

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Environment, 
Climate Change 
and Nature 
Recovery 

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

In Q1, Oxfordshire County Council has 
tendered for a consultant to develop a 
Strategic Active Travel Network and an 
appointment is due to be made by end of 
August 2022.

P
age 187

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      47Appendix 7 southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 7: Our partners - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

OP4 Work with the 
Future Oxfordshire 
Partnership on a 
county-wide approach 
to reducing carbon 
emissions, building 
on the strategic vision 
and Pathways to Zero 
Carbon Oxfordshire

Update on progress 
on the Future 
Oxfordshire 
Partnership's county-
wide approach to 
reducing carbon 
emissions, including 
examples of projects 
and programmes that 
address the strategic 
vision and Pathways 
to Zero Carbon 
Oxfordshire

Short 
Term (1 
year)

Leader of the 
Council

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

During Q1 2022/23, City Science were 
appointed to develop on the Pathways to 
Zero Carbon Oxfordshire (PaZCO) Part 2 
Routemap and have organised a series of 
five themeatcic workshops which will be 
held in Q2. The workshops are designed to 
define the action plan. 

OP5 With Our partners, 
support the 
development of 
a coordinated 
retrofit programme 
for Oxfordshire 
through our role in 
the Environmental 
Advisory Group of the 
Future Oxfordshire 
Partnership

Narrative update on 
current/completed 
activities of EAG and 
influencing activity 

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Leader of the 
Council

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

During Q1 2022/23, the council promoted 
an event held in Oxford Town Hall which 
was specifically designed to showcase 
retrofit options for homeowners which 
included talks by expert installers and 
options to vist homes that had installed 
measures. 

OP6 Support Registered 
Social Landlords in 
applying for retrofit 
funding, such as 
Social Housing 
Decarbonisation 
Funding 

Narrative update on 
engagement with 
Registered Social 
Landlords on retrofit 
funding

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Community 
Wellbeing

Head of 
Housing and 
Environment

The council remains to support any bids 
by the Registered Providers for retrofit 
funding or Social Housing Decarbonisation 
Funding.  No requests for support were 
recieved during Q1.  

The council is ready 
and available to assist 
if the Registered 
Providers decide to 
apply for the funding.

P
age 188

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      48Appendix 7 southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 7: Our partners - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

OP7 Use our membership 
of Oxfordshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership 
(OxLEP) to ensure 
rapid growth of the 
green economy 

Update on the 
council's influence in 
OxLEP to ensure rapid 
growth of the green 
economy, including 
examples of projects 
and programmes that 
address this work

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Leader of the 
Council

Head of 
Development 
and Corporate 
Landlord

During Q1 2022/23 the Economic 
Development team have: 
Supported OxLEP to develop stakeholder 
and speaker contacts for a forthcoming 
event to be hosted at Harwell Campus, 
focusing on “What would need to happen 
to get every business in Oxfordshire to 
cut their carbon emissions in half by 
2030?” this event has been marketed to 
local businesses, and will be attended by 
EcDev Officers. The event will take place in 
September 2022; and 
Worked in partnership with OxLEP, 
Abindgon and Witney College, and 
Oxfordshire Greentech to develop an 
introductory event at the new Green 
Construction Centre (Abingdon and Witney 
College) that will lead onto more events 
across different specific topics/sectors 
related to Green Skills, with a specific focus 
on Retrofit. This event will take place in 
November 2022 and is funded through our 
partnership with Greentech. 
Consulted OxLEP on the Green Skills 
Development ambitions of our UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund investment plan. OxLEP 
have developed a proposal for this section 
of the plan, and are also liaising with the 
Greater South East Net Zero Hub to explore 
how a South East wide Retrofit Academy 
proposal might develop. 

P
age 189

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      49Appendix 7 southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 7: Our partners - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

OP8 Support and influence 
the Oxfordshire Plan 
2050 ensuring climate 
considerations are 
integrated throughout 
the plan

Update on the 
development of the 
Oxfordshire Plan 
2050 with particular 
comment on how the 
Plan includes climate 
considerations 

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Leader of the 
Council

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

During Q1 the Council engaged in the 
development of the Oxfordshire Plan 
2050 through officer input and through 
the member Advisory Group meetings, 
Cllr Anne-Marie Simpson as the South's 
representative. This work included 
feedback on draft policies to ensure that 
climate considerations, as set out in the 
Oxfordshire Strategic Vision, are central to 
the emerging Oxfordshire Plan.

Many hours dedicated 
to the project in Q1, 
ultimately success 
depends on inter-
authority partnership 
working.

OP9 Utilise the opportunity 
of the Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc  to 
advance corporate 
objectives around the 
Climate Emergency

Update on the 
councils input into the 
Oxford to Cambridge 
spatial framework 
and the inclusion of 
climate emergency 
corporate objectives 

Long 
Term (2 
years plus 
to deliver)

Leader of the 
Council

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

No progress to report Q1 2022/2023 as 
central Government have produced no 
further outputs on the OxCam Arc Spatial 
Framework (which is paused as part of the 
Levelling Up agenda and may not be taken 
forward). 

Awaiting further news 
on future of the Arc.

P
age 190

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      50Appendix 7 southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 7: Our partners - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

OP10 Support the Thames 
Valley Rivers network 
to meet their aims 
and use this group to 
facilitate and influence 
work cross party and 
cross boundary to 
end pollution in the 
river and promote the 
sustainable use and 
enjoyment of the River 
Thames

Update on work with 
the Thames Valley 
Rivers network, 
including case 
studies of projects 
and programmes 
that have been 
implemented to 
meet the aims of the 
network

Short 
Term (1 
year)

River Thames 
Champion

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

During Q1, to progress the Council's aim 
to end pollution in the river and promote 
the sustainable use and enjoyment of the 
River Thames, officers are working with 
environmental charity Thames21 and 
volunteers from the local community to 
collect water samples and complete user 
surveys, to provide information on the 
overall health of the river Thames. So far, 
20 local volunteers have signed up to take 
part in the project and received training 
from Thames21 in how to take accurate 
samples from the river. Later this year, the 
information collected during the project 
will be used to inform an application to 
the Department for Environment, Food 
and Rural Affairs (Defra) for bathing water 
status for a mile stretch of the Thames 
with Wallingford at the centre. Work also 
continued this quarter on reviewing a 
one year forward plan for the Thames 
Valley Rivers Network, to drive forward 
its aims and progress its aspiration to 
attract a wider membership. During Q1 
scoping work also started on the Council's 
engagement in and communication 
around, World Rivers Day 2022 in Q2 (25 
Sept 2022).

OP11 Engagement across 
the energy sector 
on activity required 
to move to carbon 
neutral and work 
with them to tackle 
the challenge of grid 
capacity, time of day 
demand and energy 
infrastructure 

Update on 
engagement with the 
energy sector and 
examples of work 
with them to tackle 
the challenge of grid 
capacity, time of day 
demand and energy 
infrastructure

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

No progress to report Q1 2022/23. 

P
age 191

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      51Appendix 7 southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

Theme 7: Our partners - performance updates against reporting measures 

CAP ID Actions Reporting Measure Delivery 
Timescale

South 
Cabinet 
Lead

Officer Lead Performance Update

RAG rate 
progress 
against 
each 
measure

Comments on AMBER 
or RED ratings

OP12 Partner with Good 
Food Oxfordshire 
to support their 
Good Food Strategy 
for Oxfordshire, 
ensuring climate 
considerations are 
included throughout 
the strategy

Update on the 
development of 
the Good Food 
Strategy for 
Oxfordshire, including 
examples of climate 
considerations

Medium 
Term (2 
years)

Cabinet 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services, 
Policy and 
Programmes

Head of 
Policy and 
Programmes

Work on Part one of the Good Food 
Oxfordshire Strategy concluded in Q1, 
with the Strategy going to Cabinet in Q2 
2022/23.

P
age 192

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


      52Appendix 7 southoxon.gov.uk/climateaction

P
age 193

A
genda Item

 12

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/South-Climate-Action-plan-2022-2024.pdf


 
 

Cabinet Report 

 
Report of Head of Finance 

Author: Emma Creed 

Telephone: 01235 422498 

Textphone: 18001 01235 422498 

E-mail: emma.creed@southandvale.gov.uk  

Wards affected: All 

 

Cabinet member responsible: Leigh Rawlins 

Tel: 01189 722565 

E-mail: leigh.rawlins@southoxon.gov.uk  

To: CABINET 

Date: 29 September 2022 

 

 

Budget monitoring April 2022 – June 2022 

Recommendation 

Cabinet is recommended to note the contents of the report. 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. To report the revenue and capital expenditure against budget for the period April 2022 
to June 2022 and the latest year end outturns forecast by Heads of Service. 

Corporate Objectives  

2. The allocation of financial resources within the revenue and capital budgets needs to 
match the objectives agreed by the Council.  The budget monitoring report shows how 
these resources have been allocated during the first three months of the financial year. 

Background 

3. This report reviews the council’s revenue and capital expenditure performance to the 
end of month three (June). Year-end outturn forecasts were worked on during 
December and are based on heads of service’s best knowledge at this time.   

Revenue budget monitoring 

4. On 17 February 2022, Council agreed a net revenue budget for 2022/23 of £16.779 
million.  This has subsequently increased to £20.974 million.  This reflects the carry 
forward of unspent one-off project budgets from 2021/22. 

Page 194

Agenda Item 13

mailto:emma.creed@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:leigh.rawlins@southoxon.gov.uk


 
 

5. Table 1 below shows, summarised at service level, both the revenue position as at the 
end of June 2022 and the forecast position at year end.   

Table 1: Revenue budget monitoring position as at June 2022 

 

6. The forecast variance is further broken down in table 2 below. 

Table 2: summary of forecast major variances against revenue budget 

 

Budgets forecast to be carried forward to 2023/24 

7. As shown in table 2, of the £0.7 million forecast variance to budget, £1.6 million 
represents slippage in one-off budgets.  These will be requested as carry forwards at 
the end of the financial year.  £0.1 million is forecast grant income to be received. 
These carry forwards and grants are shown in appendix 1. 

Employee costs 

8. Employee costs are forecast to be overspent at the end of the year by £434,000, which 
is net of the managed vacancy factor set at the beginning of the year. 

9. The variance in strategic management is due to a vacancy, which is being covered by 
a consultant.  Spend on consultants does not form part of employee costs. 

Strategic Management (57) 0 0 (57) (158) 101

Corporate Services (73) 0 0 (73) (95) 22

Development & Corporate Landlord 520 0 0 520 233 287

Finance (212) 0 0 (212) (37) (175)

Housing & Environment 398 11 0 409 (8) 417

Legal & Democratic (24) 0 34 10 26 (16)

Partnerships 17 0 0 17 17 0

Planning 124 0 0 124 36 88

Policy & Programmes (1,888) 1,614 64 (210) (207) (3)

Contingency 526 0 0 526 626 (100)

Direct Service Expenditure (669) 1,625 98 1,054 434 620

Other

Service
Total 

Variance

Profiled 

underspend 

c/fwd to 

2023/24

Grant 

income 

transferred 

to reserves

Net 

variances 

after 

transfers

Employee 

costs

Page 195

Agenda Item 13



 
 

10. Corporate services is predicting an underspend mainly as a result of vacancies that are 
not anticipated to be filled by the end of the year. 

11. The overspend in development and corporate landlord is primarily a result of costs that 
had been budgeted in capital but on review were decided should be revenue. 

12. The £207,000 underspend in policy is made up of various vacancies across the 
service.  A review is to be carried out on service structure for the 2023/24 budget. 

Service department variances over £50,000 

13. Excluding carry forwards to 2023/24, grant income to be transferred to reserves and 
employee cost variances, net revenue expenditure is forecast to be £623,000 
overspent against budget. 

14. The significant forecast variations from budget are shown in table 2 above and are 
explained below. 

Development and Corporate Landlord 

15. Utilities budgets are expected to be inadequate due to the soaring cost of fuel.  It is 
expected that there will be a £213,000 overspend on these budgets. 

16. Use of the council car parks has increased since the pandemic, however we are still 
not seeing usage back to pre-pandemic levels.  It is predicted that there will be a 
£53,000 adverse variance on car parking income. 

Housing and Environment 

17. The waste service is predicting an overspend of £371,600.  Indexation on the waste 
contract was underestimated when the budget was set and will be inadequate to cover 
actual costs this year.  Contractual indexation is based on a number of factors, some of 
which, such as fuel, have been subject to significant price increases in recent months. 

Finance 

18. Claimants are moving to universal credit, which has resulted in a reduction of housing 
benefit.  There is forecast to be an underspend of £140,000 as result of this.  

Planning 

19. Anticipated income from major developments has been delayed and therefore a 
£267,000 overspend is expected. 

20. The building control service has seen an increase in income due to some larger 
developments using the service.  Income is predicted to be £134,800 over budget. 

Capital budget monitoring 

21. On 17 February 2022, Council agreed a capital programme for 2022/23 as follows: 

 Approved programme - £16.528 million 

 Provisional programme (including Cabinet growth proposals) - £16.871 million. 

Page 196

Agenda Item 13



 
 

At the end of June 2022, the approved programme totalled £23.356 million, against 
which £0.765 million had been spent.  Details of the changes to the capital programme 
during the first three months are summarised in table 3 below: 

Table 3: movement on capital programme 

 

Financial, legal and other implications  

22. The financial implications are as set out in the body of the report.  There are no other 
implications of this report. 

Conclusion 

23. At this stage of the financial year, for revenue an overspend is forecast.  The spending 
position is monitored closely each month and any overspends will be managed during 
the year.  There is likely to be slippage in the capital programme.  A full review of 
projects will be undertaken in the coming months.   
 
 

Appendices 

1) Revenue budget monitoring – budget carry forwards  
2) Capital budget monitoring - summary 

 
 

Background Papers 

 Budget papers for 2022/23 

 

 

2022/23 

£000

Original capital budget 33,399

Roll forward from prior years 8,303

Capital programme 30 June 2022 41,702

Made up of:

Approved programme 23,356

Provisional programme 18,346

Capital programme 30 June 2022 41,702

Page 197

Agenda Item 13



SOUTH revenue budget monitoring - June 2022 Appendix 1

Proposed carry forwards £

Housing and environment
Custom build 11,306

Legal services
Domestic abuse support grant 33,568

Policy and programmes
Didcot gateway 500,000
Didcot garden town 464,742
Berinsfield regeneration 479,199
Commercialisation project 170,000
Neighbourhood plan (grant) 64,173

Total carry forwards 1,722,988

Page 198

Agenda Item 13



Capital Expenditure
Original Budget 

Full Year                            
£

Working Budget 
Full Year                                  

£

Actual Spend to 
date                                            

£
Variance

Outturn Forecast 
This quarter

Forecast variance Manual 
input required                (+ve 

bad, -ve good)

Explanation of forecast variances >£50,000 Manual 
input required

Corporate Services - Capital 0 7,044,000 63,504 (6,980,496) 7,044,000 0

Development & Corporate Landlord - 
Capital

0 105,039 (954,565) 107,915 615,000 0

Finance 0 11,796,000 0 (11,796,000) 5,268,000 0

Housing & Environment - Capital 0 1,587,000 361,649 (1,225,351) 1,587,000 0

Legal Services - Capital 0 40,000 (600) (39,600) 39,000 0

Policy & Programmes - Capital 0 1,774,000 288,047 (1,485,953) 1,774,000 0

Direct Service Capital Expenditure 0 23,356,000 765,119 (22,589,881) 16,828,000 0 

S:\Budget Monitoring\2022-23\South\3. June 2022\1. South capital budget monitoring June 2022

P
age 199

A
genda Item

 13



 

  

 

Joint Audit and Governance 

Committee  

 

 
Report of Head of Finance 

Author: Donna Ross 

Telephone: 07917 088335 

Textphone: 18001 07917 088335 

E-mail: donna.ross@southandvale.gov.uk 

SODC cabinet member responsible for Finance:  Councillor Leigh Rawlins 
Telephone:  01189 722565 
Email:  leigh.rawlins@southoxon.gov.uk 
 
VWHDC cabinet member responsible for Finance:  Councillor Andrew Crawford 
Telephone:  01235 772134 
Email:  andy.crawford@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
 

To: Joint Audit and Governance Committee, Cabinet and Council 

DATE: 27 September 2022 by Joint Audit and Governance Committee 

            29 September 2022 (S) / 30 September 2022 (V) by Cabinet 

            13 October 2022 (S) / 12 October 2022 (V) by Council 

 

 

Treasury Outturn 2021/22 

  

Recommendations 

That Joint Audit and Governance Committee: 

1.  notes the treasury management outturn report 2021/22,  

2.  is satisfied that the treasury activities are carried out in accordance with the 
treasury management strategy and policy, and 

3.  make any comments and recommendations to Cabinets as necessary.  

That Cabinet: 

Considers any comments from Joint Audit and Governance Committee and 
recommends Council to: 

1. approve the treasury management outturn report for 2021/22; 

2. approve the actual 2021/22 prudential indicators within the report. 

Page 200

Agenda Item 14

mailto:donna.ross@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:leigh.rawlins@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:andy.crawford@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


 

  

 

Purpose of report 

1. This report fulfils the legislative requirements to ensure the adequate monitoring 
and reporting of the treasury management activities and that the councils’ 
prudential indicators are reported to the councils at the end of the year.  The report 
provides details of the treasury activities for the financial year 2021/22. 

2. This complies with the requirements of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA’s) Code of Practice on Treasury Management. 

Strategic objectives 

3. Effective treasury management is required to help the councils meet their strategic 
objectives. 

 
Background 

4. The councils’ treasury activities are strictly regulated by legislation.  The CIPFA 
Prudential Code and CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice require a 
report to be provided to the councils at the end of the financial year.   

5. This report provides details on the treasury activity and performance for 2021/22 
against prudential indicators and benchmarks set for the year in the 2021/22 
Treasury Management Strategy (TMS), approved by each council in February 
2021.  Each council is required to approve this report. 

6. Link Asset Services are the councils’ retained treasury advisors.   

7. There are three types of investment, the performance of which is covered in this 
report 

a. True treasury investments – these are investments for the management of 
temporary cashflow balances. These include loans to other local authorities, 
or approved financial institutions. It also includes longer-term investments in 
externally managed pooled funds such as CCLA Property Fund. 

b. Non-treasury loans – these are loans to third parties, which earn a return, 
but they do not fall under the strict definition of a treasury investment.   

c. Direct property investments - both councils have investment properties let 
on commercial basis. The primary purpose of holding these assets is for 
investment purposes and they are not part of regeneration schemes.      

8. The councils continue to invest with regard for security, liquidity and yield, in that 
order. 

 

Economic conditions and factors effecting investment returns 
during 2021/22 

9. At the start of the financial year UK Bank Base Rate was held at 0.10 per cent and 
remained unchanged until December 2021 when The Bank of England raised the 
rate to 0.25 per cent. There were further increases of 0.25 percent in February and 

Page 201

Agenda Item 14



 

  

 

March 2022 with Base Rate reaching 0.75 per cent by year-end.  [At the time of 
writing (August 2022) rates have increased further to 1.75 per cent.]   

10. Link Asset Services provide a regular forecast of interest rates, the latest forecast 
is reproduced in appendix A.  This forecast shows that Base Rate is expected to 
peak at 2.9 per cent in June 2023 before falling back to 2.25 per cent around 
March 2024 and remain at that level for the next 12 months.  Labour shortages, 
commodity price inflation, the impact of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and 
subsequent Western sanctions all point to inflation remaining at elevated levels 
well into 2023. 

11. The Treasury Management Strategy makes clear that investment priority is given 
to the security of principal in the first instance.  As a result, investments have only 
been made with counterparties of high credit quality and relatively low risk.  

12. In line with the budget forecast, short-term investment returns remained close to 
zero for the first half of the financial year. The expectation for interest rates within 
the treasury management strategy for 2021/22 was that Bank Rate would remain 
at 0.1 per cent until it was clear to the Bank of England that the emergency level of 
rates introduced at the start of the Covid-19 pandemic were no longer necessary. 
 

13. The Bank of England and the Government also maintained various monetary and 
fiscal measures, supplying the banking system and the economy with massive 
amounts of cheap credit so that banks could help cash-starved businesses to 
survive the various lockdowns/negative impact on their cashflow. The Government 
also supplied huge amounts of finance to local authorities to pass on to 
businesses.  This meant that for most of the year there was much more liquidity in 
financial markets than there was demand to borrow, with the consequent effect 
that investment earnings rates remained low until towards the turn of the year 
when inflation concerns indicated central banks, not just the Bank of England, 
would need to lift interest rates to combat the growing levels of inflation.  

14. The rises in Base Rate from December 2021 allowed both councils to place 
deposits at above budgeted interest rates during the last quarter of the financial 
year and generate investment returns above the budget forecasts. 

 

Summary of investment activities during 2021/22 

15. Prudential limits (security).  Both councils are required by the Prudential Code to 
report on the limits set each year in the TMS.  The purpose of these limits is to 
ensure that the activity of the treasury function remains within certain parameters, 
thereby mitigating risk and reducing the impact of an adverse movement in interest 
rates.  However, if these limits are set to be too restrictive, they may impair the 
opportunities to reduce costs/improve performance.  These limits are shown in 
appendix B. 

16. Yield - the performance of the two councils is summarised in the tables below.   

Page 202

Agenda Item 14



 

  

 

 

 

17. Both South and Vale exceeded treasury budgeted investment income this year in 
terms of actual income against budget and rates of return against benchmark on 
their in-house managed portfolios.  This was predominantly a result of deposits 
that matured in the last quarter of the financial year being reinvested at slightly 
higher rates than predicted. More detail on benchmarks is included in the 
appendices that follow this report.  

18. Detailed reports on the treasury activities for each council and performance for 
2021/22 against prudential indicators and benchmarks set for the year are 
contained in appendix C – South Oxfordshire DC and appendix D – Vale of White 
Horse DC.   

19. A detailed list of both councils’ treasury investments as at 31 March 2022 is shown 
in appendix E. 

Debt activity during 2021/22 

20. During 2021/22, there has not been a need for either council to borrow and both 
councils continue to take a prudent approach to their debt strategy.  The prudential 
indicators and limits set out in appendix B provide the scope and flexibility for the 
council to borrow in the short-term, if such a need arose, for cash flow purposes to 
support the council(s) in the achievement of their service objectives.   

Climate and ecological impact implications 

21. There are no climate or ecological implications arising from this report, however 
the Council can make significant impact via future investment opportunities and 
operational changes.  Numerous changes have already been made to ensure that 
climate is a key consideration in key documents and processes (such as the 
procurement strategy), and this will become more evident in future decision 
making.  As opportunities to support the climate ambitions of the Councils arise, 
they will be considered and appropriately weighted to include any climate or 
ecological impacts. 

Financial implications 

22. The treasury investments arranged in 2021/22 generated just under £2 million of 
investment income for South during the year and over £700,000 for Vale.  Income 

South Treasury 

investments 

£000

Non treasury 

loan

    £000

Sub Total £000 Property 

investment 

£000

Overall total 

£000

1 Average investment balance 174,907 15,000 189,907 8,012 197,918 

2 Budgeted investment income 1,224 623 1,847 

3 Actual investment income 1,375 623 1,998 490 2,488 

4 surplus/(deficit)  (3) - (2) 151 0 151 

5 Rate of return  (3) ÷ (1) 0.79% 4.15% 1.05% 6.11% 1.26%

Vale Treasury 

investments 

£000

Property 

investment      

£000

Overall total 

£000

1 Average investment balance 145,589 5,091 150,680 

2 Budgeted investment income 558 

3 Actual investment income 744 286 1,030 

4 surplus/(deficit)  (3) - (2) 187 

5 Rate of return  (3) ÷ (1) 0.51% 5.62% 0.68%

Page 203

Agenda Item 14



 

  

 

earned from investments supports the councils’ medium term financial plans and 
contributes to the councils’ balances or supports the in-year expenditure 
programmes.    

Legal implications 

23. There are no significant legal implications.  Compliance with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Services and the MHCLG Local 
Government Investment Guidance provides assurance that the councils’ 
investments are, and will continue to be, within their legal powers. 

Conclusion 

24. Despite a difficult operating environment, both councils continued to make 
investments during 2021/22 that maintained security and liquidity whilst providing a 
return that mostly exceeded market benchmarks.     

Background papers 

 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA) code of practice 
for treasury management in the public sector. 

 DCLG Local Government Investment Guidance 

 CIPFA treasury management in the public services code of practice and cross 
sectoral guidance notes 

 Treasury Management Strategy 2021/22 – Councils in February 2021. 
 

Appendices 

A. Interest rate forecasts 
B. Prudential limits  
C. SODC – Treasury activities 2021/22 
D. VWHDC – Treasury activities 2021/22  
E. Treasury investments as at 31 March 2022 
F. Glossary of terms 
         

Page 204

Agenda Item 14



  Appendix A 

 
Link Group Interest Rate Forecasts 
 
 

 
 
Forecasts as at 09/08/2022 

Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24 Jun-24 Sep-24 Dec-24 Mar-25

BANK RATE 2.25 2.50 2.75 2.75 2.75 2.50 2.50 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25

3 month ave earnings 2.50 2.80 3.00 3.00 2.80 2.50 2.40 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.20

6 month ave earnings 2.90 3.10 3.10 3.10 2.90 2.80 2.70 2.60 2.50 2.50 2.40

12 month ave earnings 3.20 3.30 3.20 3.10 3.00 2.90 2.80 2.70 2.40 2.40 2.40

5 yr PWLB 2.80 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.00 3.00 2.90 2.90 2.80 2.80 2.80

10 yr PWLB 3.00 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.20 3.10 3.10 3.00 3.00 3.00 2.90

25 yr PWLB 3.40 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.40 3.40 3.30 3.30 3.20 3.20

50 yr PWLB 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.20 3.20 3.10 3.10 3.00 3.00 2.90 2.90

P
age 205

A
genda Item

 14



  Appendix B 
Prudential limits (indicators) as at March 2022 

 

Prudential indicators as at 31 March 2022           

   Vale South 

        

   

Original 
estimate 

Actual 
position 

Original 
estimate 

Actual 
position 

   £m £m £m £m 

Authorised limit for external debt       

Borrowing  30 0 30 0 

Other long-term liabilities  0 0 0 0 

   30 0 30 0 

        

Operational boundary for external debt       

Borrowing  25 0 25 0 

Other long-term liabilities  0 0 0 0 

   25 0 25 0 

Investments       
 
Interest rate exposures       

Limits on fixed interest rates %  100% 82% 100% 77% 

Limits on variable interest rates £k  50 27 50 46 
 
Maximum principal sums invested > 364 days      

Upper limit for principal sums invested > 364 days £k 40 26 70 36 
 
Limit to be placed on investments to maturity       

1 - 2 years  NA NA NA NA 

2 - 5 years  NA NA NA NA 

5 years +  NA NA NA NA 

            

 
 
Prudential indicators – explanatory note 
 
Debt 
 
There are two limits on external debt: the ‘Operational Boundary’ and the ‘Authorised 
Limit’.   Both are consistent with the current commitments, existing plans and the 
proposals in the budget report for capital expenditure and financing, and with approved 
treasury management policy statement and practices.  They are both based on 
estimates of most likely, but not worst case, scenario.   

The key difference is that the Authorised Limit cannot be breached without prior 
approval of the Council.  It therefore includes more headroom to take account of 
eventualities such as delays in generating capital receipts, forward borrowing to take 
advantage of attractive interest rates, use of borrowing in place of operational leasing, 
“invest to save” projects, occasional short-term borrowing to cover temporary revenue 
cash flow shortfalls as well as an assessment of risks involved in managing cash flows.   

The Operational Boundary is a more realistic indicator of the likely position. 

 
Interest rate exposures 
 
The maximum proportion of interest on borrowing which is subject to fixed/variable rate 
of interest. 

Page 206

Agenda Item 14



  Appendix B 
 
 
Investments 
 
Interest rate exposure 
 
The purpose of these indicators is to set ranges that will limit exposure to interest rate 
movement. The indicator required by the Treasury Management Code considers the net 
position of borrowing and investment and is based on principal sums outstanding. 
 
Principal sums invested 
 
This indicator sets a limit on the level of investments that can be made for more than 
364 days. 

Page 207

Agenda Item 14



Appendix C 

 
1 

 

          

SODC treasury activities in 2021/22 

Council treasury investments as at 31 March 2022 
 

1. The council’s treasury investments, analysed by maturity as at 31 March 2022 were 
as follows:  

 

   

 
 

 

2. The majority of the funds invested were held in the form of fixed interest rate and 
term cash deposits. These provide some certainty over the investment return.  

3. The investment profile is organised to ensure sufficient liquidity for revenue and 
capital activities, security of investments and to manage risks within all treasury 
management activities. 

4. The chart below shows in percentage terms the portfolio above analysed by 
counterparty type: 

£000 % holding

Call 509 0%

Money market fund 25,090 13%

Cash available within 1 week 25,599 13%

Up to 3 months 18,500 9%  

4-6 months 45,500 23%  

6 months to 1 year 69,500 36%

Over 1 year 16,000 8%

Total cash deposits 175,099 89%  

CCLA Property Fund 7,603 4%

Unit Trust 12,425 6%

Total investments 195,126 100%

Table 1: Maturity structure of investments at 31 March 2022

Page 208

Agenda Item 14



Appendix C 

 
2 

 

 

 
Treasury investment income  

 
5. The total income earned on investments during 2021/22 was £1.99 million, 

compared to the original budget of £1.85 million, as shown in table 2 below: 

 

 
6. The actual return achieved was £152,000 more than the original budget. This was 

principally due to: 

 Interest earned on cash deposits being £95,000 higher than forecast in the 
2021/22 budget due to higher than forecast cash balances and an increase 
in UK interest rates.  

 Dividends accumulated by the Unit Trust were £83,000 above budget due to 
an improvement in the FTSE All-Share Index during 2021/22. The Unit Trust 
objective is to provide growth by investing in shares that closely track the 
performance of the Index. 
 

 Dividends received on the CCLA Property Fund were £26,000 less than 
forecast. However, the reduction in dividends was more than matched by 
capital growth with the Fund’s unit price increasing by 17.6 per cent. 
 

Table 2:  Investment interest earned by investment type

Annual Actual Variation

Investment type Budget Interest

£000 £000 £000

Fixed deposits and Short-term liquidity accounts 1,171 1,266 95

Unit Trust 388 471 83

CCLA property fund 288 262 (26)

1,847 1,999 152

Page 209

Agenda Item 14



Appendix C 

 
3 

 

7. The actual average rate of return on internally managed treasury deposits for the 
year was 1.14 per cent (0.83 per cent in 2021/22). 

 Performance measurement 

8. A list of treasury investments as at 31 March 2022 is shown in appendix E.  All 
investments were with approved counterparties.  The average level of 
investments held was £175 million. Table 3 below shows in summary the 
performance of the council’s treasury investments against the benchmarks set out 
in the Treasury Management Strategy.  These benchmarks are used to assess 
and monitor the council’s treasury investment performance for each type of 
investment. 

9. The £175 million does not represent the council’s usable, cash backed reserves, 
which at 31 March 2022 totalled £144 million including capital grants received in 
advance of spend.  The difference represents the council’s working capital 
balance and timings of cashflows. 

Note: the benchmark return for unit trusts and CCLA includes the movement in 
capital value.  All other benchmarks reflect earnings of treasury investment 
income.   

 
10. Daily cashflow balances are managed in-house with the portfolio of fixed-term 

deposits, call accounts and money market fund balances benchmarked against 
the three-month SONIA rate, which was an average of 0.24 per cent for 2021/22.  
The performance for the year of 0.81 per cent exceeded the benchmark by 0.57 
per cent.   

11. The CCLA property fund initial principal investment of £5 million (March 2013) 
increased in value during 2021/22 from £6.5 million to £7.6 million.  Dividends 
received in the year totalled £0.26 million. Both the capital appreciation and the 
interest earned are included in the performance of 21.78 per cent achieved 
above.  The capital gain is however not realised and so for comparison purposes, 
the actual rate of return of income received during the year is 3.8 per cent 
compared with the Fund’s benchmark income return of 3.3 per cent.  

 

 

Table 3: Treasury investment returns achieved against benchmark   

   

Benchmark 
Return 

Actual 
Return 

Growth 
(Below)/ 
above 

Benchmark Benchmarks 

        
Deposits & Short-term 
liquidity funds – internally 

managed  

0.24% 0.81% 0.57% 3mth SONIA 

Unit Trust *  13.07% 12.88% (0.19%) 
FTSE All Shares 

Index 
        

Property Fund * 
 

22.52% 21.78% (0.74%) 
IPD balanced property 

unit trust index 
* Returns include income and 
capital growth         

Page 210

Agenda Item 14



Appendix C 

 
4 

 

Equities  

12. The council’s holdings with the Legal & General (L&G) UK Index Trust were 
purchased in 2000/01 at an initial cost of £10 million.  This is an authorised unit 
trust incorporated in the United Kingdom and regulated by the FSA.  The trust’s 
objective is to provide growth by tracking the capital performance of the UK equity 
market as represented by the FTSE All-Share index.  

13. The index is comprised of shares in all eligible companies listed on the London 
Stock Exchange’s main market. The Fund seeks to replicate as closely as 
possible the constituents of the benchmark index, by holding all, or substantially 
all, of the assets comprising the FTSE All-Share Index in similar proportions to 
their index weightings.  It may also hold shares in companies which are 
reasonably expected to become part of the Benchmark index in the near future. At 
31March 2022 the UK Index Trust Fund comprised 613 holdings. 

14. The Fund performance as shown in Table 3 is comprised of income and capital 
growth. The capital growth performance is based on volatile market values and is 
unrealised.  The price of units in the fund ranged from 319.3p per unit at the start 
of the financial year to a high of 364.1p per unit on 10 February 2022.   

15. The chart below shows the performance of the Unit Trust during 2021/22 

 

 

16. In line with the council’s policy, in January 2022 units valued at £2 million were 
sold in order to realise some of the Fund’s capital growth when its value exceeded 
£14 million. (Fund value 31/12/2021 = £14.255 million).  The price of the Units 
sold was £360.1p.  The All-Share Index fell a week later, and the Fund value 
dropped to a low price of £326.2p per unit on 7 March 2022 before recovering to 
end the financial year at a unit price of £360.6p. 

Page 211

Agenda Item 14



Appendix C 

 
5 

 

17. The Fund invests in UK companies and aims to replicate the FTSE All Share with 
returns broadly in line with the performance of the Index.  The constituents of the 
Fund will not always exactly match the Index and therefore performance may be 
positively or negatively impacted by the constituent and weighting variations and 
other factors such as trading costs for example. 

18. The performance of the fund over the past five years compared to the benchmark 
index is summarised in table 4 below. 

 

19. The council holds accumulation units where income attributable to the unit class 
is automatically reinvested in the in the Fund and is reflected in the price of each 
accumulation unit, rather than being distributed to unit holders. Consequently, no 
cash distribution payments were received during the year.  Officers monitor the 
performance of the unit trust holding on a regular basis.   

  

Non-treasury investment loan 

20. During 2013/14, the council entered into a secured loan agreement with SOHA to 
enable them to finance affordable housing schemes.  The Council lent £15 million 
over 20 years at a fixed rate of 4.15 per cent.  Interest is paid quarterly and during 
2021/22, the council received £0.6 million.  

Land and property 

21. The Council holds a portfolio of investment properties, which includes land, 
depots, garages, and shops that are let on a commercial basis. These assets are 
valued on an annual basis and had average net book value of £8 million during 
2021/22 (£7.9 million 2020/21).  Income generated was £0.49 million in 2021/22 
(£0.32 million in 2020/21) giving a gross rate of return of 6.11 per cent.   

22. Due to movement in property values and the exclusion of whole life costs, these 
rates of return should not be taken as a direct comparison with the performance of 
other classes of investment. 

Liquidity and yield 

23. The council uses short-term investments to meet daily cash-flow requirements 
and aims to invest a proportion of the portfolio in longer-term instruments where 
possible.   

24. The average daily balance held in short-term notice accounts during 2021-22 was 
£23.6million.  

Table 4: Unit Trust returns achieved against benchmark

 

12 months to 31 March 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

% % % % % 

L&G UK Index Trust 12.88 27.63 -18.84 5.87 1.36

Index 13.07 28.77 -19.06 6.01 1.29

Relative to Index -0.19 -1.14 0.22 -0.14 0.07

Page 212

Agenda Item 14



Appendix D 

 
1 

 

VWHDC detailed treasury performance in 2021/22 

Council treasury investments as at 31 March 2022 
 
1. The council’s treasury investments analysed by age as at 31 March 2022 

 were as follows:  
 

Table 1: maturity structure of investments at 31 March 2022: 

        

  £000 % holding   

Money market fund 16,500  11%   

Cash available within 1 week 16,500  11%   

Up to 3 months 30,500  20%     

5-6 months 27,000  17%   

6 months to 1 year 55,500  36%   

Over 1 year 23,000  15%   

      

Total cash deposits 152,500  98%   
      

CCLA Property Fund 3,041  2%   
      

Total investments 155,541  100%   

 
 
 
2. The majority of the funds invested were held in the form of fixed interest rate and 

term cash deposits. These provide some certainty over the investment return.   

3. The investment profile is organised to ensure sufficient liquidity for revenue and 
capital activities, security of investments and to manage risks within all treasury 
management activities. 

4. The chart below shows in percentage terms how the portfolio above is spread 
across investment types: 

 

Banks - fixed deposits
£36,000

23%

Building societies -
fixed deposits

£46,000
29%

Local 
authorities
£31,000…

Housing Associations
£23,000

15%

Money Market 
Funds £16,500…

CCLA Property Fund
£3,041

2%

Portfolio Analysis (£000)

Page 213

Agenda Item 14



Appendix D 

 
2 

 

 

Treasury investment income 

5. The total interest earned on treasury investments during 2021/22 was £0.74 million 
compared to the original budget estimate of £0.56 million as shown in table 2 
below: 

Table 2: Investment interest earned by investment type   

     

   Annual  Actual Variation 

Investment type  Budget Interest   

   £000 £000 £000 

Fixed term and call                 471  644  
               

173  

CCLA Property Fund                   87  100  
                  

13  

Total Interest   558  744  186  

 
6. The actual rate of return achieved was £0.19 million higher than the original 

budget. This was primarily due to average balances throughout the year remaining 
higher than forecast.  

7. The actual average rate of return on internally managed treasury deposits for the 
year was 0.45 per cent. 
 

Performance measurement 

8. A list of treasury investments as at 31 March 2022 is shown in appendix E. All 
investments were with approved counterparties. The average level of investments 
held was £146 million.  Table 3 below shows in summary the performance of the 
council’s treasury investments against the benchmarks set out in the Treasury 
Management Strategy. These benchmarks are used to assess and monitor the 
council’s treasury investment performance for each type of investment. 

9. The £146 million does not represent the council’s usable cash backed reserves, 
which at 31 March 2022 totalled £55 million including capital grants received in 
advance of spend.  The difference represents the council’s working capital balance 
and timing of cashflows.  

 

Table 3: Treasury investment returns achieved against benchmark 

  
Benchmark 

return 
Actual 
return 

Growth 
(below)/above 

Benchmark Benchmarks 
       

Bank & Building Society 
deposits - internally managed 

0.24% 0.51% 0.27% 3 Month SONIA 

Property related funds (CCLA)* 22.52% 21.78% (0.74%) 

IPD balanced 
property unit trust 

index 

* Returns include income and capital growth       

Page 214

Agenda Item 14



Appendix D 

 
3 

 

 

 

10. Daily cashflow balances are managed in-house with the portfolio of fixed-term 
deposits, call accounts and money market fund balances benchmarked against the 
three-month SONIA rate, which was an average of 0.24 per cent for 2021/22.  The 
performance for the year of 0.51 per cent exceeded the benchmark by 0.27 per 
cent.   

11. The CCLA property fund initial principal investment of £2 million (April 2013) 
increased in value during 2021/22 from £2.6 million to £3 million.  Dividends 
received in the year totalled £0.1 million. Both the capital appreciation and the 
interest earned are included in the performance of 21.78 per cent achieved above.  
The capital gain is however not realised and so for comparison purposes, the 
actual rate of return of income received during the year is 3.8 per cent compared 
with the Fund’s benchmark income return of 3.3 per cent. 

 

Land and Property 

12. The council holds a portfolio of investment properties, which includes land, offices 
and shops that are let on a commercial basis.  These assets are valued on an 
annual basis and had an average net book value of £5.1 million during 2021/22 
(£5.7 million as at 31 March 2021).  Income generated was £0.3 million (£0.2 
million in 2020/21).  This is equivalent to a gross return of 5.62 per cent. 

13. Due to movement in property values and the exclusion of whole life costs, these 
rates of return should not be taken as a direct comparison with other classes of 
investment. 

Liquidity and yield 
 

14. The council uses short-term investments to meet daily cash-flow requirements and 
also aims to invest a proportion of the portfolio in longer-term instruments where 
possible.   
 

15. The average daily balance held in short-term notice accounts during 2021-22 was 
£31 million. 

 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 215

Agenda Item 14



   Appendix E 
South Oxfordshire District Council investments as at 31 March 2022   
Counterparty Deposit Type Maturity Date Principal  Rate 

National Counties Building Society Fixed Apr-22 2,500,000  0.35% 
Thurrock BC Fixed Apr-22 5,000,000  0.40% 
Thurrock BC Fixed Apr-22 3,000,000  0.30% 
National Counties Building Society Fixed Apr-22 1,000,000  0.33% 
Thurrock BC Fixed May-22 5,000,000  0.40% 
National Counties Building Society Fixed Jun-22 2,000,000  0.33% 
Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Jul-22 1,000,000  0.15% 
Progressive Building Society Fixed Jul-22 2,500,000  0.16% 
Principality Building Society Fixed Aug-22 2,000,000  0.15% 
Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Aug-22 2,000,000  0.15% 
Principality Building Society Fixed Aug-22 1,500,000  0.15% 
Principality Building Society Fixed Aug-22 2,000,000  0.15% 
Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Aug-22 2,000,000  0.15% 
Furness Building Society Fixed Aug-22 2,000,000  0.30% 
Thurrock BC Fixed Aug-22 3,500,000  0.20% 
Newcastle Building Society Fixed Aug-22 2,000,000  0.18% 
Newcastle Building Society Fixed Aug-22 2,000,000  0.18% 
Surrey Heath BC Fixed Aug-22 3,000,000  0.16% 
Furness Building Society Fixed Sep-22 2,000,000  0.30% 
Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Sep-22 2,000,000  0.38% 
National Bank of Kuwait Fixed Sep-22 3,000,000  0.22% 
Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Sep-22 3,000,000  0.15% 
Nottingham Building Society Fixed Sep-22 3,000,000  0.15% 
Furness Building Society Fixed Sep-22 2,000,000  0.30% 
Nottingham Building Society Fixed Sep-22 2,000,000  0.15% 
Cambridge BS Fixed Sep-22 3,000,000  0.25% 
Principality Building Society Fixed Oct-22 3,000,000  0.23% 
Progressive Building Society Fixed Oct-22 1,000,000  0.35% 
Progressive Building Society Fixed Oct-22 2,000,000  0.35% 
Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Oct-22 4,000,000  0.82% 
Saffron Building Society Fixed Nov-22 2,000,000  0.35% 
Saffron Building Society Fixed Nov-22 1,000,000  0.35% 
National Counties Building Society Fixed Nov-22 3,000,000  0.50% 
Skipton Building Society Fixed Nov-22 3,000,000  0.20% 
Furness Building Society Fixed Nov-22 3,000,000  0.50% 
Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Nov-22 1,000,000  0.40% 
West Bromwich Building Society Fixed Nov-22 4,000,000  0.28% 
Saffron Building Society Fixed Dec-22 3,000,000  0.40% 
Blaenau Gwent CBC Fixed Dec-22 3,000,000  0.18% 
Blaenau Gwent CBC Fixed Jan-23 4,000,000  0.20% 
Skipton Building Society Fixed Jan-23 4,000,000  0.25% 
West Bromwich Building Society Fixed Jan-23 2,000,000  0.55% 
Thurrock BC Fixed Jan-23 3,500,000  0.38% 
Cumberland Building Society Fixed Jan-23 2,000,000  0.62% 
Royal Bank of Scotland Fixed Feb-23 2,000,000  2.46% 
Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Feb-23 5,000,000  1.72% 
Wokingham BC Fixed Mar-23 5,000,000  1.10% 
Places for People Fixed Mar-23 5,000,000  1.00% 
Principality Building Society Fixed Mar-23 2,000,000  1.23% 
West Bromwich Building Society Fixed Mar-23 2,000,000  1.15% 
Places for People Fixed Apr-23 5,000,000  1.00% 
Places for People Fixed May-23 2,000,000  1.00% 
Places for People Fixed Jun-23 3,000,000  1.00% 
Gravesham Borough Council Fixed Apr-24 3,000,000  0.30% 
Gravesham Borough Council Fixed Mar-27 3,000,000  0.75% 
Santander Reserve Account Call           410,032  variable 
Royal Bank of Scotland Call               2,362  variable 
Royal Bank of Scotland Call             96,489  variable 
Goldman Sachs MMF  20,400,000  variable 
Blackrock MMF  4,690,000  variable 
L&G Equities Unit Trust  12,424,595  variable 
CCLA Property Fund  7,602,919  variable 

TOTAL     195,126,397    
Page 216

Agenda Item 14



   Appendix E 
 
 

 
 
Note – these tables show principal investment values, whereas figures in table 1 of appendix C and 
appendix D are shown at the fair values of investments held. 

Vale of White Horse District Council investments at 31 March 2022

Counterparty Deposit Type Maturity Date Principal Rate

Principality Building Society Fixed May-22 2,000,000 0.15%

Places For People Homes Ltd Fixed Jun-22 5,000,000 0.75%

Furness Building Society Fixed Jun-22 3,000,000 0.35%

National Counties Building Society Fixed Jun-22 1,000,000 0.33%

Merthyr Tydfil CBC Fixed Jun-22 4,000,000 0.80%

National Bank of Kuwait (Int) Fixed Jun-22 5,000,000 0.23%

Newcastle Building Society Fixed Jun-22 2,500,000 0.18%

National Counties Building Society Fixed Jul-22 1,000,000 0.33%

PCC for Merseyside Fixed Aug-22 5,000,000 0.38%

Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Aug-22 2,000,000 0.15%

National Counties Building Society Fixed Aug-22 3,000,000 0.35%

Cambridge Building Society Fixed Aug-22 1,000,000 0.25%

National Counties Building Society Fixed Sep-22 1,000,000 0.33%

Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Sep-22 1,000,000 0.15%

Principality Building Society Fixed Sep-22 3,000,000 0.15%

Thurrock Council Fixed Sep-22 5,000,000 0.20%

Saffron Building Society Fixed Sep-22 3,000,000 0.20%

Cambridge Building Society Fixed Sep-22 2,000,000 0.25%

Furness Building Society Fixed Oct-22 3,000,000 0.30%

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Nov-22 3,000,000 0.91%

Metropolitan Housing Trust Ltd Fixed Nov-22 3,000,000 1.10%

West Bromwich Building Society Fixed Nov-22 2,500,000 0.36%

Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Dec-22 3,000,000 0.38%

Principality Building Society Fixed Dec-22 2,000,000 0.38%

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Dec-22 5,000,000 1.09%

Progressive Building Society Fixed Jan-23 3,000,000 0.35%

Thurrock Council Fixed Jan-23 3,000,000 0.25%

Close Brothers Ltd Fixed Jan-23 3,000,000 0.90%

Blackpool Borough Council Fixed Jan-23 4,000,000 0.40%

Cumberland Building Society Fixed Jan-23 2,000,000 0.62%

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Feb-23 3,000,000 1.68%

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Mar-23 2,000,000 0.37%

Close Brothers Ltd Fixed Mar-23 2,000,000 1.50%

National Bank of Kuwait (Int) Fixed Mar-23 5,000,000 1.65%

Southern Housing Group Fixed Mar-23 5,000,000 1.00%

Thurrock Council Fixed Mar-23 2,000,000 1.17%

Yorkshire Housing Ltd Fixed Apr-23 5,000,000 1.00%

Places for People Homes Ltd Fixed Jun-23 2,000,000 1.00%

Places For People Homes Ltd Fixed Oct-23 1,000,000 1.00%

Places For People Homes Ltd Fixed Feb-24 2,000,000 1.00%

Gravesham Borough Council Fixed Apr-24 3,000,000 0.30%

Rotherham MBC Fixed Jun-24 5,000,000 variable

Kirklees Metropolitan Council Fixed Mar-25 5,000,000 0.80%

Lloyds Bank Call 8,000,000 0.04%

Goldman Sachs MMF 8,000,000 variable

LGIM MMF 8,500,000 variable

CCLA Property fund 2,000,000

GRAND TOTAL 154,500,000

Page 217

Agenda Item 14



  Appendix F 
 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 

Basis point (BP) 1/100th of 1%, i.e. 0.01% 

Base rate Minimum lending rate of a bank or financial institution in the UK. 

Benchmark A measure against which the investment policy or performance 
of a fund manager can be compared. 

Bill of Exchange A non-interest-bearing written order used primarily in 
international trade that binds one party to pay a fixed sum of 
money to another party at a predetermined future date.  

Callable Deposit A deposit placed with a bank or building society at a set rate for a 
set amount of time.  However, the borrower has the right to repay 
the funds on pre agreed dates, before maturity.  This decision is 
based on how market rates have moved since the deal was 
agreed.  If rates have fallen the likelihood of the deposit being 
repaid rises, as cheaper money can be found by the borrower. 

[Cash] Fund 
Management 

Fund management is the management of an investment portfolio 
of cash on behalf of a private client or an institution, the receipts 
and distribution of dividends and interest, and all other 
administrative work in connection with the portfolio. 

Certificate of 
Deposit (CD) 

Evidence of a deposit with a specified bank or building society 
repayable on a fixed date.  They are negotiable instruments and 
have a secondary market; therefore the holder of a CD is able to 
sell it to a third party before the maturity of the CD. 

Commercial 
Paper 

Short-term obligations with maturities ranging from 2 to 270 days 
issued by banks, corporations and other borrowers.  Such 
instruments are unsecured and usually discounted, although 
some may be interest bearing. 

Corporate Bond Strictly speaking, corporate bonds are those issued by 
companies.  However, the term is used to cover all bonds other 
than those issued by governments in their own currencies and 
includes issues by companies, supranational organisations and 
government agencies. 

Counterparty Another (or the other) party to an agreement or other market 
contract (e.g. lender/borrower/writer of a swap/etc.) 

Credit Default 
Swap (CDS) 

A swap designed to transfer the credit exposure of fixed income 
products between parties.  The buyer of a credit swap receives 
credit protection, whereas the seller of the swap guarantees the 
credit worthiness of the product.  By doing this, the risk of default 
is transferred from the holder of the fixed income security to the 
seller of the swap. 

Page 218

Agenda Item 14



  Appendix F 

Capital 
Financing 
Requirement 
(CFR) 

The amount the council has to borrow to fund its capital 
commitments. 

CIPFA Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. 

CLG [Department for] Communities and Local Government. 

Derivative A contract whose value is based on the performance of an 
underlying financial asset, index or other investment, e.g. an 
option is a derivative because its value changes in relation to the 
performance of an underlying stock. 

Debt 
Management 
Account Deposit 
Facility (DMADF) 

Deposit Account offered by the Debt Management Office, 
guaranteed by the UK government 

European 
Central Bank 
(ECB) 

European Central Bank – sets the central interest rates in the 
EMU area.  The ECB determines the targets itself for its interest 
rate setting policy; this is the keep inflation within a band of 0 to 
2%.  It does not accept that monetary policy is to be used to 
manage fluctuations in unemployment and growth caused by the 
business cycle. 

European and 
Monetary Union 
(EMU) 

The Economic and Monetary Union (EMU) is an umbrella 
term for the group of policies aimed at converging the economies 
of all member states of the European Union. 

Equity A share in a company with limited liability.  It generally enables 
the holder to share in the profitability of the company through 
dividend payments and capital appreciation.  Equity values can 
decrease as well as increase. 

Forward Deal The act of agreeing today to deposit funds with an institution for 
an agreed time limit, on an agreed future date, at an agreed rate. 

Forward 
Deposits 

Same as forward dealing (above). 

Fiscal Policy The government policy on taxation and welfare payments. 

GDP Gross Domestic Product. 

[UK] Gilt Registered UK government securities giving the investor an 
absolute commitment from the government to honour the debt 
that those securities represent. 

LIBID London inter-bank bid rate (to be phased out in December 2021) 

LIBOR London inter-bank offered rate (to be phased out in December 
2021)  

Page 219

Agenda Item 14



  Appendix F 

Money Market 
Fund 

A well rated, highly diversified pooled investment vehicle whose 
assets mainly comprise of short-term instruments.  It is very 
similar to a unit trust, however in a MMF. 

Monetary Policy 
Committee 
(MPC) 

Government body that sets the bank rate (commonly referred to 
as being base rate).  Their primary target is to keep inflation 
within plus or minus 1% of a central target of 2% in two years 
time from the date of the monthly meeting of the committee.  
Their secondary target is to support the government in 
maintaining high and stable levels of growth and employment. 

Other Bond 
Funds 

Pooled funds investing in a wide range of bonds. 

PWLB Public Works Loan Board. 

QE Quantitative Easing. 

Retail Price 
Index 

Measurement of the monthly change in the average level of 
prices at the retail level weighted by the average expenditure 
pattern of the average person. 

Sovereign Issues 
(excl UK Gilts) 

Bonds issued or guaranteed by nation states, but excluding UK 
government bonds. 

Supranational 
Bonds 

Bonds issued by supranational bodies, e.g. European Investment 
Bank.  The bonds – also known as Multilateral Development 
Bank bonds – are generally AAA rated and behave similarly to 
gilts, but pay a higher yield (“spread”) given their relative 
illiquidity when compared with gilts. 

Treasury Bill Treasury bills are short-term debt instruments issued by the UK 
or other governments.  They provide a return to the investor by 
virtue of being issued at a discount to their final redemption 
value. 

 

Page 220

Agenda Item 14



 

 

Cabinet Report 

 
Report of Head of Development and Corporate Landlord 

Author: John Backley 

Telephone: 07917 088317 

Textphone: 18001 07917 088317 

E-mail: john.backley@southandvale.gov.uk  

Wards affected: all 

 

South Cabinet member responsible: Councillor Sue Cooper 

Tel: 01491 835631 

E-mail: sue.cooper@southoxon.go.uk  

To: CABINET 

Date: 29 September 2022 

 

 

Adoption of powers from Oxfordshire 

County Council under Land Drainage Act 

Recommendations 

(a) To support the request from Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) for South 
Oxfordshire to adopt powers under the land drainage act as set out in paragraph 
8 of this report 
 

(b) To recommend Council approve the adoption of powers under an agency 
agreement with OCC 

 
(c) Subject to Council approving the adoption of powers that Cabinet authorises the 

Head of Development and Corporate Landlord in consultation with the Head of 
Legal and Democratic to negotiate and finalise the agreement with OCC and 
enter into agreement to adopt the powers from OCC. 

 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. For cabinet to consider the request from Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) for the 
district council to act as an agent of the county council in the discharge of delegated 
functions for the operation and management of the powers and responsibilities of the 
lead local flood authority (LLFA) under Sections 19, 23, 24 and 25 of the 1991 Land 
Drainage Act. 

In brief, the Functions of the Land Drainage Act 1991 that OCC are looking to 
discharge are: 

CONFIDENTIAL 

Page 221

Agenda Item 15

mailto:john.backley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:sue.cooper@southoxon.go.uk


 

 

 Section 19 - flood investigations   

 Section 23 - the determination of applications for consent to alter a watercourse 

 Section 24 – investigate any nuisance caused by erecting or altering an obstruction or 
culvert in a watercourse  

 Section 25 - enforcement action (to comply with OCC policy for watercourse/ditch 
clearing enforcement)  

Corporate Objectives  

2. The management of watercourses and the reduction of flood risk meets the South 
corporate plan 2020-24 to ‘Protect and restore our natural world’ particularly by 
reducing flood risk. 

Background 

3. The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (FWMA) established OCC as Lead Local 
Flood Authority, with a responsibility for leading the coordination of flood risk 
management for surface, groundwater and smaller watercourses in its area.   Under 
this Act the functions under sections 24 and 25 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 were 
transferred to OCC. 

4. OCC as the Highway Authority has a duty to maintain the physical fabric of adopted 
highways to appropriate standards as well as a general responsibility to assert and 
protect public highway rights. Therefore, there may be occasions when OCC needs to 
consider using its powers to secure an action to maintain a watercourse or culvert for 
example in the interests of safeguarding highway safety.   

5. OCC has the power under section 24 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 to require a 
person to abate a nuisance caused by erecting or altering an obstruction or culvert in a 
watercourse without the consent of the drainage board/LLFA further to section 23 of 
the Land Drainage Act 1991.   

6. OCC has the power under section 25 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 to compel certain 
persons to maintain a watercourse so that the proper flow of water is not impeded.  

7. Note: “Watercourse” is defined as “including all rivers and streams and all ditches, 
drains, cuts, culverts, dikes, sluices, sewers (other than public sewers within the 
meaning of the Water Industry Act 1991) and passages, through which water flows.  
The watercourses referred to in this note are those which are defined in the Act as 
“ordinary watercourses” rather than ‘Main rivers’ which are the responsibility of the 
Environment Agency and do not fall under this agreement. 

Delegation of functions 

8. OCC is requesting the district council acts as an agent to carry out: 

(a) formal flood investigations under Section 19 of the Land Drainage Act 
1991 that meet specific criteria (i.e internal flooding to five or more 
properties or to one property for more than one week or flooding of critical 
infrastructure).  Appendix 1 has the formal thresholds for the investigation 

Page 222

Agenda Item 15



 

 

of flood incidents.  In addition, OCC request the district council 
investigates and reports on flood events at any specific location as 
requested within South ‘affecting habitable dwellings’ and ‘affecting 
highways’. 

(b) the determination of applications for consent under Section 23 to alter 
watercourse 

(c) informal enforcement action under Section 24 and 25 on behalf of the 
County Council to ensure the proper flow of water (preliminary steps e.g. 
investigations, sending initial letter).  If issue remains unresolved it is 
passed back to OCC for formal enforcement action. 

9. In order to carry out this work, OCC has provided the following documents as part of 
the legal agreement available as background papers: 

(a) guidance notes for ordinary watercourse consent applications 

(b) OCC enforcement procedure and protocol S24 and S25 (including 
flowchart outlining the enforcement procedure S25, templates for informal 
letters S24). 

10. Formal investigations require a report to be provided from the council to OCC within 
agreed deadlines. 

 

Risks  

11. Both OCC and the district council have powers to investigate flooding. The County 
Council as LLFA has powers and duties under S19 of the 1991 Act in respect of 
investigations on becoming aware of a flood in its area. The District Council is a risk 
management authority under the 2010 Act and also has powers and duties as a local 
authority under the 1991 Act in respect of general drainage and flood risk 
management. 

12. As both OCC as LLFA and the district council have powers to investigate flooding, the 
risk is that it is unclear who is responsible for investigating flooding and potentially work 
is doubled up or passed from one to the other causing delay and confusion.  The 
delegation of function from OCC gives power to South council to investigate any 
internal flooding to a habitable dwelling, business or infrastructure.  In addition, formal 
reports are required for flooding in accordance with the thresholds set out in appendix 
1, note this excludes flooding from main river. 

13. The risk of not having the resources to carry out the task in the agreement is mitigated 
as both sides are able to withdraw from the agreement on written notice. 

14. There is a low risk if we do not have the internal resource to carry out the service and 
we have to employ an external resource (temporary staff) and we are not able to 
recharge 100 percent of this cost to OCC.  This risk is mitigated by the terms of the 
proposed agreement including provision for OCC to accept recharge of interim staff 
costs although the total recharge amount is capped each year. 

Page 223

Agenda Item 15



 

 

15. There is a low risk of resources being diverted to wide scale investigations following a 
major flood incident.  In emergency flood situations, our land drainage engineers would 
be heavily involved in associated tasks prioritised over routine work. 

Opportunities 

16. As part of current duties, the council’s engineering team provide expert advice to 
residents, councillors and internal teams, including major and minor planning 
applications in terms of land drainage.  South has carried out a number of flood 
alleviation schemes over the years.  These historic projects and the experience it 
brings provides the engineers with the ideal skills, geographical knowledge and 
understanding of land drainage to carry out the delegated functions as requested by 
OCC and to recharge for their work. 

17. The council’s engineering team has carried out the Sections (S) 19, 23, 24 and 25 work 
successfully on behalf of OCC on an informal basis since the service was brought in-
house in April 2018.   

18. The agreement allows for OCC to request flood investigations are carried out on other 
occasions other than stipulated as ‘additional works’, but these must be agreed by the 
engineers and can be recharged at the agreed rate. 

Climate and ecological impact implications 

19. Flood investigations and enforcement remind landowners of good practices for keeping 
water within watercourses by proper and regular maintenance. 

Financial Implications 

20. Any council decision that has financial implications must be made with the knowledge 
of the council’s overarching financial position. For South, the position reflected in the 
council’s medium-term financial plan (MTFP) as reported to Full Council in February 
2022 showed that the council is due to receive £2.1 million less in revenue funding than 
it plans to spend in 2022/23 (with the balance coming from reserves).  

21. This funding gap is predicted to increase to over £3 million by 2026/27. As there 
remains no certainty on future local government funding, following the announcement 
of a one-year spending review by government, and as the long-term financial 
consequences of the Coronavirus pandemic remain unknown, this gap could increase 
further. Every financial decision made needs to be cognisant of the need to address 
this funding gap in future years. 
 

22. The engineering team keeps a record of the hours spent carrying out the service for 
OCC including travel costs and updates this each quarter.  The agreement sets out an 
hourly recharge fee. There is an annual payment ‘upfront’ from OCC at the start of 
each financial year (non-returnable).  The cost of providing the service by the 
engineers is fully recharged to OCC up to the agreed annual limit as set out in the 
funding agreement.  Once this limit is reached authorisation is required from OCC for 
any further spend.  The income this provides goes to supplement the land drainage 
budgets.   

23. Officers keep account of actual time and spends up to the budget provided by OCC 
(with regular updates each month to monitor spend and identify ahead of time any 

Page 224

Agenda Item 15



 

 

potential overspend).  Once the upfront payment levels are reached no further work is 
undertaken until OCC provide additional budget.  The agreement allows for requests 
for additional resource or payment from OCC during severe flooding for example and 
therefore will be subject to OCC confirmation at the time.  

24. In the past few years, the cost recharged to OCC based on hourly rates is largely within 
the budget OCC will be paying the council each year in the future.  To note however 
there have been no serious flood events during this period which would have 
potentially increased the amount of work. 

25. For the consenting work S23, the council receives an application fee of £50 per 
structure (as set out in the Act).  The council only recharges when the time spent on 
processing the application is greater than the fee received.  

26. Going forward OCC will pay up front on a non-returnable basis an annual fee.  The 
agency agreement will allow for recharging to be based on an hourly rate for the 
engineers’ work.  Once the agreement is confirmed, officers will adjust the base 
budgets accordingly for income received from OCC and for the income from the 
applications for consenting work. 

Staff Implications 

27. The salary of the engineers who will carry out the delegated work is already included in 
the base budget and so this additional income will not have an impact on existing 
budgets.  The work associated with the agency agreements can be carried out using 
existing resources by the four staff members in the engineering team. Delegated 
function work may have an impact on existing projects if there were a large number of 
investigations for example following a serious flood event (non main river).  The agency 
agreement would allow negotiations between South and OCC in these circumstances 
to potentially seek extended timescales, and/or increase budget to allow for recruitment 
of additional resources. 

28. The council is able to withdraw and terminate the agency agreement by written notice 
with any costs pro-rata payment returned to OCC. 

Equalities Implications 
 
29. No equalities implications have been identified through the development of this 

proposal. 

Legal Implications 

30. OCC request that the South council enters into an agreement under Section 101 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 and Section 19 of the Local Government Act 2000 relating 
to the management of functions under the Land Drainage Act 1991. 

31. A delegation of functions requires full council approval.  Page 19 of the South 
constitution, refers, Functions of the full Council 3. (o) “decide whether to accept a 
delegation from another local authority under joint arrangements”. 

32. Under General delegations, delegations to Chief Executive and Heads of Service, 
reference 7.5 the Head of Service is able “to exercise the powers delegated to the 
council under agency agreements or contracts with other councils”. 

Page 225

Agenda Item 15



 

 

33. Officers request that authority is given to the Head of Development and Corporate 
Landlord in consultation with the Head of Legal and Democratic to finalise the details of 
the agreement between South and OCC and enter into the agreements. 

34. The agency agreement sets out OCC request to South to carry out informal 
enforcement action under Section 24 and 25 on behalf of the County Council to ensure 
the proper flow of water (preliminary steps e.g. discussions and meetings with 
landowners, site investigations, sending initial letter), all of which can be carried out by 
the engineers.  If the issue remains unresolved it is passed back to OCC for formal 
legal enforcement action and there is no legal action taken by South.  There is 
therefore no impact on additional work the legal team. 

Conclusion 

35. The district council has carried out numerous flood alleviation schemes over the years.  
The engineering team provide expert land drainage advice to residents, councillors and 
internal teams such as planning applications.  The in-house skills and knowledge can 
be therefore best applied to carry out the flood investigations, consenting and 
enforcement on behalf of OCC.   

36. The agreement allows for South to recharge all of their time associated with relevant 
flood investigations and be paid in advance of any work carried out. 

37. The district council can decide to withdraw this service at relatively short notice if there 
are changes to resources in the future.   

 
 
Background papers 

 Guidance note for ordinary watercourse consent applications 

 OCC enforcement procedure and protocol Sections 24 and 25 LDA 1991 

 Draft agreement with OCC relating to management of functions under the land 
drainage act 1991.  

Page 226

Agenda Item 15



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

 
 In addition to the formal investigations as above, OCC has agreed that investigations 

should also be carried and recharged where there is any internal flooding to a habitable 
dwelling, business or infrastructure. 

 

 

Page 227

Agenda Item 15



Document is Restricted

Page 228

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 258

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 265

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Hackney carriage fares
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	8 Henley on Thames Conservation Area Appraisal and Boundary Review Adoption
	Appendix 1 - Boundary Amendments
	Appendix 2 - Consultation Statement

	9 Update on the Corporate Transformation Programme, and the Technology and Customer Workstreams
	Annex A - Technology roadmap
	Annex B - Customer Transformation Roadmap

	10 Business case for Transforming IT and Systems of Planning and Regulatory Services
	11 Corporate Performance Report - Quarter 1, 2022-23
	Background
	Strategic context
	Quarter One 2022/23 Performance Highlights
	Theme 1:  Protect and restore the natural world
	Theme 2:  Openness and accountability
	Theme 3:  Action on climate emergency
	Theme 4:  Improved economic well-being
	Theme 5:  Homes and infrastructure that meet local needs
	Theme 6:  Investment that rebuilds our financial viability
	Theme 1: Protect and restore our natural world - performance updates against reporting measures 
	Theme 2: Openness and accountability - performance updates against reporting measures 
	Theme 3: Action on climate emergency - performance updates against reporting measures 
	Theme 4:  Improved economic and community well-being
	Theme 5: Homes and infrastructure that meet local need - performance updates against reporting measures  
	Theme 6: Investment that rebuilds our financial viability - performance updates against reporting measures  

	12 Climate Action Plan Performance Report - Quarter 1, 2022-23
	Introduction
	Quarter context
	Q1 2022/23 Performance Highlights
	Theme 1  Our ways of working
	Theme 2  Our service delivery
	Theme 3  Our people
	Theme 4  Our land
	Theme 5  Our buildings
	Theme 6  Our communities
	Theme 7  Our partners
	Theme 1: Our ways of working - performance updates against reporting measures 
	Theme 2: Our service delivery  - performance updates against reporting measures 
	Theme 3: Our people - performance updates against reporting measures 
	 Theme 4: Our land - performance updates against reporting measures
	Theme 5: Our buildings - performance updates against reporting measures 
	Theme 6: Our communities - performance updates against reporting measures 
	Theme 7: Our partners - performance updates against reporting measures 

	13 Budget monitoring - quarter 1, 2022/23
	Appendix 1 - proposed carry forwards
	Appendix 2 - capital programme

	14 Treasury outturn 2021/22
	Appendix A - Interest rate forecasts
	Appendix B - Prudential Limits
	Appendix C - South Treasury activities
	Appendix D - Vale Treasury activities
	Appendix E - Treasury Investments as at 31 March 2022
	Appendix F - Glossary of terms

	15 Adoption of powers from Oxfordshire County Council under Land Drainage Act
	17 Business case for Transforming IT and Systems of Planning and Regulatory Services
	18 Application for Grant Funding by Soha Ltd - Cullum House, Wheatley
	Appendix 1


